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        Certain statements in this annual report on Form 10-K contain or may contain forward-looking statements that are subject to known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors which may cause actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or
achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements were based on various factors and were derived
utilizing numerous assumptions and other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements. These factors
include, but are not limited to, The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.'s ("Nasdaq") ability to implement its strategic initiatives, economic, political and market conditions
and fluctuations, government and industry regulation, interest rate risk, U.S. and global competition, and other factors. Most of these factors are difficult to
predict accurately and are generally beyond our control. You should consider the areas of risk described in connection with any forward-looking statements that
may be made herein. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of December 31, 2001. Readers
should carefully review this annual report in its entirety, including but not limited to Nasdaq's financial statements and the notes thereto and the risks described in
"Item 1. Business—Risk Factors." Except for Nasdaq's ongoing obligations to disclose material information under the Federal securities laws, Nasdaq
undertakes no obligation to release publicly any revisions to any forward-looking statements, to report events or to report the occurrence of unanticipated events.
For any forward-looking statements contained in any document, Nasdaq claims the protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking statements contained in the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

Part I 

Item 1.    Business. 

Nasdaq Overview

        Nasdaq operates The Nasdaq Stock Market®, the world's largest electronic, screen-based equity securities market and the largest equity securities market in
the world based on share volume. Since its inception in 1971, Nasdaq has been a leader in utilizing technology to democratize and extend the reach of the
securities markets, with a current goal of becoming a truly global securities market.

        Nasdaq provides products and services in the following three principal categories:

• Transaction services include collecting, processing, and disseminating price quotes of Nasdaq-listed securities, the routing and execution of buy
and sell orders for Nasdaq-listed securities, and transaction reporting services. Market participants in The Nasdaq Stock Market, consisting of
market makers, electronic communication networks ("ECNs"), and order entry firms, each of which is described below, are the users of Nasdaq's



transaction services. For the year ended December 31, 2001, transaction services accounted for revenue of $408.8 million, which represented
approximately 47.7% of Nasdaq's total revenue. See "—Products and Services—Transaction Services" and "Item 7. Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations." 

• Market information services provide varying levels of quote and trade information to data vendors, who in turn sell the information to the public.
For the year ended December 31, 2001, market information services accounted for revenue of $240.5 million, which represented approximately
28.1% of Nasdaq's total revenue. See "—Products and Services—Market Information Services" and "Item 7. Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations." 

• Corporate Client Group services (formerly known as issuer services) provide information services and products to Nasdaq-listed companies and
are responsible for obtaining new listings on The Nasdaq Stock Market. For the year ended December 31, 2001, Corporate Client Group services
accounted for revenue of $156.1 million, which represented approximately 18.2% of Nasdaq's
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total revenue. See "—Products and Services—Corporate Client Group Services" and "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations."

        Nasdaq's market model is one of "open architecture." As a fully electronic market, The Nasdaq Stock Market does not have a central trading floor.
Participation in the trading activities on The Nasdaq Stock Market is not limited to any fixed number of market participants. This allows a large number of
broker-dealers with widely different business models and trading technologies to participate in the Nasdaq network and compete with one another. The Nasdaq
network, called the "Enterprise Wide Network II," is a telecommunications network that Nasdaq uses to deliver transaction and market information services to its
market participants. See "—Products and Services—Transaction Services." Market participants can access the Nasdaq network via the Nasdaq Workstation II,
Nasdaq's proprietary operating system for the Nasdaq network, or through other customized operating systems. See "—Products and Services—Transaction
Services—Access Services."

        Market makers, also known as dealers, provide liquidity (the ability of a stock to absorb a large amount of buying and selling without substantial movement
in price) by standing ready to buy or sell securities at all times at publicly-quoted prices for their own account and by maintaining an inventory of securities for
their customers. Market makers in a particular stock are required at all times to post their bid and offer prices (i.e., price at which they will buy and sell) into the
Nasdaq network where they can be viewed and accessed by all market participants. Over 300 market makers participate in The Nasdaq Stock Market. On average,
securities listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market have 14 market makers. The minimum number of market makers for any Nasdaq-listed stock is two and some
securities have over 80 market makers.

        In addition to traditional market makers, the Nasdaq network also includes other broker-dealers operating as ECNs. ECNs provide electronic facilities for
investors to trade directly with one another without going through a market maker. ECNs operate as order-matching and order-routing mechanisms and do not
maintain inventories of securities themselves. Nasdaq also connects to other registered exchanges through SelectNet®, SOES,sm and SuperSoessm (each of which
is described below) for Nasdaq-listed securities and through the Intermarket Trading System for exchange-listed securities. The flexibility of the Nasdaq network
means that innovators with new trading technologies or strategies have an opportunity to implement them quickly in The Nasdaq Stock Market.

        An order entry firm is a broker-dealer, but not a market maker or an ECN. An order entry firm can use Nasdaq services to view price quotations and route
customer orders for securities to a market maker or ECN posting quotes in The Nasdaq Stock Market for that security so that the orders can be executed.

        Nasdaq's electronic systems centralize the price quotations from all market participants in a given Nasdaq-listed stock to help them compete and allow them
to choose with whom they are going to trade. Nasdaq also gathers the trade and quote information from all of these market participants and passes it on to data
vendors who resell this information to the investment community and the general public.

        Nasdaq's total revenue in 2001 was $857.2 million, a 2.9% increase from $832.7 million in 2000. Nasdaq's net income increased 73.8% in 2001 to
$40.5 million from $23.3 million in 2000. Total revenue and net income numbers reflect a change in accounting principle adopted as of January 1, 2000 ("Change
in Accounting Principle"). See "Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data," "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations" and "Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 4." Nasdaq's growth and operating results are directly
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affected by the trading volume of Nasdaq-listed securities and the number of companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. The following table illustrates
Nasdaq's performance:

  

For the 12 months ended
December 31, 2001

 

For the 12 months ended
December 31, 2000

 

  

The Nasdaq
National

MarketSM

tier

 

The Nasdaq
SmallCapSM

tier

 

The Nasdaq
Stock

Market

 

The Nasdaq
National
Market

tier

 

The Nasdaq
SmallCap

tier

 

The Nasdaq
Stock

Market

 
Total share volume (billions)   465.5  5.7  471.2  424.0  18.8  442.8 
Percentage of total shares traded in
the primary United States markets   —  —  59.3%  —  —  61.6%
Dollar volume of equity securities
traded on The Nasdaq Stock Market
(billions)  $ 10,913.8 $ 20.8 $ 10,934.6 $ 20,273.7 $ 121.7 $ 20,395.4 
Percentage of dollar volume of all
equity securities traded in the primary
United States markets   —  —  49.2%  —  —  62.9%



Average daily share volume (millions)   1,877.2  22.8  1,900.0  1,682.4  74.5  1,756.9 
Average daily dollar volume (billions)  $ 44.0 $ 0.1 $ 44.1 $ 80.5 $ 0.5 $ 81.0 
Number of Nasdaq-listed companies
(at year end)   3,351  758  4,109  3,827  907  4,734 
Total domestic shares outstanding
(billions) (at year end)   150.9  6.2  157.1  156.3  7.9  164.2 
Market value of Nasdaq-listed
companies (billions) (at year end)  $ 2,837.8 $ 62.1 $ 2,899.9 $ 3,579.4 $ 17.7 $ 3,597.1 

        As of December 31, 2001 there were 4,109 companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market, consisting of 3,351 companies listed on The Nasdaq National
Market tier and 758 on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market tier. As of December 31, 2001, The Nasdaq Stock Market was home to the highest percentage of publicly-
traded technology and service companies in the U.S., including approximately 77% of computer hardware and peripherals companies, 96% of computer
networking companies, 85% of computer software and data processing companies, 87% of semiconductor companies, 67% of telecommunications companies,
and 82% of biotechnology and health care companies. In addition, as of December 31, 2001, there were 447 foreign companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock
Market, consisting of 355 foreign companies listed on The Nasdaq National Market tier and 92 on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market tier. The number of listed
companies includes those companies that may have otherwise been subject to delisting if not for a temporary suspension of certain listing standards during the
period between September 26, 2001 and January 2, 2002. See "—Products and Services—Corporate Client Group Services."

Nasdaq's History and Structure

        Founded in 1971, Nasdaq was a wholly-owned subsidiary of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. (the "NASD") until June 2000. The NASD,
which operates subject to the oversight of the
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U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), is the largest self-regulatory organization ("SRO") in the United States with a membership that includes
virtually every broker-dealer that engages in the securities business with the U.S. public. The NASD must retain voting control over Nasdaq until such time as
Nasdaq may be approved by the SEC for registration as a national securities exchange ("Exchange Registration"), as discussed below.

        In 2000, the NASD implemented a separation of Nasdaq from the NASD by restructuring and broadening the ownership in Nasdaq (the "Restructuring")
through a two-phase private placement of securities commencing in June 2000. The principal goals of the Restructuring, among others, were to (i) raise proceeds
to create a financially stronger Nasdaq better able to invest in new technologies and address competitive challenges and global opportunities, (ii) raise proceeds to
support the operations of the NASD, which would remain the principal SRO responsible for the securities markets, and (iii) realign strategically the ownership of
Nasdaq by enlisting a broad class of strategic investors interested in Nasdaq's long-term success. In the private placements, (i) the NASD sold (A) an aggregate of
10,806,494 warrants to purchase an aggregate amount of 43,225,976 shares of outstanding Nasdaq Common Stock and (B) 4,543,591 shares of outstanding
Nasdaq Common Stock and (ii) Nasdaq sold an aggregate of 28,692,543 newly-issued shares of Common Stock to investors. Securities in the private placements
were offered to all NASD members, certain issuers listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market, and certain investment companies. All of the securities sold in the private
placements are subject to restrictions on transfer until June 2002, and are subject to certain additional restrictions in the event of an initial public offering ("IPO")
of the Common Stock. As a result of the private placements of its Common Stock, Nasdaq became a reporting company pursuant to Section 12(g) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), on June 29, 2001, and became subject to the reporting requirements under Sections 13, 14
and 16 of the Exchange Act.

        As a continuation of the Restructuring, Nasdaq repurchased 18,461,538 shares of Common Stock from the NASD on May 3, 2001, for an aggregate purchase
price of $240.0 million. On March 8, 2002, Nasdaq completed a two stage repurchase of an additional 33,768,895 shares of Common Stock owned by the NASD,
which represented all of the outstanding shares of Common Stock owned by the NASD, except for the 43,225,976 shares of Common Stock underlying the
warrants issued by the NASD in the private placements. Nasdaq purchased these shares of Common Stock for $305.2 million in aggregate cash consideration,
1,338,402 shares of Nasdaq's Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock and one share of Nasdaq's Series B Preferred Stock (the "Repurchase"). The NASD owns all
of the outstanding shares of the Series A and Series B Preferred Stock. All of the shares of Common Stock repurchased by Nasdaq from the NASD are no longer
outstanding.

        In connection with the Restructuring, Nasdaq has filed an application with the SEC for Exchange Registration. In general, Exchange Registration is a change
in legal status for Nasdaq as opposed to a change in the way Nasdaq operates. Nasdaq's application for Exchange Registration was published by the SEC for
public comment in 2001. Information relating to Nasdaq's application can be found at the SEC's web site at http://www.sec.gov/rules/other/34-44396.htm. In
November 2001, Nasdaq agreed to an indefinite extension of the date by which the SEC must approve Nasdaq's application or begin proceedings to determine
whether the application should be denied. In December 2001, Nasdaq filed a written response with the SEC that addresses issues raised in the public comment
letters. There is no assurance that Nasdaq's application for Exchange Registration will be granted or as to the exact timing of Exchange Registration. See "—Risk
Factors—The SEC may challenge or not approve Nasdaq's plan to become a national securities exchange or it may require changes in the manner Nasdaq
conducts its business before granting this approval."

        In connection with Exchange Registration, the SEC is conducting a review of Nasdaq's current rules and operations. The SEC has stated that its approval of
Exchange Registration is linked to the NASD's ability to provide an alternative display facility to NASD members to assist in the quotation
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and transaction reporting of exchange-listed securities ("Alternative Display Facility"). Specifically, in its Notice of Filing of Application for Registration as a
National Securities Exchange dated June 7, 2001, the SEC states, "... Nasdaq's exchange registration has implications for the NASD which, as a national
securities association, will continue to be required to collect bids, offers, and quotation sizes for those entities seeking to trade listed securities, including Nasdaq
securities, otherwise than on a national securities exchange. The Commission notes that the NASD's quotation and transaction reporting facility must be
operational upon Nasdaq's exchange registration." (Footnote omitted). The NASD has retained a third-party vendor to assist it in the establishment of this facility
and contemplates that the Alternative Display Facility will not be operational until at least the second quarter of 2002.



        Until such time as Nasdaq may obtain Exchange Registration, Nasdaq's legal authority to operate as a stock market is delegated to it by the NASD under a
plan approved by the SEC (the "Delegation Plan"). Although Nasdaq exercises primary responsibility for market-related functions, including market-related
rulemaking, all actions taken by Nasdaq pursuant to its delegated authority are subject to review, ratification or rejection by the NASD. In addition, the
Delegation Plan requires that the NASD retain greater than 50% of the voting control over Nasdaq. The share of Series B Preferred Stock issued to the NASD in
the Repurchase will ensure that the NASD maintains voting control until Exchange Registration. The voting power of the share of Series B Preferred Stock is
recalculated for each matter presented to stockholders as of the record date for the determination of the stockholders entitled to vote on the matter. The NASD, as
holder of the share of Series B Preferred Stock, will be entitled to cast the number of votes that, together with all other votes that the NASD is entitled to vote by
virtue of ownership, proxies or voting trusts, enables the NASD to cast one vote more than one-half of all votes entitled to be cast by stockholders. In addition, the
shares of Common Stock underlying unexercised and unexpired warrants as well as shares of Common Stock purchased through the valid exercise of warrants,
will be voted by a trustee at the direction of the NASD until Exchange Registration. Shares of Series A Preferred Stock do not have voting rights, except for the
right as a class to elect two new directors to the Board of Directors at any time distributions on the Series A Preferred Stock are in arrears for four consecutive
quarters and as otherwise required by Delaware law. If Nasdaq obtains Exchange Registration, the share of Series B Preferred Stock will lose its voting rights and
will be redeemed by Nasdaq. Nasdaq may redeem the shares of Series A Preferred Stock at any time after Exchange Registration and is required to use the net
proceeds from an IPO, and upon the occurrence of certain other events, to redeem all or a portion of the Series A Preferred Stock.

        If Nasdaq obtains Exchange Registration it will receive its own SRO status, separate from that of the NASD. Pursuant to the Exchange Act, SROs include
any registered national securities exchange, registered securities association (of which the NASD is currently the only one), or registered clearing agency, or, for
certain purposes, the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. In general, an SRO is responsible for regulating its members through the adoption and enforcement
of rules and regulations governing the business conduct of its members. As an SRO, Nasdaq will have its own rules pertaining to its members and listed
companies regarding listing, membership, and trading that are distinct and separate from those rules applicable generally to broker-dealers as administered by the
NASD. Broker-dealers will be able to choose to become members of Nasdaq, in addition to their other SRO memberships, including membership in the NASD.

        Whether or not Nasdaq is granted Exchange Registration is not expected to have a financial impact on Nasdaq in the short-term. In the long-term, however,
Exchange Registration is expected to improve the competitive position of Nasdaq. As an exchange, Nasdaq will no longer have to share revenue from certain
proprietary products with certain other exchanges. An independent Nasdaq will have greater access to the capital markets in order to raise funds for service
enhancements and increased flexibility to use its Common Stock in connection with acquisitions or other strategic partnerships.
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Industry Overview

        The securities market industry historically has included The Nasdaq Stock Market, the larger traditional stock exchanges, such as the NYSE and Amex, and
a number of regional exchanges. Some of these regional exchanges have a few exclusive "local" securities, but most compete in the business of trading the more
active NYSE-, Nasdaq-, and Amex-listed securities. The regional exchanges include the Boston, Chicago, Cincinnati, Pacific, and Philadelphia exchanges.

        Regulatory and technological developments have led to gradual changes in the industry and have resulted in greater competition in the trading of securities.
The emergence of alternative trading systems—a term that refers generally to internal trading systems that are designed to match buyers and sellers of securities
on an agency basis and includes ECNs—has provided an additional venue for investors to transact certain trades. Nasdaq encourages the use of internal or
alternative systems to trade securities and considers these systems an important component of The Nasdaq Stock Market in that they report trades through The
Nasdaq Stock Market, display their best bid and offer on the market, and transact on The Nasdaq Stock Market. For the year ended December 31, 2001, trades
executed by ECNs amounted to approximately 32.4% of the total share volume on The Nasdaq Stock Market and approximately 37.4% of the total dollar volume
on The Nasdaq Stock Market.

        The following table sets forth information comparing the primary U.S. markets for 2001 and 2000:

  

For the
12 months ended

December 31, 2001

 

For the
12 months ended

December 31, 2000

  

The Nasdaq
Stock

Market

 

NYSE

 

Amex

 

The Nasdaq
Stock

Market

 

NYSE

 

Amex

Total share volume (billions)   471.2  307.5  16.3  442.8  262.5  13.3
Total dollar volume (trillions)  $ 10.9 $ 10.5 $ 0.8 $ 20.4 $ 11.1 $ 1.0
Average daily share volume (billions)   1.9  1.2  0.1  1.8  1.0  0.1
Average daily dollar volume (billions)  $ 44.1 $ 42.3 $ 3.3 $ 81.0 $ 43.9 $ 3.8
Number of listed companies (at year end)   4,109  2,798  691  4,734  2,862  765

National Market System

        In the 1970s, Congress passed legislation and the SEC adopted rules to create a national market system to disseminate market information. As a result,
participants in U.S. securities markets have access to a consolidated stream of quotation and transaction information from all the exchanges and The Nasdaq
Stock Market (acting under the Delegation Plan) for most equity securities. The exchanges and The Nasdaq Stock Market act jointly to collect and disseminate
this information under national market system plans approved by the SEC. The price and transaction information collected under these national market system
plans is sold for a fee to data vendors, who in turn sell the information to the public. These fees are referred to as "Tape Fees." After costs are deducted, the Tape
Fees are distributed among the participants in each of the national market system plans based on their transaction volume. The national market system plans
include:

• The Nasdaq Unlisted Trading Privileges Plan ("UTP Plan"), which collects and disseminates price and transaction information for securities listed
on The Nasdaq Stock Market. Members of the plan are the NASD and certain regional exchanges. 

• The Consolidated Quotation Plan, which collects and disseminates quotation information for securities listed on the NYSE and Amex. All of the
exchanges and the NASD are members of this plan.
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• The Consolidated Tape Association Plan, which collects and disseminates transaction information for NYSE and Amex securities. All of the
exchanges and the NASD are members of this plan. 

• The Intermarket Trading System, which is a communications system that allows orders to be sent to the exchange or market quoting the best price.
All of the exchanges and the NASD are members of the Intermarket Trading System Plan.

        Nasdaq, operating under the Delegation Plan, currently acts on behalf of the NASD in each of these plans and intends to become a member in its own right
of each of these plans when and if it becomes an exchange.

Products and Services

        Nasdaq's products and services fall into three principal categories:

(1) Transaction services; 

(2) Market information services; and 

(3) Corporate Client Group services.

        Transaction Services.    Transaction services are the core set of products designed to provide market participants with access to The Nasdaq Stock Market,
quoting and trading capabilities, and post-trade services such as trade reporting and risk management. In addition, Nasdaq provides transaction services for
securities authorized for trading on the OTC Bulletin Board Service® ("OTC Bulletin Board") as well as exchange-listed securities that are traded in the over-the-
counter market by NASD members. See "—Other Products and Markets—Nasdaq InterMarket" and "—OTC Bulletin Board."

        All of Nasdaq's market participants are connected over an Enterprise Wide Network jointly designed and managed by Nasdaq and WorldCom, Inc.
("WorldCom"). Nasdaq entered into a six-year contract with WorldCom in 1997 to design and support the network. WorldCom charges Nasdaq monthly for use of
the network. The network is scalable and reliable, supporting trading of up to eight billion shares per day. Each market participant is connected to The Nasdaq
Stock Market through multiple connections to greatly reduce the risk of connection failure. See "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results Operations—Contractual Obligations and Contingent Commitments" and "Consolidated Financial Statements Note 16."

        Access Services. Nasdaq provides access to its execution and trade reporting systems through four products: Nasdaq Workstation II; the Application Program
Interface that allows firms to create their own interface to The Nasdaq Stock Market; a Computer-to-Computer Interface ("CTCI") that provides for automated
order entry, trade reporting and routing; and the Nasdaq Workstation WebLink system that provides browser-based access to The Nasdaq Stock Market via the
Internet.

        Nasdaq Workstation II, introduced in 1995, is a software product that is installed on approximately 6,800 computer desktops to provide market participants
with access to Nasdaq transaction services. Nasdaq Workstation II is designed to provide a fast, flexible, reliable, and convenient trading environment capable of
running on a variety of computers. In addition to the Nasdaq Workstation II, the Application Program Interface allows approximately 2,800 users to access The
Nasdaq Stock Market over customized interfaces developed by market participants. Using the Application Program Interface, a firm can connect their internal
systems to The Nasdaq Stock Market for order and position management. Access to The Nasdaq Stock Market via the Application Program Interface represents a
growing trend among Nasdaq market participants. Application Program Interface usage grew 29% during the year ended December 31, 2001.

        For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, Nasdaq's total revenue from Nasdaq Workstation II and the Application Program Interface was
$146.2 million, $121.6 million, and
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$87.6 million, respectively. Nasdaq Workstation II and Application Program Interface fees accounted for approximately 17.1% of Nasdaq's total revenue for the
year ended December 31, 2001.

        Nasdaq also provides CTCI for users to report trades, enter orders into SuperSoes and receive execution messages through SelectNet. The CTCI links The
Nasdaq Stock Market to automated firm systems. CTCI revenue accounted for less than 2% of Nasdaq's total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001 and
less than 1% of Nasdaq's total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

        In February 2001, Nasdaq introduced an Internet browser-based system, Workstation WebLink, for small order-entry and market making firms. Workstation
WebLink provides small firms with a low-cost option for performing basic trade reporting and risk management functions as well as order routing. For the year
ending December 31, 2001, Workstation WebLink was utilized by over 400 users and accounted for less than 1% of revenue.

        Quoting and Trading. As part of its price discovery function, Nasdaq provides collection, processing, and dissemination of price quotations of Nasdaq-listed
securities to its market participants. Price quotations are made up of two parts—the bid and the offer. The bid is the displayed price at which the quoting market
maker or ECN is prepared to buy the security from any seller in the marketplace. The offer is the displayed price at which the quoting market maker or ECN is
prepared to sell the security to any buyer in the marketplace. Since market makers and ECNs may wish to pay differing amounts to buy or sell a particular
security, Nasdaq looks at all the price quotations of the market makers and ECNs in that security and independently ranks the bids and offers so that one can
easily determine the one who is willing to sell the security for the lowest price and the one who is willing to buy the security at the highest price. This
combination of the best bid and the best offer is the "inside market" or "inside quote." Included in the price quotations collected by Nasdaq are the quotes of the
exchanges that trade Nasdaq-listed securities under the UTP Plan. As of March 20, 2002, the Chicago Stock Exchange, the Cincinnati Stock Exchange, and the
Boston Stock Exchange display quotes on The Nasdaq Stock Market pursuant to the UTP Plan. Amex and the Philadelphia Stock Exchange have announced their
intention to begin displaying Nasdaq quotes in the near future.



        Once price quotations have been entered into the Nasdaq system, Nasdaq processes the price quotations by updating the posted price and size (i.e., number
of shares the posting party will buy or sell at that price) in response to messages received from the party posting the price quotation. Only registered market
makers, ECNs, and UTP Plan participants have the ability to post and adjust quotations in the Nasdaq system. As of February 1, 2002, Nasdaq began charging
market makers and ECNs a fee each time they update a quotation.

        Nasdaq provides electronic routing of buy and sell orders for Nasdaq-listed securities to and from a market maker or ECN and the execution of those orders
through the use of automated systems. Order routing and execution are the terms generally used to describe how orders to buy and sell securities are directed to
market participants as well as how these orders are handled once they reach their destination. Order routing refers to the act of transmitting orders to another
market participant for action. Order execution is a legally binding step in which orders are executed, or responded to, once received by a market participant.
During the last few years Nasdaq has experienced increased usage of its electronic order routing and execution systems. Approximately 31% of Nasdaq's share
volume (based on the aggregate number of shares traded) comes from orders routed and executed using a Nasdaq system. The remaining 69% comes from market
participants' internal or alternative trading systems.

        Nasdaq has the following systems that provide for order routing and/or execution:

• The Nasdaq National Market Execution System (also known as "SuperSoessm") is a new and improved system for the execution of buy and sell
orders designed to provide automatic

8

execution capability for market makers, ECNs and all their institutional and retail customers, and streamline Nasdaq's transaction systems. The
SuperSoes system is only available for securities listed on The Nasdaq National Market. Securities listed on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market
continue to be traded through the Small Order Execution System ("SOESsm") and SelectNet (which are described below). SuperSoes was fully
implemented on July 30, 2001. SuperSoes combines features of SelectNet and SOES. Like SOES, SuperSoes permits the automatic execution of
trades against the best price quotations of other market participants in The Nasdaq National Market without the need for an agreement to trade
from the party providing the price quotation. SuperSoes also relaxes the usage restrictions of SOES, including the share size restriction. This
system allows the entry of single orders of up to 999,999 shares as opposed to the SOES limit of 1,000 shares. In addition, the time delay between
executions of trades with the same market maker at the same price for a single security is eliminated.

The fees for SuperSoes are charged on a per transaction basis and consist of an entry charge per order and an execution charge per share. In certain
circumstances Nasdaq rebates a portion of the per share execution charge it receives to market participants whose quotation is accessed through
SuperSoes. For the year ended December 31, 2001, Nasdaq's total revenue from SuperSoes was $32.3 million. SuperSoes accounted for
approximately 3.8% of Nasdaq's total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001. During the fourth quarter of 2001, its first full quarter of
operation, SuperSoes accounted for total revenue of $26.7 million, approximately 12.4% of Nasdaq's total revenue for the quarter.

• SelectNet is an automated Nasdaq service that facilitates order execution by linking all market participants that trade Nasdaq-listed securities.
Prior to the implementation of SuperSoes, SelectNet was the primary system that market makers used to trade with one another. It is also the
primary Nasdaq system used to access ECN price quotations and through which ECNs receive the price quotations of other market makers.
SelectNet operates as a messaging system, allowing market participants to direct an order message to a particular counter-party or to broadcast
such an order to all market participants offering to buy or sell a security at a particular or market price. SelectNet provides market participants with
the capability to independently negotiate the terms of trades. 

Since the implementation of SuperSoes, SelectNet has become primarily a tool to be used by market makers to negotiate trades. Market makers
are now prohibited from sending each other SelectNet messages that obligate the receiving party to a trade. However, market makers that wish to
trade with ECNs still have the ability to send SelectNet order messages that may be executed upon the ECNs' agreement to trade. ECNs also have
the option to use SuperSoes to elect to receive automatic executions against their price quotations, unlike market makers who are mandated to
provide automatic executions against their price quotation. If ECNs so elect, they are protected from receiving SelectNet order messages priced
and sized in a manner that would obligate the ECN to a trade in response to the SelectNet order message.

SelectNet fees are charged on a per transaction basis and consist of an entry charge per order and a graduated execution charge per trade that
decreases as the originating party's total number of monthly executions increases. For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999
Nasdaq's total revenue from SelectNet was $87.1 million, $113.5 million, and $83.1 million, respectively. SelectNet accounted for approximately
10.2% of Nasdaq's total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001. In the fourth quarter of 2001, the first full quarter during which SuperSoes
was operational, Nasdaq's total revenue from SelectNet was $11.3 million, approximately 5.2% of Nasdaq's total revenue.

• SOES routes small orders of public customers to market makers and, based on their quotes, immediately executes trades without a formal response
from the market maker. The SOES
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system is restricted to orders of no greater than 1,000 shares and cannot be used by market makers for their own trading activity. As of August 1,
2001, SOES is only available to trade securities listed on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market. It is also not available to access ECN price quotations or
for ECNs to receive the price quotations of other market participants. SOES fees are charged to the originating party on a per transaction basis,
with graduated fees per trade that decrease based on monthly activity. For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, Nasdaq's total
revenue from SOES was $26.1 million, $32.2 million, and $19.7 million, respectively. SOES accounted for approximately 3.0% of Nasdaq's total
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001. In the fourth quarter of 2001, the first full quarter during which SuperSoes was operational, SOES
accounted for less than 1% of Nasdaq's total revenue. SOES revenue is not anticipated to be material in future periods.

• Advanced Computerized Execution System ("ACES") is an order routing service that is used by market makers to execute order flow from order
entry firms. Order entry firms generally route buy and sell orders to the best price quotes displayed in the market or enter into agreements with a
particular market maker where the market maker agrees to fill the order entry firm's orders at the best price displayed in the market. Order entry
firms can route buy and sell orders directly to specified market makers through Nasdaq Workstation II or their own proprietary systems. These
orders are executed within the market makers' internal trading systems and execution reports are routed back to the order entry firms. ACES is



often used by market makers to connect with firms whose order volume is too low to justify the fixed costs of establishing a proprietary network
linkage. ACES fees are charged to the market maker only, and consist of graduated activity fees per execution that decrease as the market maker's
number of executions per month increases. ACES accounted for less than 1% of Nasdaq's total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001,
and approximately 2.1% and 2.2% for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. 

• Computer Assisted Execution Systemsm ("CAESsm") is the transaction service system for Nasdaq InterMarket, which is an electronic marketplace
where NASD members can trade securities listed on the NYSE or Amex. CAES is linked to the Intermarket Trading System. CAES allows users
to direct orders in exchange-listed securities to other Nasdaq InterMarket market makers for automated response and execution, and also provides
access to the Intermarket Trading System. The Intermarket Trading System is a communications system that allows exchange-designated dealers,
exchange floor brokers, and NASD members to send orders for execution to the market quoting the best price. Nasdaq charges Nasdaq
InterMarket participants a monthly fee per terminal to access to both systems (CAES/Intermarket Trading System). In addition, a per transaction
fee is charged to the originating party (i.e., the sender). CAES and Intermarket Trading System fees accounted for less than 1% of Nasdaq's total
revenue for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999. 

• Primex Auction Systemtm ("Primex") provides investors and market makers with a new electronic auction trading platform. Primex allows users to
seek price improvement opportunities by electronically exposing orders to market participants who compete for the orders at prices at, and within,
the prevailing national best bid or offer. Primex is operated pursuant to an agreement between Nasdaq and Primex Trading N.A., LLC, and began
operation on December 17, 2001. During the pilot phase, which is scheduled to be completed on March 31, 2002, 194 securities may be traded on
Primex, including the securities that make up the Nasdaq-100 Index®, Dow Jones Industrial Average, and Standard & Poor's 100 Index. Nasdaq
imposes a monthly fee to access Primex, which will vary based on the method used to access the system. Nasdaq charges execution fees to parties
executing trades on shares available in the system. No execution fees are charged for submitting orders that provide liquidity to the system.
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Nasdaq has waived all fees associated with linking to, and transacting in, Primex for the duration of the pilot phase.

        Post-Trade Services—Automated Confirmation Transaction Servicesm ("ACTsm").    U.S. securities laws require that all registered stock exchanges and
securities associations establish a transaction reporting plan for the central collection of price and volume information concerning trades executed in those
markets. Transactions in Nasdaq-listed securities, exchange-listed securities traded over-the-counter, and other equity securities traded over-the-counter have
traditionally been reported to the ACT system, Nasdaq's automated trade reporting and reconciliation service that electronically facilitates the post-execution steps
of price and volume reporting, comparison, and clearing of trades. A protocol establishes which of the two parties to the trade is responsible for trade reporting,
and NASD rules govern the timeliness of trade submission and the information required on each trade report.

        ACT provides three primary revenue-generating services: trade reporting, trade comparison, and risk management. The majority of trades reported to Nasdaq
are locked-in externally from the ACT system, and are submitted for reporting purposes only. These transaction reports are assessed a nominal reporting fee.
Trades that require ACT to match and lock-in the two parties to the trade generally are assessed a higher fee based upon the number of shares traded. A fee for the
ACT risk management service is also applied to some of the transactions reported to ACT. This fee is assessed to the firms that clear for each of the parties to the
trade, provided that the trading parties are not designated as self-clearing firms. A cap on ACT risk management fees was introduced in April 2000, limiting a
clearing firm's monthly payment for each of its trading firms (correspondents) to $10,000. With the cap in place for the entire 2001 fiscal year, risk management
revenue declined by approximately 50% from fiscal year 2000.

        For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, Nasdaq's total revenue from ACT was $87.3 million, $100.0 million, and $68.1 million,
respectively. ACT fees accounted for approximately 10.2% of Nasdaq's total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001.

        For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, Nasdaq's total revenue from transaction services was $408.8 million, $395.1 million, and
$283.7 million, respectively. Transaction services accounted for approximately 47.7% of Nasdaq's total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001.

        Market Information Services.    As a market operator, Nasdaq collects and disseminates price quotations and information regarding price and volume of
executed trades. Market participants in The Nasdaq Stock Market have real-time access to quote and trade data. Interested parties that are not direct market
participants in The Nasdaq Stock Market also can receive real-time information through a number of market information services products.

        Nasdaq has two primary market information products designed to provide the varying levels of detail desired by different broker-dealers and their customers.
The first product is known as Level 1. This product provides subscribers with the current inside quote and most recent price at which the last sale or purchase was
transacted for a specific security. Professional subscribers, e.g., broker-dealers and other employees of broker-dealers, to this product pay a monthly fee per
terminal for the service, which is typically delivered to the subscriber through a third-party data vendor. A vendor or a broker-dealer can provide non-professional
customers, i.e., individual investors, with Level 1 information at a reduced fee calculated on a per query basis or a flat monthly fee per user. Although the growth
in on-line investing in recent years increased the usage of these fee structures by on-line brokerage firms and other Internet services, weaker economic and market
conditions in 2001 caused a substantial reduction in Level 1 revenue due to a decrease in demand for non-professional per query service.
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        For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, Nasdaq's revenue from Level 1 fees was $140.8 million, $159.6 million, and $135.0 million,
respectively. Nasdaq's Level 1 fees accounted for approximately 16.4% of Nasdaq's total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001.

        The second market information product, the Nasdaq Quotation Dissemination Service, provides subscribers with the quotes of each individual market maker
and ECN, in addition to the inside quotes and last transaction price. The fee for this service is priced on a per terminal per month basis, with professional
subscribers paying a higher monthly per terminal fee than non-professional customers. Professional subscribers can also access historical data via a subscription
to Nasdaq Trader, a non-UTP Plan product.

        For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, Nasdaq's revenue from Nasdaq Quotation Dissemination Service fees was $61.0 million,
$74.8 million, and $32.5 million, respectively. The reduction in Nasdaq's revenue from the Nasdaq Quotation Dissemination Service in 2001 reflects the



introduction of a reduced non-professional service fee. Nasdaq Quotation Dissemination Service fees accounted for approximately 7.1% of Nasdaq's total revenue
for the year ended December 31, 2001.

        In addition, Nasdaq serves as a securities information processor ("SIP") for purposes of collecting and disseminating quotation and last sale information for
all transactions in securities listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. In creating the national market system, Congress intended for participants in U.S. securities
markets to have access to a consolidated stream of quotation and transaction information for the exchanges and The Nasdaq Stock Market. To accomplish this
objective, SIPs consolidate information with respect to quotations and transactions in order to increase information availability and thus create the opportunity for
a more transparent and effective market. Nasdaq is the exclusive SIP pursuant to the UTP Plan. Under the UTP Plan, as recently amended, each participant can
quote and trade any securities from The Nasdaq Stock Market, and Nasdaq collects quotation and last sale information from competing exchanges (currently the
Boston Stock Exchange, the Chicago Stock Exchange, and the Cincinnati Stock Exchange actively compete and Amex and the Philadelphia Stock Exchange have
announced plans to compete) and consolidates such information with the information for all the securities listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. Nasdaq sells this
information to vendors in exchange for Tape Fees, and the data vendors in turn sell the last sale and quotation data publicly. Under the revenue sharing provision
of the UTP Plan, Nasdaq is permitted to deduct certain costs associated with acting as an exclusive SIP from the total amount of Tape Fees collected. After these
costs are deducted from the Tape Fees, Nasdaq distributes to the respective UTP Plan participants their share of Tape Fees based on a combination of their
respective trade volume and share volume.

        Currently, the NASD receives a share of Tape Fees based on trade volume and share volume of transactions effected on or reported to The Nasdaq Stock
Market and distributes this share to Nasdaq. In anticipation of Nasdaq's registration as a national securities exchange, UTP Plan participants are currently
negotiating an amendment to the UTP Plan that would make Nasdaq a direct participant in the UTP Plan and allow Nasdaq to receive a share of Tape Fees
directly from the SIP.

        While Nasdaq is currently the exclusive SIP for the UTP Plan, it is engaged with the other UTP Plan participants in a Request-for-Proposal process to select
a new SIP. This process is the result of the SEC's conditions for extending the UTP Plan beyond its March 2001 termination date. The SEC has required that there
be good faith negotiations among the UTP Plan participants on a revised UTP Plan that provides for either (i) a fully viable alternative exclusive SIP for all The
Nasdaq National Market securities, or (ii) a fully viable alternative non-exclusive SIP. To avoid conflicts of interest, the SEC cautioned that, in the event the
revised UTP Plan provides for an exclusive SIP, a UTP Plan participant—particularly Nasdaq—should not operate as the exclusive SIP unless (i) the SIP is
chosen on the basis of bona fide competitive bidding and the participant submits the successful bid, and
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(ii) any decision to award a contract to a UTP Plan participant, and any ensuing renewal of such contract, is made without that UTP Plan participant's direct or
indirect voting participation. The UTP Plan participants unanimously approved the Request-for-Proposal on November 7, 2001. The Request-for-Proposal was
mailed to prospective bidders, and seven bidders submitted proposals prior to the submission deadline of January 8, 2002. Nasdaq did not submit a bid proposal.
The UTP Plan participants currently are reviewing the proposals and it is likely that the new SIP will be operational in early 2003.

        Nasdaq does not expect its revenue to be affected if it loses its status as an exclusive SIP and no longer serves as a SIP; however, a different SIP operator
could have higher operating costs than Nasdaq, leaving less net revenue available for UTP Plan participants including Nasdaq. See "—Risk Factors—Nasdaq's
share of net revenue from Tape Fees may decrease once Nasdaq loses its status as the exclusive SIP under the UTP Plan."

        For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, Nasdaq's total revenue from market information services was $240.5 million, $258.3 million, and
$186.5 million, respectively. Market information services accounted for approximately 28.1% of Nasdaq's total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001.

        Corporate Client Group Services.    Corporate Client Group services provide information services and products to Nasdaq-listed companies and are
responsible for obtaining new listings on The Nasdaq Stock Market. The Nasdaq Stock Market has historically attracted traditional growth companies and, as of
December 31, 2001, was home to the highest percentage of publicly-traded technology and service companies in the U.S.

        On December 31, 2001, 4,109 companies were listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. For the year ended December 31, 2001, 145 new companies listed on
The Nasdaq Stock Market, 116 on The Nasdaq National Market and 29 on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market. For the year ended December 31, 2000, 605 new
companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market, 511 on The Nasdaq National Market, and 94 on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market.

        During 2001, 63 IPOs, approximately 62% of all IPOs on primary U.S. markets during this period, listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. These IPOs raised
over $7.8 billion, approximately 18% of the total dollar value raised in U.S. IPOs during this period. Of all U.S. IPOs during the year ended December 31, 2000,
397 companies, approximately 88% of U.S. IPOs during this period, listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. The reduction in The Nasdaq Stock Market's percentage
of U.S. IPOs during 2001 reflects a decline in general market and economic conditions, which has impacted the ability of traditional growth companies to access
the public equity markets. In addition, during this period there was an increased number of IPOs of companies being spun-off from public companies that, in
general, have not operated in traditional growth industries. Of the 12 spin-offs during 2001, 10 of the spin-offs were subsidiaries of NYSE-listed companies,
seven of which also listed on the NYSE. During the year ended December 31, 2001, these 12 spin-offs accounted for approximately 12% of all U.S. IPOs and
approximately 39% of the total dollar value raised in U.S. IPOs during this period. In comparison, during the year ended December 31, 2000, the number of IPO
spin-offs from public companies accounted for only 5% of all U.S. IPOs and approximately 13% of the total dollar value raised in U.S. IPOs during this period.
Fifty-six of the 63 IPOs that listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market during 2001 have listed on The Nasdaq National Market and seven companies have listed on The
Nasdaq SmallCap Market.

        Companies cease being listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market for three primary reasons: (i) the failure to meet The Nasdaq Stock Market's listing standards,
(ii) the consolidation of listings due to merger and acquisition activity, and (iii) Nasdaq-listed companies switching their listing to another market, such as the
NYSE or Amex. See "—Competition—Corporate Client Group Services."
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        For the year ended December 31, 2001, 537 issuers ceased being listed on The Nasdaq National Market and 233 issuers ceased being listed on The Nasdaq
SmallCap Market. By comparison, 486 issuers ceased being listed on The Nasdaq National Market and 164 issuers ceased being listed on The Nasdaq SmallCap
Market for the year ended December 31, 2000. For the year ended December 31, 2001, 210 issuers on The Nasdaq National Market and 180 issuers on The



Nasdaq SmallCap Market were delisted by Nasdaq for failure to satisfy listing standards; 245 issuers on The Nasdaq National Market and 39 issuers on The
Nasdaq SmallCap Market were delisted due to mergers and consolidations; 34 issuers on The Nasdaq National Market and no issuers on The Nasdaq SmallCap
Market ceased being listed as a result of switches to a competing market, and 48 issuers on The Nasdaq National Market and 14 issuers on the Nasdaq SmallCap
Market were delisted due to other reasons, including moving from one tier of The Nasdaq Stock Market to the other tier.

        In response to the general economic and market uncertainty after the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks on the United States, Nasdaq formally suspended
two requirements for continued listing on both The Nasdaq National Market and The Nasdaq SmallCap Market from September 26, 2001 until January 2, 2002.
The first requirement sets a minimum bid price for an issuer's stock (either $1 or $3 per share, depending on the listing standards applicable to the issuer). The
second requirement establishes a minimum market value for an issuer's public float. The term "public float" refers to those shares that are not directly or indirectly
held by any officer or director of the issuer or any beneficial owner of more than 10% of the total number of shares outstanding. All issuers that were under
review or in the hearings process for either of these requirements were taken out of the deficiency review process with respect to these requirements. The
suspension had an immediate impact on 209 issuers—159 on The Nasdaq National Market and 50 on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market. In addition to these 209
issuers, 47 issuers on The Nasdaq National Market and 30 issuers on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market, while deficient in the minimum bid price and/or market
value of public float requirements, were also deficient in another requirement. As such, these 77 issuers remained in the deficiency review process.

        On January 2, 2002, the minimum bid price and market value of public float requirements were reinstated. The time periods for review of non-compliance,
which are discussed below, began on January 2, 2002 for all issuers, including those that were not in compliance with the requirements as of September 26, 2001.

        The rules concerning the delisting of issuers from The Nasdaq Stock Market for failure to satisfy the minimum bid price and market value of public float
requirements were amended with SEC approval in January 2002. Issuers are subject to the delisting procedure if securities fall below the minimum bid price or
fail to meet the market value of public float requirement for 30 consecutive business days. Issuers listed on The Nasdaq National Market that are not in
compliance with either requirement are given a 90-day grace period to regain compliance. Issuers listed on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market receive the same 90-
day grace period with respect to the market value of public float requirement. However, under a pilot program that is scheduled to expire on January 1, 2004,
issuers listed on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market have a longer grace period within which to comply with the minimum bid requirement. These issuers now have
180 days to regain compliance, which may be extended for an additional 180 days if the issuer complies with certain initial listing requirements for The Nasdaq
SmallCap Market. Also during the pilot program, issuers on The Nasdaq National Market who are unable to regain compliance with the minimum bid
requirements within the applicable 90 day grace period are permitted to phase down to list on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market and use the additional grace period
available to issuers on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market. Previously, issuers listed on The Nasdaq National Market that failed to comply within the 90 day grace
period were delisted from The Nasdaq Stock Market.

        Nasdaq charges issuers an initial listing fee, a listing of additional shares ("LAS") fee, and an annual fee. The initial listing fee for securities listed on The
Nasdaq National Market or The Nasdaq
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SmallCap Market includes a one-time listing application fee and a total shares outstanding fee. The estimated service period for initial listing fees is six years. For
the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, Nasdaq's revenue from initial listing fees was $35.7 million, $33.9 million, and $27.4 million, respectively.
Revenue figures for 1999 are pro forma, assuming the Change in Accounting Principle is applied retroactively. Nasdaq's initial listing fee revenue accounted for
approximately 4.2% of Nasdaq's total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001.

        The fee for LAS is based on the total shares outstanding, which Nasdaq reviews quarterly. The estimated service period for LAS fees is four years. For the
years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, Nasdaq's revenue from LAS fees was $35.9 million, $33.6 million, and $30.0 million, respectively. Revenue
figures for 1999 are pro forma, assuming a retroactive application of the Change in Accounting Principle. Nasdaq's LAS fee revenue accounted for approximately
4.2% of Nasdaq's total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001.

        Annual fees for securities listed on The Nasdaq National Market are based on total shares outstanding. For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and
1999, Nasdaq's revenue from annual listing fees was $83.1 million, $81.1 million, and $77.3 million, respectively. Nasdaq's annual listing fees accounted for
approximately 9.7% of Nasdaq's total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001.

        Effective January 1, 2002, Nasdaq instituted a new fee structure that increased initial and annual listing fees for companies on both The Nasdaq National
Market and The Nasdaq SmallCap Market. The increases marked the first increase in annual listing fees in four years for issuers listed on The Nasdaq National
Market and the first such increase in 10 years for foreign issuers with American Depositary Receipts listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market and all issuers listed on
The Nasdaq SmallCap Market. The revenue expected to be generated from the fee increase will be used primarily to fund enhancements to the services offered to
Nasdaq-listed companies, including the establishment of a Market Intelligence Centersm. See "—Strategic Initiatives—Attracting, Servicing, and Retaining Listed
Companies."

        Following the initial listing, Nasdaq provides information services, products, and programs to Nasdaq-listed companies. Executives of Nasdaq-listed
companies are invited to participate in a variety of programs on a wide range of topics, such as industry sector-specific seminars and investor relation forums.
These executives also have access to Nasdaq Onlinesm, a strategic planning tool provided free of charge to Nasdaq-listed companies that was rated number one in
a recent survey of the top 10 favorite investor relations web sites by the National Investor Relations Institute. Nasdaq Online presents market data on all U.S.
traded companies and real-time quotes for Nasdaq-listed securities, as well as information on institutional ownership, research coverage, and performance ratios.
This combination of on-line real time data and analytical information, along with a series of other seminars and programs, is designed to help management of
listed companies make better equity management decisions. See "—Strategic Initiatives—Attracting, Servicing, and Retaining Listed Companies."

        Each listed company is assigned a Corporate Client Group director who oversees the listed company's relationship with Nasdaq. A schedule of calls and
visits along with invitations to various industry and market forums are used to enhance customer satisfaction, keep companies informed of new developments at
Nasdaq, and discuss the benefits of a listing on The Nasdaq Stock Market. Nasdaq also has created a program to educate investment bankers, capital market
dealers, institutional investors, and other constituencies that influence listing decisions.

        For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 Nasdaq's total revenue from Corporate Client Group services was $156.1 million, $149.3 million,
and $136.4 million, respectively. Corporate Client Group services accounted for approximately 18.2% of Nasdaq's total revenue for the year ended December 31,
2001. Revenue figures for 1999 are pro forma, assuming the retroactive application of the Change in Accounting Principle.
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Other Products and Markets

        Nasdaq Financial Products.    Nasdaq Financial Products is responsible for introducing products that extend and enhance the Nasdaq brand; creating
products that will increase investment in Nasdaq-listed companies; developing Nasdaq branded financial products. Nasdaq Financial Products also is responsible
for both listings and transactions of non-Nasdaq branded financial products.

        A number of Nasdaq branded financial product are based on the Nasdaq-100 Index®, launched in January 1985. The Nasdaq-100 Index generally includes
the 100 largest non-financial stocks in Nasdaq. The Nasdaq Financial-100 Index® represents the 100 largest financial stocks. The Nasdaq-100 Index has become
the basis for a wide variety of financial products, including: futures contracts, exchange traded funds (QQQ), mutual funds, equity options on QQQ, and a variety
of structured products such as index warrants and index equity linked notes and certificates offered primarily in Europe. An exchange traded fund is an
investment company organized to track an index and to allow for secondary market trading. A structured product is a specialized security designed to respond to
specific investment objectives, such as risk reduction, leverage or diversification of current investments, or tax management. Nasdaq receives a license fee for
these products that varies by product based on assets under management or number of contracts issued.

        The exchange traded fund based on The Nasdaq-100 Index is officially named the Nasdaq-100 Index Tracking Stocksm and began trading in 1999 under the
symbol "QQQ." For the year ended December 31, 2001, the average daily share volume of QQQ was 70.6 million and the average daily dollar volume of QQQ
was approximately $3.0 billion, making it the second most heavily traded stock in terms of shares and the most heavily traded stock in terms of dollar value in the
United States. As of December 31, 2001, the QQQ Trust had issued approximately 555.7 billion shares and the assets under management had reached
$21.8 billion. Every major stock market in the U.S. including the NYSE, Amex, Boston Stock Exchange, Chicago Stock Exchange, Cincinnati Stock Exchange,
Pacific Stock Exchange, and Philadelphia Stock Exchange has been licensed by Nasdaq to use Nasdaq trademarks in connection with trading QQQ under the
UTP Plan. The equity options on QQQ also were among the most heavily traded options in the U.S. in 2001. Every major options market in the U.S. has been
licensed by Nasdaq to use Nasdaq trademarks to trade the equity options on QQQ. In addition to license fees from QQQ based on assets under management and
license fees from exchanges based on UTP volume, Nasdaq is entitled to reimbursement from the QQQ Trust for marketing activities designed to promote the
Trust.

        For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 Nasdaq's total revenue from Nasdaq Financial Products was $30.6 million, $11.7 million, and
$0.6 million, respectively. Nasdaq Financial Products accounted for approximately 3.6% of Nasdaq's total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001.

        Nasdaq InterMarket.    Nasdaq InterMarket is an electronic marketplace where NASD members can trade securities listed on the NYSE and Amex. Users
can trade on Nasdaq InterMarket among themselves using Nasdaq's CAES order delivery system, or with another participating stock exchange through the
Intermarket Trading System. CAES allows users to direct orders in exchange-listed securities to other NASD members for automatic response and automatic
execution, and also provides access to the Intermarket Trading System. For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, Nasdaq's total revenue from
Nasdaq InterMarket was $33.6 million, $23.1 million, and $18.0 million, respectively. Nasdaq InterMarket revenue accounted for approximately 3.9% of
Nasdaq's total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001. Approximately 96% of the revenue generated from the Nasdaq InterMarket is derived from the sale
of data and is included in market information services revenue, and the remaining revenue is derived from transaction service fees for CAES and Intermarket
Trading System transactions and included in transaction services revenue.
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        For the year ended December 31, 2001, Nasdaq InterMarket accounted for approximately 7% of trades in securities listed on the NYSE and approximately
33% of trades in securities listed on Amex. All Nasdaq InterMarket trades are reported and disseminated in real-time to the Consolidated Tape Association, and as
such, Nasdaq shares in the revenue generated by the Consolidated Tape Association. Two NASD members that are major market makers and one ECN report the
majority of trades. Other ECNs report trades through Nasdaq systems to the Consolidated Tape Association and some are planning to begin quoting in Nasdaq
InterMarket. NASD members who trade exchange-listed securities away from the exchanges account for a significant amount of Nasdaq InterMarket trading
activity.

        OTC Bulletin Board.    The OTC Bulletin Board is an electronic screen-based market for equity securities that, among other things, are not listed on The
Nasdaq Stock Market or any primary U.S. national securities exchange. At present, the OTC Bulletin Board is a quotation service, as companies do not list on the
OTC Bulletin Board. NASD members may post quotes only for companies that file periodic reports with the SEC and/or with a banking or insurance regulatory
authority. In addition, these companies are required to be current with their periodic filings. Market makers are charged a fee per position and are billed based on
their number of positions during a month. A position is defined as any price quotation or indication of interest entered by a market maker in a security quoted on
the OTC Bulletin Board. There are no fees charged to companies whose securities are quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board. The OTC Bulletin Board revenue
accounted for less than 1% of Nasdaq's total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively. Revenue generated from the OTC
Bulletin Board is included in transaction services revenue.

        During 2000, in conjunction with Exchange Registration, the Nasdaq Board of Directors and the NASD Board of Governors (the "NASD Board" and,
together with the Nasdaq Board, the "Boards"), approved several rule changes that are designed to enhance the OTC Bulletin Board and permit Nasdaq to
continue to operate it after Exchange Registration. First, the Boards approved a program for Nasdaq to enter into a listing agreement with OTC Bulletin Board
issuers and impose new listing standards to ensure the quality of these issuers. Second, both Boards approved the creation of an automated order delivery system
for the OTC Bulletin Board. Finally, to accompany the new listing standards and order delivery system, the Boards approved enhanced market rules that provide
for limit order protection, short interest reporting, and intraday trading halt authority. Nasdaq has submitted to the SEC the appropriate proposed rules and plans
to submit exemption requests that would allow Nasdaq to continue to operate the OTC Bulletin Board after Exchange Registration, which would be renamed the
"Bulletin Board Exchange," or "BBX." The SEC has not yet approved the rules or the exemption request. Therefore, it is not certain whether Nasdaq will
continue to operate the OTC Bulletin Board following Exchange Registration. If the SEC does not approve the exemption request, these securities could continue
to trade over the counter through a non-Nasdaq facility.

Fee Changes



        Nasdaq may change the pricing of its products and services in response to competitive pressures or changes in market or general economic conditions.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Act, Nasdaq must file all proposals for a change in its pricing structure with the SEC. Nasdaq provides updated
information on the pricing of its products and services on its website at www.nasdaqtrader.com.

Nasdaq's Strategic Initiatives

        Nasdaq's strategic initiatives include enhancing its products and services; attracting, servicing, and retaining listed companies; and pursuing global market
expansion.

        Enhancing Products and Services.    In the third quarter of 2002, Nasdaq plans to launch the Nasdaq Order Display Facility ("SuperMontagesm"), an
improved user interface on the Nasdaq Workstation II
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designed to refine how market participants can access, process, display, and integrate orders and quotes in The Nasdaq Stock Market. SuperMontage has several
strategic implications. It is intended to attract more orders to The Nasdaq Stock Market by providing a comprehensive display of the interest at the inside market
and four price levels away, thus increasing competition and market transparency. SuperMontage will also provide pre-trade anonymity to market participants
using a Nasdaq system, i.e., prior to execution no one will know the identity of the firm displaying the order unless such firm chooses to reveal its identity.
Anonymous trading can contribute to improved pricing for securities by reducing the potential market impact of large transactions and transactions by certain
investors whose trading activity, if known, may be more likely to influence others.

        By allowing (but not requiring) market participants to give the Nasdaq system multiple orders at single as well as at multiple price levels, SuperMontage will
assist market participants with the management of their back book, i.e., orders that are not at the best price in the market maker's book/system. This functionality
will also assist market participants with compliance with the SEC's order handling rules, which among other things, require the display of customer limit orders
priced better than a Nasdaq market maker's or a designated dealer's quote or that are for a larger number of shares at the same price. Other system enhancements
will make it easier for ECNs to accept automatic execution via Nasdaq systems. Nasdaq currently contemplates that it will begin user testing of SuperMontage in
the second quarter of 2002.

        SuperMontage provides Nasdaq market information services with two new data products. DepthViewsm will show the aggregate size available at up to five
price levels while TotalViewsm will display, in addition to DepthView data, each quote or order, with attribution when available, that makes up the aggregate
depth at up to five price levels. These Nasdaq-proprietary data products will provide new revenue streams that are not expected to materially reduce subscriptions
of existing products because they are enhancements rather than substitutes for Level 1 and Nasdaq Quotation Dissemination Service.

        In March 2002, Nasdaq market information services introduced PostDatasm, a new data product that will enable market participants to advertise their ACT-
reported trading volume and other parties, particularly the buy side, to view accurate trading data from the previous day. In July 2002, Nasdaq market information
services anticipates introducing Liquidity Trackersm, an order routing system that uses ACT data from market participants that opt into the system to route orders
to participants likely to take the other side of a trade.

        Nasdaq is also developing a single stock futures market. On June 1, 2001, Nasdaq and the London International Financial Futures and Options Exchange
("LIFFE") formed Nasdaq LIFFE, LLC (subsequently renamed Nasdaq LIFFE Markets, LLC ("Nasdaq LIFFE")), a new jointly owned U.S. limited liability
company to list and trade contracts on single stock futures, among other products. Nasdaq and LIFFE each owns 50% of Nasdaq LIFFE. On August 21, 2001, the
Commodity Futures Trading Commission conditionally approved Nasdaq LIFFE as a futures market and SRO. In addition, the U.K. Treasury has recognized
Nasdaq LIFFE as an overseas investment exchange in the United Kingdom, allowing Nasdaq LIFFE to provide direct access to its market to members in the
United Kingdom. Nasdaq LIFFE is currently positioning itself to be ready to commence trading in single stock futures sometime in the second quarter of 2002, if
necessary regulations are in place for trading.

        Attracting, Servicing, and Retaining Listed Companies.    Nasdaq intends to further The Nasdaq Stock Market's reputation as a premier marketplace
through a combination of strategic actions including the creation of the Market Intelligence Centersm. The Market Intelligence Center is expected to augment
Corporate Client Group productivity resulting in improved corporate sales, service, and retention. The plan for the Market Intelligence Center was announced in
October 2001 and the Center is scheduled to debut its first phase in June 2002 as a customer care location that will be a "one-stop-shop" for information and
provide rapid response to corporate client queries from a centralized location. The
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Market Intelligence Center will use customer relationship management, computer-aided telephony, proprietary and non-proprietary information services to
provide services to senior executives and board members of Nasdaq-listed companies. In addition, the Corporate Client Group is planning a series of
enhancements to Nasdaq Online, Nasdaq's private Internet site for corporate clients. A product group was established to begin the development and
commercialization of new products and services focused on the corporate market, as well as increased financial newsmedia coverage of Nasdaq-listed companies.

Pursuing Global Market Expansion.

        Nasdaq Europe S.A./N.V. Nasdaq is pursuing strategic partnership opportunities with a number of major U.S. and foreign securities exchanges to expand its
leadership in technology-driven price discovery systems and to utilize its well-recognized and well-respected brand. In March 2001, Nasdaq acquired an
approximate 68% ownership interest in EASDAQ S.A./N.V. ("EASDAQ"), a pan-European stock market for emerging growth companies, headquartered in
Brussels. Nasdaq has since diluted its interest through the introduction of other strategic partners as shareholders. In connection with this investment, Nasdaq
restructured EASDAQ into Nasdaq Europe S.A./N.V. ("Nasdaq Europe") with the goal to make Nasdaq Europe a globally-linked pan-European market. As of
December 31, 2001, Nasdaq owned approximately 60% of Nasdaq Europe. As of December 31, 2001, 48 companies were listed on Nasdaq Europe and 265
companies were admitted for trading. The monthly trading volume in December 2001 was 4.5 million shares. Nasdaq Europe is in its nascent stages and has only
operating losses since the acquisition by Nasdaq. Nasdaq Europe's future growth is dependent on such things as firms connecting to Nasdaq Europe's trading



platform and using its trading facilities, as well as any continuation of the current weakness in European equity markets. See "—Risk Factors—Nasdaq may not
be successful in executing its international strategy."

        Nasdaq Europe's main competitors for listings and trading include the three primary exchanges in Europe: Deutsche Börse AG, Euronext N.V., and the
London Stock Exchange. Nasdaq Europe expects the competition for retail and institutional order flow to be based in large part on the ability of firms to operate
within an exchange environment that offers optimum market structures and services within a well-regulated marketplace. Nasdaq Europe believes that its
approach to such critical issues as market structure, clearance and settlement, product development, and branding, can offer an exchange platform for market
participants to compete successfully in Europe.

        Nasdaq continues to explore opportunities for expanding its presence in Europe, including possible combinations or other collaborative activities with one or
more major European institutions. For instance, on November 14, 2001, Nasdaq Europe announced a strategic partnership with the Berlin Stock Exchange that
will create a common trading platform between these two markets. Under this partnership, Nasdaq Europe intends, among other things, to pool liquidity with the
Berlin Stock Exchange by enabling German specialists to become market makers on Nasdaq Europe in selected securities. Nasdaq anticipates that discussions
with other European institutions will continue, but cannot predict the results of any such discussions.

        Nasdaq Japan, Inc. In 1999, the NASD and SOFTBANK Corp. of Japan entered into a joint venture, subsequently named Nasdaq Japan, to develop and
create an electronic stock market in Japan. The NASD later transferred its interest in Nasdaq Japan to Nasdaq Global Holdings ("Nasdaq Global"), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Nasdaq. Nasdaq Global owns approximately 39% of Nasdaq Japan's outstanding stock. Nasdaq Japan signed a business collaboration
agreement with the Osaka Securities Exchange (the "OSE") to establish Nasdaq Japan as a new market section of the OSE. The Nasdaq Japan market began
operations on June 19, 2000. In its first phase of operations, prior to its deployment of a SuperMontage-like trading platform technology, Nasdaq Japan has
focused on recruiting IPOs of companies for listing and trading these securities on the existing OSE system. In October 2001, Starbucks Coffee Japan, Ltd. had an
IPO of its common stock and listed on Nasdaq
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Japan. Starbucks Corporation, a U.S. based Nasdaq-listed Company, is a major shareholder of Starbucks Coffee Japan, Ltd. In addition, Nasdaq Japan, subject to
regulatory approvals, is seeking to introduce trading of U.S.-listed securities and exchange traded funds in Japan, including the Nasdaq-100 QQQ exchange
traded fund. As of December 31, 2001, 82 companies were trading on the interim trading platform with an average monthly share volume of 8.8 million shares.
As a start up operation, Nasdaq Japan has had only operating losses since its inception. See "—Risk Factors—Nasdaq may not be successful in executing its
international strategy."

Technology

        Nasdaq believes that the effective use of technology is the key to the future of financial markets. The Nasdaq Stock Market was the world's first electronic
screen-based stock market and its use of state-of-the-art computer networking, telecommunications, and information technologies distinguishes it from other U.S.
securities markets. Using technology, Nasdaq eliminates the need for a physical trading floor and enables qualified investors across the country to compete freely
with one another in an electronic screen-based environment. The Nasdaq network routinely handles trade volumes of over two billion shares daily and over 4,000
transactions per second and is designed to maximize transaction reliability and network security across each of the most critical system services that comprise The
Nasdaq Stock Market, including quotation, order processing, trade reporting, and market data dissemination. Furthermore, Nasdaq's system has substantial
reserve capacity to handle far greater levels of activity and will further expand bandwidth to maximize its ability to provide an efficient, rapid, reliable trading
environment for its market participants. Continual systems improvements provide cost effective and efficient access to multiple market information data and rapid
market response capabilities. Nasdaq also employs technology to maximize its ability to communicate with investors, issuers, traders, the media, and others.

Competition

        The securities markets are intensely competitive and they are expected to remain so. Nasdaq competes globally and on a product and/or specific geographical
basis. Nasdaq competes based on a number of factors, including the quality of its technological and regulatory infrastructure, total transaction costs, the depth and
breadth of its markets, the quality of its value-added customer services (e.g., services to listed companies), international capabilities, reputation and price. In the
U.S., Nasdaq is one of the leaders in each of its principal businesses. Nonetheless, Nasdaq expects that current or new exchanges will compete more aggressively
against Nasdaq.

        Some of Nasdaq's most significant challenges and opportunities will arise outside the United States as globalization is likely to result in a need for a
worldwide network for linking global pools of capital and offering investors maximum access to invest in companies anywhere at anytime. In order to take
advantage of these opportunities, Nasdaq has formed alliances in key financial centers around the world in order to build on its successes in the U.S. and its
strong, worldwide brand name. Nevertheless, most of Nasdaq's competitors overseas are currently larger and have a longer operating history in their markets than
does Nasdaq.

        In light of recent technological and regulatory changes and new product introductions, Nasdaq expects to compete with a number of different entities varying
in size, business objectives, and strategy.

        Transaction Services.    Nasdaq's core trading services are designed to provide access to The Nasdaq Stock Market, quote and trade execution services, and
post-trade services such as trade reporting. Nasdaq expects to face competition from a number of different sources in providing these services including:
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• Competing regional stock exchanges that have lower regulatory costs and are able to offer larger revenue sharing arrangements to entice market
participants to report trades to them rather than Nasdaq, thereby reducing both transaction and market information services revenue; 

• ECNs that obtain registration as exchanges and compete for listing, transaction services and market information services. In October 2001, the
SEC approved Pacific/Archipelago's proposal to establish the Archipelago Exchange as an equities trading facility of the Pacific Stock Exchange.
Archipelago and RediBook, two of the largest users of ACT for trade reporting, have merged and it is likely that they will shift certain trade



reporting to the Pacific Stock Exchange later this year. Another ECN, the Island ECN ("Island"), has applied to the SEC for registration as a
national securities exchange. See "—Risk Factors—Nasdaq's revenue would be adversely affected by ECNs that register as exchanges;" 

• Competing stock exchanges or network providers that develop ways to effectively replicate Nasdaq's network and offer quote and execution
services at a lower cost and/or a greater speed and persuade a critical mass of market participants to switch to the new network/market; 

• Competing stock exchanges that are able to find ways to effectively link into Nasdaq's network while avoiding the subscription fees paid by
member firms. The SEC could require Nasdaq to distribute the quotations of independent exchanges or the NASD through the Nasdaq network
without permitting Nasdaq to charge the same quotation fees that Nasdaq may assess on Nasdaq quote providers. If this were to occur, Nasdaq
would, in effect, incur added costs potentially without an opportunity to recover such costs from its full user base; 

• ECNs and third-party service bureaus that may join together to form one dominant service provider, thereby diminishing Nasdaq's competitive
position; 

• Companies that could provide trading services for products and services, including software companies, information and media companies and
other companies that are not currently in the securities business; and 

• The NASD's Alternative Display Facility, which could attract trade reporting volume. See "—Risk Factors—Nasdaq may face competition from
the NASD's Alternative Display Facility."

        To address competitive concerns, Nasdaq has looked to enhance its technology and the services it provides to its market participants and refine its pricing
approach by reviewing each component of its transaction services, including access services, execution services and post-trade services. For each component,
Nasdaq has attempted to make pricing more attractive in order to retain usage of its services. In addition, Nasdaq has enhanced its quoting and trading services
through the implementation of SuperSoes and the ongoing phase-in of Primex and will add to that with the introduction of SuperMontage.

        Market Information Services.    Nasdaq's market information services revenue is under competitive threat from other stock exchanges that trade Nasdaq-
listed securities, including the established regional exchanges. Current SEC regulations permit these regional exchanges to trade certain securities that are not
listed on a national securities exchange, including securities listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market, pursuant to Nasdaq's UTP Plan. Nasdaq's UTP Plan entitles these
exchanges to a share of Nasdaq's data revenue, roughly proportional to such exchange's share of trading as measured by share volume and number of trades.
Currently, the Boston Stock Exchange, the Chicago Stock Exchange, and the Cincinnati Stock Exchange trade Nasdaq-listed securities pursuant to the UTP Plan.
Amex and the Philadelphia Stock Exchange have indicated their intent to commence trading in Nasdaq-listed securities pursuant to the UTP Plan. Current active
participants in the UTP Plan have established payment for order flow arrangements with their members and customers through sharing tape revenue.
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        The net effect of these additional competitors, along with continuing advances in technology and regulatory changes may increase pressure on Nasdaq to
share more Tape Fees with participants who report trades through Nasdaq. In February 2002, Island began reporting a portion of its trades to the Cincinnati Stock
Exchange, a UTP Plan participant. Published reports indicate that the Cincinnati Stock Exchange gained Island's business by committing to lower trade reporting
fees and share with Island a substantial portion of Tape Fees that Cincinnati earns from Island's trades. Nasdaq's revenue would be further affected if other ECNs
began reporting trades to other UTP Plan participants.

        To improve its competitive position, Nasdaq recently reduced certain trade reporting fees and began sharing Tape Fees with participants who report trades
through Nasdaq after deducting certain costs of regulating The Nasdaq Stock Market. Nasdaq historically has used Tape Fees to pay market regulation expenses
that help ensure the quality and fairness of The Nasdaq Stock Market and compliance with all applicable rules and regulations. As a result of the deduction of
market regulation expenses, Nasdaq's current Tape Fee sharing with Nasdaq market participants may not match the portion of Tape Fees offered by the Cincinnati
Stock Exchange although Nasdaq's Tape Fee sharing is designed to be competitive with the amount of Tape Fees that ECNs such as Island rebate to their users.
Nasdaq's trade reporting fees or Tape Fee sharing may be adjusted in the future to respond to competitive pressures. See "—Risk Factors—Competition by
regional exchanges for trade reporting business may reduce Nasdaq's trade reporting and market information revenue" and "Item 7. Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Future Products and Competitive Trends."

        ECNs pose an additional potential threat to Nasdaq's market information services business because they may register as securities exchanges. As noted
above, the SEC has approved Pacific/Archipelago's proposal to establish the Archipelago Exchange as an equities trading facility of the Pacific Exchange and
Island has applied for exchange registration and expressed interest in becoming a UTP Plan participant. In this case, they would be eligible for a share of the UTP
Plan Tape Fees generated by the sale of Nasdaq's market information products, and their use of Nasdaq's systems could diminish. See "—Risk Factors—Nasdaq's
revenue would be adversely affected by ECNs that register as exchanges."

        Nasdaq is responding aggressively to competition from existing and potential UTP exchanges. Nasdaq is working to ensure that all exchanges are covered by
uniform regulatory standards and bear appropriate regulatory costs. Nasdaq also regularly examines its fee structure to insure that costs are fairly distributed
among participants and that fees adequately cover the cost of regulation.

        Corporate Client Group Services.    Nasdaq's strategies for maintaining its current listings in both The Nasdaq National Market and The Nasdaq SmallCap
Market and gaining new listings include building global brand identity, developing joint marketing opportunities with listed companies, communicating better
with key decision makers, and providing other value-added services to Nasdaq-listed companies. Nasdaq's marketing efforts have centered on creating a valuable
brand—an important factor in attracting and retaining large world-class growth companies.

        In terms of obtaining new listings, Nasdaq will continue to focus its efforts primarily on growth companies. Over the last 18-24 months, general market and
economic conditions have made it difficult for many companies to access the public equity markets. Nevertheless, Nasdaq believes that its market model, strong
global reputation and value-added services will enable it to compete successfully for listings. Nasdaq employs a variety of initiatives and tools in its marketing
efforts, including media advertising, Internet publishing (Nasdaq.com), and international road shows.

        Nasdaq competes primarily with the NYSE for larger company listings on The Nasdaq National Market. As of December 31, 2001, there were 3,351
companies listed on The Nasdaq National Market with an aggregate domestic market capitalization of $2.8 trillion compared to 2,798 companies listed on the
NYSE with an aggregate domestic market capitalization of $11.7 trillion. Rule 500 of the NYSE historically has made it very difficult for companies to



voluntarily delist from the NYSE. As currently written, Rule 500 allows a company to delist from the NYSE if it obtains the approval of its board of directors and
its audit committee, publishes a press release announcing its proposed delisting and sends
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a written notice to its largest 35 stockholders of record (U.S. stockholders of record if a non-U.S. issuer) alerting them to the proposed delisting. Because of these
affirmative steps imposed on an issuer's board of directors, in particular the notice requirements, Nasdaq believes that Rule 500 is anti-competitive and continues
to constitute an impediment to Nasdaq's ability to compete for NYSE listings. During 2001, no companies transferred from the NYSE to The Nasdaq Stock
Market, while 32 companies switched to the NYSE from The Nasdaq National Market.

        Nasdaq competes with Amex primarily, but not exclusively, for listings on The Nasdaq SmallCap Market. During the year ended December 31, 2001, eight
companies transferred from Amex to The Nasdaq SmallCap Market. During this period, no companies switched to Amex from The Nasdaq SmallCap Market.
Two companies transferred to Amex from The Nasdaq National Market during 2001.

        Companies also have a choice of not listing on any market. In that case, broker-dealers may still make markets for such securities and post their quotes on
the OTC Bulletin Board or the Pink Sheets, owned by Pink Sheets LLC, a private company.

        Other Markets.    The Nasdaq Stock Market competes for trading volume in NYSE and Amex-listed securities by offering customers quality trade
executions at a reasonable price and derives revenue from the sale of related data. A significant amount of investor self-directed, on-line trading activity in listed
securities is currently executed on Nasdaq InterMarket. These orders forgo the exposure of the auction trading systems of the exchanges in favor of the execution
services provided by Nasdaq InterMarket participants.

        Nasdaq is engaged in a vigorous effort to increase market share in the Nasdaq InterMarket by encouraging additional market makers and ECNs to participate
through Nasdaq InterMarket. Nasdaq InterMarket has implemented a program designed to lower costs for Nasdaq InterMarket participants executing trades
through Nasdaq facilities. The program allows Nasdaq InterMarket participants to share in the Tape Fees Nasdaq receives as a participant in the Consolidated
Tape Association Plan.

Employees

        As of March 1, 2002, Nasdaq had 1,276 employees. None of its employees is subject to collective bargaining agreements or is represented by a union.
Nasdaq considers its relations with its employees to be good.

Service, Regulatory, and Technology Contractual Relationships with the NASD, NASDR, and Amex

        Although it is contemplated that the NASD will eventually divest completely its ownership interest in Nasdaq, there may still exist certain contractual
relationships between the parties once this happens. For example, prior to the Restructuring, Nasdaq had access to many support functions of the NASD,
including certain financial services, real estate, legal, information services and corporate and administrative services. On June 28, 2000, the NASD and Nasdaq
entered into an interim Separation and Common Services Agreement, which was extended beyond its original expiration date of December 31, 2001 and is now
scheduled to expire April 30, 2002. Nasdaq and the NASD are currently in negotiations for a new Separation and Common Services Agreement, under which the
NASD will continue to supply similar support services. Under the existing Separation and Common Services Agreement, Nasdaq pays to the NASD the costs of
the services provided, including any incidental expenses associated with such services. Nasdaq has contracted with the NASD to provide such services because of
the NASD's expertise and experience in providing such services to Nasdaq, resulting in cost savings and greater efficiency for Nasdaq. Nasdaq's costs for services
provided by the NASD in 2001 were approximately $32.1 million. Nasdaq anticipates that the annual costs for services under the new Separation and Common
Services Agreement, when implemented, will drop in future years as Nasdaq reviews the provision of these services and continues to internalize more of these
services or seeks alternative third party providers. See "—Risk Factors—Nasdaq faces potential conflicts of interest with
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related parties," "—Risk Factors—The intercompany agreements may not be effected on terms as favorable to Nasdaq as could have been obtained from
unaffiliated third parties" and "Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions."

        In addition, on June 28, 2000, Nasdaq and NASD Regulation, Inc. ("NASDR"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the NASD, entered into a Regulatory Services
Agreement pursuant to which NASDR or its subsidiaries will provide regulatory services to Nasdaq and its subsidiaries commencing upon the effectiveness of
Exchange Registration. The term of the Regulatory Services Agreement is 10 years. The services will be of the same type and scope as are currently provided by
NASDR to Nasdaq under the Delegation Plan. Each regulatory service is to be provided for a minimum of five years, after which time the parties may determine
to terminate the provision by NASDR of a particular service. The termination of a particular service will generally be based upon a review of pricing and the need
for such services. In 2001, Nasdaq paid NASDR approximately $83.8 million for regulatory services. Nasdaq expects the cost of these services provided by the
NASDR will be approximately the same in future years (subject to general cost increases associated with inflation) unless an unanticipated event requires
additional spending for regulatory services.

        On February 6, 2002, Nasdaq, the NASD, and Amex entered into a Technology Transition Agreement to provide for the sharing of certain administrative and
regulatory technologies between Nasdaq and Amex and the provision of certain technology services by Nasdaq to Amex. This agreement replaces the existing
technology arrangements among the parties that resulted from the NASD's acquisition of Amex in 1998. Depending upon the applicable service or technology, the
term of the agreement ranges between three months and two years while Amex reconstructs these services and technologies in-house, with an option for Amex to
extend the term for certain services for up to one year. Pursuant to this agreement, Amex will pay Nasdaq the direct costs of the services provided by Nasdaq, plus
certain administrative costs. In addition, this agreement establishes a fund, administered by the NASD, to pay the costs incurred by Nasdaq and Amex in the
implementation of this agreement. Nasdaq and the NASD have each agreed to contribute up to $14.5 million to this fund.

        The parties also entered into a Master Agreement on February 6, 2002 to govern certain non-technology related matters among the parties and their
respective affiliates. This agreement, among other things, sets forth the terms of certain trading rights between Nasdaq and Amex.



        The parties are in the process of scheduling regulatory review of the Technology Transition Agreement and the Master Agreement. See "—Risk Factors—
Nasdaq faces potential conflicts of interest with related parties," "—Risk Factors—The intercompany agreements may not be effected on terms as favorable to
Nasdaq as could have been obtained from unaffiliated third parties" and "Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions."
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Executive Officers

        The executive officers of Nasdaq are as follows:

Name

 

Age

 

Position

Hardwick Simmons  61 Chairman of the Nasdaq Board; Chief Executive
Officer

Richard G. Ketchum  51 President and Deputy Chairman
Alfred R. Berkeley, III  57 Vice Chairman
David Weild IV  45 Vice Chairman and Executive Vice President—

Corporate Client Group
Adena T. Friedman  32 Executive Vice President—Data Products
Steven Dean Furbush  43 Executive Vice President—Transaction Services
William R. Harts  45 Executive Vice President—Corporate Strategy
John L. Hilley  54 Executive Vice President and Chairman and Chief

Executive Officer of Nasdaq International
Edward S. Knight  51 Executive Vice President and General Counsel
Steven J. Randich  39 Executive Vice President Operations & Technology

and Chief Information Officer
Denise B. Stires  39 Executive Vice President—Worldwide Marketing and

Investor Services
John T. Wall  60 President, Nasdaq International
David P. Warren  48 Executive Vice President—Chief Financial Officer

        Hardwick Simmons, a member of the Nasdaq Board, became Chairman of the Nasdaq Board in September 2001 and has been CEO of Nasdaq since
February 2001. Prior to joining Nasdaq, Mr. Simmons served from May 1991 to December 2000 as President and CEO of Prudential Securities Incorporated, the
investment and brokerage firm, and Prudential Securities Group Inc., the firm's holding company. Prior to joining Prudential Securities in 1991, Mr. Simmons was
President of the Private Client Group at Shearson Lehman Brothers, Inc.

        Richard G. Ketchum, a member of the Nasdaq Board, was elected to the Nasdaq Board in September 2001 and has been President of Nasdaq since
July 2000 and Deputy Chairman since December 2000. Mr. Ketchum is responsible for all aspects of Nasdaq's operations, including the development and
formulation of market, regulatory, and legal policies, as well as international initiatives. Prior to his current position, Mr. Ketchum served as President of the
NASD since 1998, COO of the NASD since 1993 and Executive Vice President of the NASD since 1991.

        Alfred R. Berkeley III has been Vice Chairman of Nasdaq since July 2000 and was President of Nasdaq from June 1996 to July 2000. Mr. Berkeley was a
member of the Nasdaq Board from June 1996 to May 2001. Prior to joining Nasdaq, Mr. Berkeley served for five years as Managing Director and Senior Banker
of the Corporate Finance Department of Alex. Brown & Sons Incorporated, a financial services firm.

        David Weild IV became Vice Chairman of Nasdaq in October 2001 and Executive Vice President of the Corporate Client Group of Nasdaq in March 2001.
Prior to his current positions, Mr. Weild held various positions with Prudential Securities Incorporated, the investment and brokerage firm, including President of
Prudential Securities.Com from 2000 to 2001, Managing Director and Head of High Technology Investment Banking from 1997 to 2000, Managing Director of
Investment Banking and Head of Corporate Finance from 1995 to 1997, and Managing Director and Head of the Global Equity Transactions Group from 1990 to
1995.
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        Adena T. Friedman became Executive Vice President of Nasdaq Data Products in January 2002 and oversees Nasdaq's market information services. Prior
to her current position, Ms. Friedman was Senior Vice President of Nasdaq Data Products from January 2001 to January 2002, Vice President of OTC Bulletin
Board, Mutual Fund Quotation Service and NasdaqTrader.com from January 2000 to January 2001, Director of OTC Bulletin Board and Mutual Fund Quotation
Service from August 1997 to January 2000, and Marketing Manager overseeing Nasdaq's marketing efforts to broker-dealers from April 1995 to August 1997.
Ms. Friedman joined Nasdaq in 1993.

        Steven Dean Furbush became an Executive Vice President of Nasdaq Transaction Services in January 2001. Prior to his current position, Mr. Furbush was
Senior Vice President of Nasdaq Transaction Services from October 2000 to January 2001, Managing Director of Nasdaq InterMarket from October 1999 to
October 2000, and Chief Economist from June 1995 to October 1999.

        William R. Harts became Executive Vice President of Nasdaq Corporate Strategy in January 2002. Prior to joining Nasdaq, Mr. Harts was a Managing
Director at Salomon Smith Barney, a global investment banking firm, from October 1991 to November 2001. As a Managing Director, Mr. Harts served at
various times as Head of Strategic Business Development for the Global Equity Division and Head of the Portfolio Trading Department. Mr. Harts served as a
Director and Vice Chairman of the Philadelphia Stock Exchange from March 1994 to June 1999.

        John L. Hilley became an Executive Vice President of Nasdaq and Chairman and CEO of Nasdaq International in July 1999. Mr. Hilley joined the NASD as
Executive Vice President for Strategic Development in February 1998. Prior to joining the NASD, Mr. Hilley served in the White House as senior advisor to
President Clinton since February 1996. Mr. Hilley has also held a number of senior staff positions in the U.S. Senate.



        Edward S. Knight became an Executive Vice President and General Counsel in October 2000. Prior to his current position, Mr. Knight served as Executive
Vice President and Chief Legal Officer of the NASD since July 1999. Prior to joining the NASD, Mr. Knight served as General Counsel of the U.S. Department
of the Treasury from September 1994 to June 1999.

        Steven J. Randich became Executive Vice President of Operations & Technology and Chief Information Officer of Nasdaq in October 2001. Prior to his
current position, Mr. Randich served as Executive Vice President and Chief Technology Officer of Nasdaq since October 2000. Prior to joining Nasdaq,
Mr. Randich was Executive Vice President and Chief Information Officer of the Chicago Stock Exchange from November 1996 to October 2000.

        Denise B. Stires became Executive Vice President of Worldwide Marketing and Investor Services in March 2001. Ms. Stires was Chief Marketing Officer of
BuyandHold Inc., an on-line financial services company providing dollar-based brokerage services to individuals and corporations, from 2000 to 2001. Prior to
that, Ms. Stires was Senior Vice President, Marketing Director of DLJdirect, the on-line discount brokerage service of CSFB from 1997 to 2000.

        John T. Wall became an Executive Vice President of Nasdaq in February 1994 and President of Nasdaq International in October 1997. Mr. Wall is
responsible for the strategic development and international marketing of Nasdaq's products and services. Mr. Wall is also responsible for non-U.S. company
listings, as well as promoting and directing the overall globalization of the marketplace. Mr. Wall established Nasdaq's operations in London and negotiates the
sale of Nasdaq's computerized systems to other world markets. Mr. Wall joined the NASD in 1965 and during his tenure has been head of Regulation,
Membership, and Qualifications Testing. Mr. Wall previously has served on a number of industry committees and boards, including EASDAQ, the National
Securities Clearing Corporation, the Options Clearing Corporation and the Hong Kong International Committee for Listing New Enterprises.
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        David P. Warren became Executive Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer of Nasdaq in January 2001 and Chief Financial Officer ("CFO") in
September 2001. Mr. Warren oversees finance, human resources, and all administrative services including real estate, property management and purchasing. Prior
to his current position, Mr. Warren was CFO of the Long Island Power Authority from January 1998 to December 2000, Deputy Treasurer of the State of
Connecticut from March 1995 to January 1998, and a Vice President at CSFB from 1987 to 1995.

Risk Factors

        This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Nasdaq's actual results could differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including the risks faced by Nasdaq described below and elsewhere in this Form 10-
K.

        The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones facing Nasdaq. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to Nasdaq or that
Nasdaq currently believes to be immaterial may also adversely affect Nasdaq's business. If any of the following risks actually occur, Nasdaq's business, financial
condition, or operating results could be materially adversely affected.

Nasdaq's operating results could fluctuate significantly in the future.

        Nasdaq's operating results may fluctuate significantly in the future as a result of a variety of factors, including: (i) a decrease in the trading volume in The
Nasdaq Stock Market; (ii) increased competition from regional exchanges, ECNs, or other alternative trading systems that might reduce market share and create
pricing pressure; (iii) competition from the NYSE or new competing exchanges for new listings; (iv) a reduction in market information revenue; (v) the rate at
which The Nasdaq Stock Market obtains new listings and maintains its current listings; (vi) regulatory changes and compliance costs; (vii) Nasdaq's ability to
utilize its capital effectively; (viii) Nasdaq's ability to manage personnel, overhead, and other expenses, in particular technology expenses; and (ix) general market
and economic conditions.

Nasdaq's business could be harmed by market fluctuations and other risks associated with the securities industry generally.

        A substantial portion of Nasdaq's revenue is tied to the trading volume of its listed securities. Trading volume is directly affected by economic and political
conditions, broad trends in business and finance, and changes in volume and price levels of securities transactions. An adverse change affecting the economy or
the securities markets could result in a decline in trading volume. Nasdaq is also particularly affected by declines in trading volume in technology and Internet-
related securities because a significant portion of its customers trade in these types of securities and a large number of technology and Internet-related companies
are listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. A decline in trading volume would lower transaction services revenue, and Nasdaq's profitability may be adversely
affected if it is unable to reduce costs at the same rate. A downturn in the initial public offering market is also likely to have an adverse effect on Nasdaq's
revenue, including, in particular, revenue from listing fees. For example, in the year ended December 31, 2001, 63 IPOs were brought to market on The Nasdaq
Stock Market compared to 397 in the year ended December 31, 2000. There also were 770 companies delisted during 2001 compared to 650 during 2000. Further
downward trends in general market conditions could adversely affect Nasdaq's revenue and reduce its profitability if Nasdaq cannot reduce its costs at the same
rate to offset such trends.

Substantial listing competition could reduce Nasdaq's revenue.

        The Nasdaq Stock Market faces competition for listings from other primary exchanges, especially from the NYSE. In addition to competition for initial
listings, The Nasdaq Stock Market also competes
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with the NYSE to maintain listings. In the past, a number of issuers listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market have left for the NYSE each year. The largest 50 Nasdaq-
listed issuers (based on U.S. market value) accounted for approximately 47% of total dollar volume traded on The Nasdaq Stock Market for the year ended
December 31, 2001. While the loss of one or more of these issuers would result in a decrease in revenue from Nasdaq's Corporate Client Group services, such a
loss would cause an even more significant reduction in revenue from Nasdaq's transaction services and market information services. The reduction in initial
listings or the loss of a top issuer could have an adverse effect on Nasdaq's business, financial condition, or operating results.



Competition by regional exchanges for trade reporting business may reduce Nasdaq's trade reporting and market information revenue.

        Nasdaq is currently facing increased competition from regional exchanges for trade reporting business, which affects both transaction services and market
information services revenue. In February 2002, Island began reporting a portion of its trades to the Cincinnati Stock Exchange, which reportedly gained Island's
business by committing to reduce trade reporting fees and share Tape Fees with Island. In response, Nasdaq reduced certain trade reporting fees and began
sharing Tape Fees, although not at the same level as Cincinnati. This action may not be sufficient to regain lost business or prevent other market participants from
shifting some of their trade reporting to regional exchanges. Nasdaq may be required to take further action with respect to its sharing of Tape Fees and pricing
structure to remain competitive. Further erosion of Nasdaq's trade reporting business may adversely affect its business, financial condition, and operating results.

Nasdaq's revenue would be adversely affected by ECNs that register as exchanges.

        In October 2001, the SEC approved Pacific/Archipelago's proposal to establish the Archipelago Exchange as an equities trading facility of the Pacific Stock
Exchange. Archipelago and RediBook, two of the largest users of ACT for trade reporting, have merged and it is likely that they will shift certain trade reporting
to the Pacific Stock Exchange later this year. In addition, Island has applied to register as an exchange. Exchanges that are UTP Plan participants are entitled to a
share of Tape Fees. A proliferation in the number of exchanges and UTP Plan participants could have an adverse impact on Nasdaq's transaction services and
market information services revenue if trade reporting is fragmented across exchanges and marketplaces.

        In addition, new exchanges could adversely affect Nasdaq's revenue from listings. ECNs, unlike exchanges, historically have not provided listing venues.
Pacific/Archipelago has announced that the Archipelago Exchange intends to begin competing for listings. In addition, if more ECNs become exchanges and are
successful in attracting listings, there can be no assurances that Nasdaq will be able to maintain or increase its listing revenue. The reduction in initial listings or
the loss of a top issuer could have an adverse effect on Nasdaq's business, financial condition, and operating results. See "—Substantial listing competition could
reduce Nasdaq's revenue."

Substantial competition could reduce The Nasdaq Stock Market's market share and harm Nasdaq's financial performance.

        It is possible that a competing securities exchange, network provider, or technology company could develop ways to replicate Nasdaq's network more
efficiently than Nasdaq and persuade a critical mass of market participants to switch to a new network.

        If there is an increase in the number of market makers or ECNs that determine they do enough order routing traffic to justify setting up a proprietary network
for their traffic, Nasdaq may be forced to alter its pricing structure or risk losing its share of the order routing or execution business. In addition, certain system
providers link many market makers in The Nasdaq Stock Market. These
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systems may be able to increase the number of orders executed through their systems versus the Nasdaq systems. A reduction in Nasdaq's order routing or
execution business could have an adverse effect on Nasdaq's business, financial condition, and operating results.

        The traditional products and services offered by markets are being unbundled. Historically, Nasdaq has provided listings, execution services, information
services, and regulatory services to the investing public. Currently, there are many competitors operating in the execution services market. Nasdaq has not
historically implemented pricing strategies that isolate its various businesses. Due to competition in the execution services business, as well as Nasdaq's past
practice of bundling products and services, it is uncertain whether Nasdaq will be able to compete successfully in this business. Furthermore, Nasdaq faces
multiple pricing constraints, including in particular, regulatory constraints that may prevent it from competing effectively in certain markets.

Nasdaq may face competition from the NASD's Alternative Display Facility.

        In the SEC's January 2001 order approving SuperMontage, the SEC noted that in order to address concerns that Nasdaq's position as an exclusive SIP would
compel participation in SuperMontage, it would require the NASD to provide NASD members with the ability to opt-out of SuperMontage by providing the
Alternative Display Facility as an alternative quotation and trade reporting facility for NASD members. Nasdaq's implementation of SuperMontage is dependent
on the Alternative Display Facility being available for Nasdaq-listed securities. In addition, the SEC has also stated that the approval of Exchange Registration is
linked to the NASD's ability to provide the Alternative Display Facility for NASD members to report trades and disseminate quotations in all exchange-listed
securities. If the Alternative Display Facility becomes a viable alternative to The Nasdaq Stock Market, then Nasdaq faces the risk of reduced market share in
transactions and market information services revenue, which could adversely affect Nasdaq's business, financial condition, and operating results.

Nasdaq's share of net revenue from Tape Fees may decrease once Nasdaq loses its status as the exclusive SIP under the UTP Plan.

        Under the revenue sharing provision of the UTP Plan, Nasdaq is permitted to deduct certain costs associated with acting as the exclusive SIP from the total
amount collected from vendors, and the remaining Tape Fee revenue is distributed to UTP Plan participants. The SEC has stated that as a condition of extending
the UTP Plan, the parties to the UTP Plan must negotiate in good faith to revise the UTP Plan so that it provides for either a fully viable alternative exclusive SIP
for all Nasdaq-listed securities or a fully viable alternative non-exclusive SIP. This process may increase SIP costs, reducing the amount of Tape Fee revenue that
Nasdaq and other participants earn.

Certain Congressional and SEC reviews could result in a reduction in data fees that could reduce Nasdaq's revenue.

        The SEC is reviewing concerns by industry members that the present levels of data fees do not properly reflect the costs associated with their collection,
processing, and distribution. The SEC currently is reviewing a report on the issues from its Advisory Committee on Market Information that was issued in
September 2001 and comments on the report. Nasdaq has argued that there is significant value in the quality of data it provides to the investing community.
Nasdaq also has argued that there are regulatory, market capacity, and other related costs of operating the market. A fee realignment that does not recognize the
full value of the data and/or the market costs of creating and delivering high quality market data could reduce overall data revenue in the future and adversely
affect Nasdaq's business, financial condition, and operating results.

        Congress conducted hearings in 2000 and 2001 and introduced legislation in 2000 pertaining to whether stock exchanges and markets have a property right
to quote and trade data. Since securities
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firms are required to supply the market operator with quote and trade information, some have argued that the operator has no right to be able to validate the data,
consolidate the data with other market participant data, and sell the data back to the securities firms. This issue may continue to be debated and the outcome could
have a significant impact on the viability of Nasdaq's data revenue and, as a consequence, on its business, financial condition, and operating results.

Nasdaq is subject to extensive regulation that may harm its ability to compete with less regulated entities.

        Under current federal securities laws, changes in Nasdaq's rules and operations, including its pricing structure, must be approved by the SEC. The SEC may
approve, disapprove, or recommend changes to proposals submitted by Nasdaq. In addition, the SEC may delay the initiation of the public comment process or
the approval process. This delay in approving changes, or the altering of any proposed change, could have an adverse effect on Nasdaq's business, financial
condition, and operating results.

System limitations or failures or security breaches could harm Nasdaq's business.

        Nasdaq's business depends on the integrity and performance of the computer and communications systems supporting it. If Nasdaq's systems cannot be
expanded to cope with increased demand or otherwise fail to perform, Nasdaq could experience unanticipated disruptions in service, slower response times, and
delays in the introduction of new products and services. These consequences could result in lower trading volumes, financial losses, decreased customer service
and satisfaction, litigation or customer claims, and regulatory sanctions. Nasdaq has experienced occasional systems failures and delays in the past and it could
experience future systems failures and delays.

        Nasdaq uses internally developed systems to operate its business, including transaction processing systems to accommodate increased capacity. However, if
The Nasdaq Stock Market's trading volume increases unexpectedly, Nasdaq will need to expand and upgrade its technology, transaction processing systems, and
network infrastructure. Nasdaq does not know whether it will be able to project accurately the rate, timing, or cost of any increases, or expand and upgrade its
systems and infrastructure to accommodate any increases in a timely manner.

        Nasdaq's systems and operations also are vulnerable to damage or interruption from human error, natural disasters, power loss, sabotage or terrorism,
computer viruses, intentional acts of vandalism, and similar events. Nasdaq has active and aggressive programs in place to identify and minimize its exposure to
these vulnerabilities, and works in collaboration with the technology industry to share corrective measures with Nasdaq's business partners. Nasdaq currently
maintains multiple computer facilities that are designed to provide redundancy and back-up to reduce the risk of system disruptions, and has facilities in place that
are expected to maintain service during a system disruption. Any system failure that causes an interruption in service or decreases the responsiveness of Nasdaq's
service could impair its reputation, damage its brand name, and negatively impact its revenue. Nasdaq also relies on a number of third parties for systems support.
Any interruption in these third-party services or deterioration in the performance of these services could also be disruptive to Nasdaq's business and have a
material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, and operating results.

Nasdaq may not be able to keep up with rapid technological and other competitive changes affecting the structure of the securities markets.

        The markets in which Nasdaq competes are characterized by rapidly changing technology, evolving industry standards, frequent enhancements to existing
services and products, the introduction of new services and products, and changing customer demands. These market characteristics are heightened by the
emerging nature of the Internet and the trend for companies from many industries to offer Internet-based products and services. In addition, the widespread
adoption of new Internet, networking,
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or telecommunications technologies or other technological changes could require Nasdaq to incur substantial expenditures to modify or adapt its services or
infrastructure. Nasdaq's future success will depend on its ability to respond to changing technologies on a timely and cost-effective basis. Nasdaq's operating
results may be adversely affected if it cannot successfully develop, introduce, or market new services and products. In addition, any failure by Nasdaq to
anticipate or respond adequately to changes in technology and customer preferences, or any significant delays in other product development efforts, could have a
material adverse effect on Nasdaq's business, financial condition, and operating results.

Nasdaq may have difficulty managing its growth.

        Over the last several years, Nasdaq has experienced significant growth in its business and the number of its employees. Nasdaq may not be able to continue
to manage its growth successfully. In an attempt to stimulate future growth, Nasdaq has undertaken several initiatives to increase its business, including enhancing
existing products, developing new products, and forming strategic relationships. The increased costs associated with Nasdaq's initiatives may not be offset by
corresponding increases in its revenue. The growth of Nasdaq's business has required, and will continue to require, Nasdaq to increase its investment in
technology, management personnel, market regulatory services, and facilities. No assurance can be made that Nasdaq has made adequate allowances for the costs
and risks associated with this expansion, that its systems, procedures, or controls will be adequate to support its operations, or that its management will be able to
offer and expand its services successfully. If Nasdaq is unable to manage its growth effectively, its business, financial condition, and operating results could be
adversely affected.

Nasdaq may need additional funds to support its business plan.

        Nasdaq depends on the availability of adequate capital to maintain and develop its business. Nasdaq believes that its current capital requirements will be met
from internally generated funds and from the funds raised in connection with the Restructuring. However, based upon a variety of factors, including the rate of
market acceptance of Nasdaq's new products, the cost of service and technology upgrades, and regulatory costs, Nasdaq's capital requirements may vary from
those currently planned. There can be no assurance that additional capital will be available on a timely basis, or on favorable terms or at all.

Nasdaq may not be successful in executing its international strategy.



        In order to take advantage of anticipated opportunities that will arise outside the United States, Nasdaq intends to invest significant resources in developing
strategic partnerships with non-U.S. stock markets. Nasdaq has had only very limited experience in developing localized versions of its services and in marketing
and operating its services internationally. To date, Nasdaq's international efforts have not yet achieved profitability. There can be no assurance that Nasdaq will be
able to succeed in marketing its branded services and developing localized services in international markets. Nasdaq may experience difficulty in managing its
international operations because of, among other things, competitive conditions overseas, difficulties in supervising foreign operations, managing currency risk,
established domestic markets, language and cultural differences, political and economic instability, sustained weakness in European equities markets, and changes
in regulatory requirements or the failure to obtain requested regulatory changes and approvals. Any of the above could have an adverse effect on the success of
Nasdaq's international operations and, consequently, on Nasdaq's business, financial condition, and operating results. See "Item 1. Business—Nasdaq's Strategic
Initiatives—Pursuing Global Market Expansion."
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Failure to protect its intellectual property rights could harm Nasdaq's brand-building efforts and ability to compete effectively.

        To protect its rights to its intellectual property, Nasdaq relies on a combination of trademark laws, copyright laws, patent laws, trade secret protection,
confidentiality agreements, and other contractual arrangements with its affiliates, clients, strategic partners, and others. The protective steps Nasdaq has taken
may be inadequate to deter misappropriation of its proprietary information. Nasdaq may be unable to detect the unauthorized use of, or take appropriate steps to
enforce, its intellectual property rights. Nasdaq has registered, or applied to register, its trademarks in the U.S. and in 40 foreign jurisdictions and has pending
U.S. and foreign applications for other trademarks. Effective trademark, copyright, patent, and trade secret protection may not be available in every country in
which Nasdaq offers or intends to offer its services. Failure to protect its intellectual property adequately could harm its brand and affect its ability to compete
effectively. Further, defending its intellectual property rights could result in the expenditure of significant financial and managerial resources, which could
adversely affect Nasdaq's business, financial condition, and operating results.

Lack of operating history as a for-profit entity with private ownership interests.

        While Nasdaq has an established operating history, it has only operated as a for-profit company with private ownership interests since June 28, 2000.
Therefore, Nasdaq is subject to the risks and uncertainties associated with any newly independent company. Nasdaq has had access to many support functions of
the NASD, including: cash management and other financial services, real estate, legal, surveillance, and other regulatory services, information services, and
corporate and administrative services. Nasdaq has entered into, and intends to enter into, various intercompany arrangements with the NASD and its affiliates for
the provision of these services on an on-going or transitional basis. See "—Nasdaq faces potential conflicts of interest with related parties" and "—The
intercompany agreements may not be effected on terms as favorable to Nasdaq as could have been obtained from unaffiliated third parties," "Item 1. Business—
Service and Regulatory Contractual Relationships with the NASD and NASDR" and "Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions." In addition,
Nasdaq's initiatives designed to increase operating efficiencies may not yield the expected benefits or efficiencies and may be subject to delays, unexpected costs,
and cost overruns, all of which could have an adverse effect on Nasdaq's business, financial condition, and operating results.

Failure to attract and retain key personnel may adversely affect Nasdaq's ability to conduct its business.

        Nasdaq's future success depends on the continued service and performance of its senior management and certain other key personnel. For example, Nasdaq
is dependent on specialized systems personnel to operate, maintain, and upgrade its systems. The inability of Nasdaq to retain key personnel or retain other
qualified personnel could adversely affect Nasdaq's business, financial condition, and operating results.

Nasdaq is subject to risks relating to litigation and potential securities laws liability.

        Many aspects of Nasdaq's business potentially involve substantial risks of liability. While Nasdaq enjoys immunity for self-regulatory organization activities,
it could be exposed to liability under federal and state securities laws, other federal and state laws and court decisions, as well as rules and regulations
promulgated by the SEC and other federal and state agencies. These risks include, among others, potential liability from disputes over the terms of a trade, or
claims that a system failure or delay cost a customer money, that Nasdaq entered into an unauthorized transaction or that it provided materially false or misleading
statements in connection with a securities transaction. As Nasdaq intends to defend any such litigation actively, significant legal expenses could be incurred. An
adverse resolution of any future lawsuit or claim against Nasdaq could have an adverse effect on its business, financial condition, and operating results.
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Nasdaq faces potential conflicts of interest with related parties.

        Until Exchange Registration, the NASD will retain voting control over Nasdaq. See "Item 1. Business—Nasdaq's History and Structure" and "Item 5. Market
for Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters—Unregistered Offerings." In addition, five of the 18 members of the Nasdaq Board are
currently members of the NASD Board. Until Exchange Registration, the NASD will be in a position to continue to control substantially all matters affecting
Nasdaq, including any determination with respect to the direction and policies of Nasdaq, acquisition or disposition of assets, future issuances of securities of
Nasdaq, Nasdaq's incurrence of debt, and any dividend payable on the Common Stock.

        Conflicts of interest may arise between Nasdaq and the NASD, or its affiliates, in a number of areas relating to their past and ongoing relationships,
including the nature, quality, and pricing of services rendered; shared marketing functions; tax and employee benefit matters; indemnity agreements; sales or
distributions by the NASD of all or any portion of its ownership interest in Nasdaq; or the NASD's ability to influence certain affairs of Nasdaq prior to Exchange
Registration. There can be no assurance that the NASD and Nasdaq will be able to resolve any potential conflict or that, if resolved, Nasdaq would not receive
more favorable resolution if it were dealing with an unaffiliated party.

        Conflicts may also arise between Nasdaq and Amex by virtue of commitments made by the NASD in connection with the NASD's acquisition of Amex.

The intercompany agreements may not be effected on terms as favorable to Nasdaq as could have been obtained from unaffiliated third parties.



        For purposes of governing their ongoing relationship, Nasdaq and the NASD, or their affiliates, have entered into, or intend to enter into, various agreements
involving the provision of services such as market surveillance and other regulatory functions, certain financial services, legal services, facilities sharing,
information services, corporate services, and other administrative services. Nasdaq has negotiated a contract with the NASDR pursuant to which NASDR will
regulate Nasdaq trading activity commencing upon the effectiveness of Exchange Registration. The NASDR will continue regulating trading activity on Nasdaq
under a new long-term contract that establishes the various functions NASDR will perform and the price that Nasdaq will pay for these functions. The functions
covered under this contract are substantially of the same type and scope as those NASDR performs under the Delegation Plan.

        The terms of the other intercompany agreements have not yet been fully negotiated. Although it is the intention of the parties to negotiate agreements that
provide for arm's length, fair market value pricing, there can be no assurance that these contemplated agreements, or the transactions provided in them, will be
effected on terms as favorable to Nasdaq as could have been obtained from unaffiliated third parties. The cost to Nasdaq for such services could increase at a
faster rate than its revenue and could adversely affect Nasdaq's business, financial condition, and operating results. See "Item 13. Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions."

The SEC may challenge or not approve Nasdaq's plan to become a national securities exchange or it may require changes in the manner Nasdaq conducts its
business before granting this approval.

        The SEC may not approve Nasdaq's application for Exchange Registration or may require changes in the manner Nasdaq conducts its business before
granting this approval. Failure to be so registered could adversely effect Nasdaq's competitive position and could have a material adverse effect on Nasdaq's
business conditions and business prospects.
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        In connection with Exchange Registration, certain changes must be made to the national market system plans. Certain participants in the plans may object to,
or request modifications to, amendments proposed by Nasdaq. Failure to resolve these issues in a timely manner could delay Exchange Registration. In addition,
the SEC has also stated that its approval of Exchange Registration is linked to the NASD's ability to provide the Alternative Display Facility to NASD members
to assist in the quotation and trade reporting of exchange-listed securities. Any significant delay or failure on the part of the NASD to build the Alternative
Display Facility also could delay the SEC's approval of Exchange Registration.

        There can be no assurance that Exchange Registration will occur or that the registration process will occur in a timely manner. Because of the nature of the
regulatory process and the variety of market structure issues that would have to be resolved across all markets, the registration process could be lengthy. In the
long-term, the failure to be approved as an exchange by the SEC may have negative implications on the ability of Nasdaq to fund its planned initiatives.

        In addition, the SEC has not yet agreed and may not agree to Nasdaq's proposal to continue to operate the OTC Bulletin Board after Exchange Registration.

Item 2.    Properties. 

        The following is a description of Nasdaq's material properties as of December 31, 2001.

Location

 

Use

 

Size (approximate, in
square feet)

 

Type of Possession

New York, New York  Location of MarketSite  26,000  Leased by Nasdaq
New York, New York  Nasdaq headquarters  78,000  Subleased from the NASD
New York, New York  General office space  24,000  Leased by Nasdaq
Rockville, Maryland  Location of Nasdaq data center  110,000  Owned by Nasdaq
Rockville, Maryland  General office space  82,634  Leased by Nasdaq
Trumbull, Connecticut  Location for Nasdaq's technology

services, systems engineering and
market operations

 162,000  Owned by Nasdaq

Trumbull, Connecticut  General office space  101,000 (two locations)  Leased by Nasdaq
Washington, D.C.  General office space  48,000 (two locations)  Occupied pursuant to a shared

facilities agreement with the
NASD

        In addition to the above, Nasdaq leases administrative and sales facilities in Chicago, Illinois; Menlo Park, California; London, England; Sao Paulo, Brazil;
Montreal, Canada; and Shanghai, China. Nasdaq Europe leases administrative facilities in Brussels, Belgium; London, England; and Paris, France.

        Nasdaq was forced to vacate its headquarters from One Liberty Plaza as a result of the terrorist attacks on September 11, 2001. Nasdaq subsequently
determined that it would permanently relocate from One Liberty Plaza to a location closer to its Time Squares MarketSitesm building. Employees returned to One
Liberty on a temporary basis in early 2002, but are expected to relocate by early 2003. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations—Business Environment—September 11, 2001 Terrorist Attacks."
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Item 3.    Legal Proceedings. 

        Nasdaq is not currently a party to any litigation that it believes could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, or operating results.
However, from time to time, Nasdaq has been threatened with, or named as a defendant, in lawsuits.



Item 4.    Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders. 

        No matters were submitted to a vote of Nasdaq's stockholders during the fourth quarter of 2001.

Part II 

Item 5.    Market for Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters. 

        Market Information.    No established public trading market exists for the Common Stock.

        Holders.    As of March 18, 2002, Nasdaq had approximately 2,519 holders of record of its Common Stock.

        Dividends.    Nasdaq does not pay, and does not anticipate paying in the foreseeable future, any cash dividends on its common equity.

        Unregistered Offerings.    On January 18, 2001, Nasdaq completed Phase II of its private placement in connection with the Restructuring by selling an
aggregate of 5,028,797 shares of Common Stock for aggregate consideration of $65,374,361 to investors consisting of NASD members, issuers with securities
listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market, institutional investment firms and providers of technology services to Nasdaq. In Phase II, the number of shares of Common
Stock offered to each category of investor was based upon a variety of factors, including the offeree's contributions to Nasdaq's growth. The shares of Common
Stock sold by Nasdaq in Phase II were issued to "accredited investors" in private transactions exempt under Regulation D of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the "Securities Act").

        On May 3, 2001, Nasdaq sold $240.0 million in aggregate principal amount of its convertible Subordinated Notes (the "Subordinated Notes") to Hellman &
Friedman Capital Partners IV, L.P and certain of its affiliated limited partnerships (collectively, "Hellman & Friedman"). The Subordinated Notes are convertible
at any time into an aggregate of 12.0 million shares of Common Stock, reflecting a conversion price of $20.00 per share, subject to adjustment. Nasdaq has
granted Hellman & Friedman certain registration rights with respect to the shares of Common Stock underlying the Subordinated Notes. The Subordinated Notes
were sold in a private transaction pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act, which exempts sales of securities that do not involve a public offering. No
underwriter was used in this transaction.

        For the offering period ended June 29, 2001, Nasdaq sold 209,120.675 shares of Common Stock pursuant to its Employee Stock Purchase Plan for an
aggregate offering price of $2,221,907. During the offering period ended December 31, 2001, 117,459.195 shares of Common Stock were sold pursuant to the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan for an aggregate sale price of $1,248,004. The foregoing sales of shares of Common Stock were made pursuant to Rule 701 under
the Securities Act, which exempts issuances of securities under certain written compensatory employee benefit plans.

        On November 12, 2001, Nasdaq sold an aggregate amount of 535,000 shares of Common Stock to five members of the Nasdaq Board of Directors and
500,000 shares of Common Stock to Hellman & Friedman for an aggregate offering price of $10,608,750. All of the foregoing shares were sold in a private
transaction at the current fair market value pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act. No underwriter was used in these transactions.
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        On December 21, 2001, Nasdaq issued a warrant to SOFTBANK that allows the warrant holder to buy an aggregate of 479,648 shares of Common Stock,
exercisable in four equal annual tranches beginning on June 28, 2002. The exercise price of the warrant is $13 per share of Common Stock for the first tranche,
and increases by $1 per share in each subsequent tranche up to a maximum of $16 per share for the final tranche. The warrant was issued to SOFTBANK as part
of a transaction in which Nasdaq repurchased SOFTBANK's 22.2% interest in Nasdaq Europe Planning Company, Inc., a subsidiary of Nasdaq, for consideration
totaling 7,211 Class A shares of Nasdaq Europe owned by Nasdaq, the warrant for shares of Nasdaq Common Stock and Japanese Yen 937,500,000 in cash
(approximately $7,360,000 based on the Yen-Dollar exchange rate on December 21, 2001). As part of the transaction, SOFTBANK agreed that the entire cash
consideration be paid to Nasdaq Japan, thereby increasing SOFTBANK's investment in Nasdaq Japan. The warrant was issued in a private transaction exempt
under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act. No underwriter was used in this transaction.
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Item 6.    Selected Consolidated Financial Data. 

        The following sets forth selected consolidated financial information on a historical basis for Nasdaq. The following information should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto of Nasdaq included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Selected Consolidated Financial Data 

($ in thousands, except per share amounts)

  

Year Ended December 31,

 
Statements of Income Data:

 

2001

 

2000

 

1999

 

1998

 

1997

 
Revenues:                 
 Transaction services  $ 408,770 $ 395,123 $ 283,652 $ 160,506 $ 174,741 
 Market information services   240,524  258,251  186,543  152,665  126,436 
 Corporate Client Group services   156,124  149,297  163,425  137,344  113,019 



 Other   51,814  30,040  628  308  2,530 

       

  Total revenues   857,232  832,711  634,248  450,823  416,726 
Expenses:                 
 Compensation and benefits   183,369  137,284  98,129  78,565  64,324 
 Marketing and advertising   28,017  45,908  62,790  42,483  53,817 
 Depreciation and amortization   93,400  65,645  43,696  34,984  31,336 
 Professional and contract services   76,049  61,483  35,282  35,127  22,259 
 Computer operations and data communications   174,939  138,228  100,493  72,111  61,438 
 Travel, meetings, and training   14,593  12,113  10,230  7,750  7,310 
 Occupancy   27,183  14,766  6,591  5,354  4,883 
 Provision for bad debts   15,459  5,554  2,978  3,757  5,078 
 Publications, supplies, and postage   11,998  7,181  4,670  5,208  5,223 
 Disaster related   23,208  —  —  —  — 
 Technology transition cost   9,200  —  —  —  — 
 Other   37,883  20,007  19,688  10,985  8,685 
       

  Total direct expenses   695,298  508,169  384,547  296,324  264,353 
 Support cost from related parties, net   101,799  128,522  115,189  100,841  85,880 
       

  Total expenses   797,097  636,691  499,736  397,165  350,233 
Net operating income   60,135  196,020  134,512  53,658  66,493 
Interest income   22,603  20,111  12,201  9,269  7,522 
Interest expense   (9,647)  (2,130)  (2,143)  (1,962)  (797)
Minority interests   5,704  872  —  —  — 
Provision for income taxes   (38,332)  (90,477)  (58,421)  (26,010)  (33,187)
       

Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle   40,463  124,396  86,149  34,955  40,031 
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle   —  (101,090)  —  —  — 
       

Net income  $ 40,463 $ 23,306 $ 86,149 $ 34,955 $ 40,031 
       

Weighted average common shares outstanding(1)   116,458,902  112,090,493  100,000,000  100,000,000  100,000,000 
Basic earnings per share:                 
 Before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle  $ 0.35 $ 1.11 $ 0.86 $ 0.35 $ 0.40 
       

 Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle   —  (0.90)  —  —  — 
       

 Net income  $ 0.35 $ 0.21 $ 0.86 $ 0.35 $ 0.40 
       

Diluted earnings per share:                 
 Before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle  $ 0.35 $ 1.11 $ 0.86 $ 0.35 $ 0.40 
 Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle   —  (0.90)  —  —  — 
       

 Net income  $ 0.35 $ 0.21 $ 0.86 $ 0.35 $ 0.40 
       

Pro forma amounts assuming the change in accounting principle is
applied retroactively:                 
  Total revenues     $ 832,711 $ 607,203 $ 444,764 $ 401,774 
  Net income      124,396  69,944  31,332  31,090 
  Basic and diluted earnings per share     $ 1.11 $ 0.70 $ 0.31 $ 0.31 
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Other Data:                 
EBITDA(2)  $ 153,535 $ 261,665 $ 178,208 $ 88,642 $ 97,829 
Capital expenditures   73,277  119,040  94,193  33,605  79,887 
Net cash provided by operating activities   65,030  255,554  135,125  56,723  76,755 
Net cash used in investing activities   (109,196)  (292,243)  (131,157)  (58,150)  (123,064)
Net cash provided by financing activities   75,640  288,348  3,876  156  29,766 
Number of listed companies (at year end)   4,109  4,734  4,829  5,068  5,487 
Shares traded (in thousands)   471,200,000  442,800,000  272,600,000  202,000,000  163,900,000 

  

As of December 31,

  

2001

 

2000

 

1999

 

1998

 

1997

Balance Sheet Data:(3)(4)                
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 293,731 $ 262,257 $ 10,598 $ 2,754 $ 4,025
Working capital(5)   521,620  440,260  154,372  120,831  84,668
Total assets   1,326,251  1,164,399  578,254  403,745  353,134
Total long term obligations   508,934  221,464  78,965  41,248  41,362
Total stockholders' equity   518,388  645,159  352,012  266,255  229,166

(1) Gives effect to the June 28, 2000, 49,999-for-one stock dividend of the shares of Common Stock for years ended 1997-2000. 

(2) EBITDA represents income before cumulative change in accounting principle, net interest, income taxes, minority interest and depreciation and amortization expense. EBITDA is not a measure of
performance under generally accepted accounting principles and should not be considered as an alternative to net income as a measure of operating results or cash flows as a measure of liquidity.
Nasdaq believes that investors find EBITDA a good measure of Nasdaq's cash flow and ability to incur and service indebtedness. EBITDA as defined may not be comparable to similarly titled
measures reported by other companies. 



(3) Balance sheet data for 1997-1999 has not been restated for the Change in Accounting Principle, which was adopted as of January 1, 2000. 

(4) Certain amounts in the prior years have been reclassified to conform with the 2001 presentation. 

(5) Working capital is calculated as current assets (reduced for held-to-maturity investments classified as current assets) less current liabilities.
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Item 7.    Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. 

        The following discussion of the financial condition and results of operations of Nasdaq should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and
uncertainties. Nasdaq's actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors,
including, but not limited to, those set forth under "Item 1. Business—Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Overview

        Nasdaq operates The Nasdaq Stock Market, the world's largest, electronic, screen-based equity securities market and the largest equity securities market in
the world based on share volume. Nasdaq operates in one segment as defined in the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131 "Disclosures About
Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information" ("SFAS 131"). Nasdaq's principal business products are price discovery and trading services, the sale of
related data and information, and listing of issues. The majority of this business is transacted with listed companies, market data vendors, and firms in the broker-
dealer industry within the United States.

        Nasdaq provides products and services in the following three principal categories:

• Transaction services include collecting, processing, and disseminating price quotes of Nasdaq-listed securities, the routing and execution of buy
and sell orders for Nasdaq-listed securities, and post-trade reporting services; 

• Market information services provide varying levels of quote and trade information to data vendors, who in turn sell the information to the public;
and 

• Corporate Client Group services provide information services and products to Nasdaq-listed companies and are responsible for obtaining new
listings on The Nasdaq Stock Market.

        As of December 31, 2001, the NASD beneficially owned approximately 25% of Nasdaq on a fully diluted basis that assumes the full exercise of all warrants
purchased in the two phases ("Phases I and II") of the Restructuring (approximately 69% on a non-diluted basis). On March 8, 2002, Nasdaq completed the
Repurchase, a two stage repurchase of an additional 33,768,895 shares of Common Stock owned by the NASD, which represented all of the outstanding shares of
Common Stock owned by the NASD, except for the 43,225,976 shares of Common Stock underlying the warrants issued by the NASD in the Restructuring.
Nasdaq purchased the Common Stock for approximately $305.2 million in aggregate cash consideration, 1,338,402 shares of Nasdaq's Series A Cumulative
Preferred Stock, and one share of Nasdaq's Series B Preferred Stock. The Repurchase furthered Nasdaq's goal of separating itself from the NASD. As a result of
the Repurchase, the NASD owns approximately 55% of the outstanding Common Stock on a non-diluted basis and no Common Stock on a fully-diluted basis
(assuming the full exercise of all warrants purchased in Phase I and II of the Restructuring and conversion of all potentially dilutive securities). In addition, the
NASD owns all of the outstanding shares of Series A and Series B Preferred Stock. The Series B Preferred Stock is structured to ensure that the NASD will retain
voting control over Nasdaq until Exchange Registration is achieved.

Business Environment

        The economic conditions in the United States worsened during 2001 as corporate profits, growth in productivity, and business investment declined. These
economic difficulties were reflected in the November 2001 announcement by the National Bureau of Economic Research that the U.S. economy had been in a
recession since March 2001. In addition, the securities industry and capital markets were severely affected by the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks on the
United States that caused a four-day suspension of trading on U.S. equities markets.
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        The economic reversal from the expansion of prior years and resulting investor uncertainty had a negative effect on the performance of U.S. equity markets,
as evidenced by declines in the major stock indices. During 2001, the Nasdaq Composite Index fell approximately 21%, the S&P 500 fell approximately 13%, the
Dow Jones Industrial Average fell approximately 7% and the Wilshire 5000 fell approximately 12%. Market declines adversely affected both investors and the
securities industry by reducing interest in the equities market from the levels reached in 1999 and 2000. A significant decline in on-line trading during 2001
contributed to an abrupt end to the expansion of the securities industry and resulted in staff reductions throughout the industry. Decreased market activity led to
reduced demand or slower growth for a variety of Nasdaq market services related to trading, system access, market information, and data products. While average
daily share volume in 2001 was up approximately 8% compared to share volume in 2000 (primarily from volume growth in the first half of the year),
substantially lower stock prices resulted in a more than 45% decline in average daily dollar volume.

        Weak economic conditions and lower stock prices also limited the ability of companies to raise money in the equity markets. New issues on all U.S. markets
were well off the pace of previous years. Particularly affected were companies in the technology and growth fields, a high percentage of which historically have
listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. In 2001, there were only 63 IPOs on The Nasdaq Stock Market compared to 397 in 2000. This reduction in IPOs limited
Nasdaq's opportunities to expand listing revenue and had a spill-over effect on transaction and market information services revenue. The market declines also
produced an unprecedented number of delistings, as 770 companies left The Nasdaq Stock Market for a variety of reasons. Approximately 88% of the delistings
were related to the failure to satisfy applicable listing requirements and merger and acquisition activity.

        September 11, 2001 Terrorist Attacks.    The unprecedented terrorist attacks on the United States on September 11th had a significant impact on general
economic conditions in the United States and the operations of The Nasdaq Stock Market and the other U.S. securities marketplaces. After the attacks, Nasdaq's
systems were operative; however, The Nasdaq Stock Market closed for four days as a result of the effect the events had on market participants and to assure that



they would be in a position to respond to customer needs once the markets reopened. Nasdaq's operating results for the third quarter of 2001 were affected by the
closure of the market and the disruption in business operations of market participants.

        As a result of the attacks, Nasdaq's executive offices in New York City were closed for the remainder of 2001 and its New York-based employees were
relocated. Also, as a result of the attacks, Nasdaq decided to relocate its headquarters from One Liberty Plaza, which is adjacent to the site where the World Trade
Center Towers stood, to a location closer to its Times Square Nasdaq MarketSite building. Employees returned to One Liberty Plaza on a temporary basis in the
first quarter of 2002, but are expected to relocate by early 2003. Due to its decision to relocate its headquarters from One Liberty Plaza, Nasdaq has estimated a
$21.5 million loss on the sublease for this property which is included in disaster related expenses on the Consolidated Statement of Income for the year ended
December 31, 2001. In addition, it has been necessary for Nasdaq to make certain non-budgeted expenditures relating to September 11th including, but not
limited to, costs related to the efforts to restore services to market participants; the testing of trading systems; and required reconfiguring of technology,
telecommunications and alternative office facilities due to the temporary relocation of employees. These other third and fourth quarter expenses of $1.7 million
are also shown in disaster related expenses on the Consolidated Statement of Income for the year ended December 31, 2001. Nasdaq is in the process of
determining the total loss of revenue and additional expenses incurred as well as any applicable insurance recoveries related to the attacks. Additional expenses
and recoveries will be recorded in future periods.

        In response to the general economic and market uncertainty after the terrorist attacks, Nasdaq formally suspended minimum bid price and market value of
public float requirements for continued listing on both The Nasdaq National Market and The Nasdaq SmallCap Market from September 26,
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2001 until January 2, 2002. The implementation of the moratorium did not have a material positive effect on Nasdaq's operating results in 2001. See "Item 1.
Business—Products and Services—Corporate Client Group Services."

        Overview of First Half of 2001.    Trading activity was generally strong in the first six months of 2001 versus the comparable period of 2000.    Average
daily share volume in the first quarter of 2001 averaged 2.14 billion shares compared to 1.82 billion shares in the first quarter of 2000, a gain of approximately
18%. Average daily share volume in the second quarter of 2001 averaged 1.95 billion shares compared to 1.60 billion in the second quarter of 2000, a gain of
approximately 22%. Increases in share and trade volume led to increases in transaction services revenue. Market information services revenue was adversely
impacted by the overall market decline and a drop in on-line retail trading, as demand for non-professional market information services declined. The slowing
economy also led to an increase in delistings and decreases in the number of IPOs and the number of listed companies issuing additional shares. While reported
revenue associated with Corporate Client Group activities increased during the first half of 2001 due to the Change in Accounting Principle (see "Change in
Accounting Principle" below), actual initial listing and LAS fees charged to issuers decreased during the period. Total new issues of companies listed on The
Nasdaq Stock Market, including IPOs, were 69 in the first half of 2001 compared to 342 during the same period of 2000.

        Overview of Third Quarter of 2001.    Although average daily share and trading volumes historically have been weakest in the third quarter, share and
trading volumes in the third quarter of 2001 were even lower than seasonal trends. Prior to the September 11th terrorist attacks, share volume slowed to an
average of 1.51 billion shares a day, an approximately 23% decline from the second quarter of 2001. Nasdaq posted particularly weak volume numbers in August,
with the month accounting for eight of the 10 lowest share volume days (and 16 of the 18 days with the lowest number of trades) during the period from January
through August 2001. Average daily share volume for the remainder of the quarter (post September 11th) was 2.14 billion shares per day, while the average daily
share volume for the entire third quarter (excluding the four day trading suspension discussed above) was 1.63 billion shares per day compared to 1.95 billion
shares per day in the second quarter of 2001, and 1.59 billion shares per day for the third quarter of 2000. All of Nasdaq's primary revenue streams were
negatively affected by the continued market slow-down. Lower share and trading volumes resulted in reduced transaction services revenue. Market information
services revenue experienced a similar decline as the demand for both professional and non-professional market information softened. While reported revenue
from Corporate Client Group services were flat due to the Change in Accounting Principle, actual Corporate Client Group activities were down significantly in
the third quarter of 2001, reflecting in part the fact that there were no IPOs in the U.S. equity markets in September for the first time in 25 years. Total new issues
of companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market, including IPOs, were 32 in the third quarter of 2001, compared to 163 in the third quarter of 2000.

        Overview of Fourth Quarter of 2001.    Building on post-September 11th momentum, trading activity on U.S. equity markets rebounded in the fourth
quarter of 2001. Daily share volume grew to an average of 1.86 billion shares from 1.63 billion shares in the third quarter. This approximately 14% increase
represented the only volume rise from one quarter to the next in 2001. Increases in share and trade volumes resulted in a slight increase in transaction services
revenue in the fourth quarter. While demand for professional and non-professional information remained weak, there was a modest increase in market information
services revenue that resulted from trading of exchange listed securities through Nasdaq InterMarket. Total new issues of companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock
Market, including IPOs, were 44 in the fourth quarter compared to 100 in the fourth quarter of 2000. There were 24 IPOs in the fourth quarter of 2001, nearly
twice as many as in any other quarter of 2001.

        2002 Outlook.    Nasdaq continues to face economic and competitive challenges. In January and February 2002, trading volume was flat versus
December 2001 and daily share volume in January and
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February averaged 1.89 billion and 1.81 billion shares, respectively. The flattening of trading activity resulted from a combination of factors including a change
toward agency and riskless principal trading and trade reporting by some institutional market participants. Under agency and riskless principle trading, these
institutional market participants no longer report to Nasdaq certain transactions with their customers. Trading activity also has been affected by continued
uncertainty among investors about the economy and markets. There is also a threat of some competitive attrition of Nasdaq's market share. Some ECNs, which
have traditionally relied on Nasdaq's execution and reporting systems, have allied themselves with regional exchanges or are seeking to establish themselves as
national securities exchanges and will compete with Nasdaq for trade reporting, Tape Fees, and possibly even listings business.

        It is difficult at this time to determine whether the economy and market conditions have begun a sustained improvement. A rise in investor confidence could
result in a corresponding increase in demand for transactions services and data products. In addition, the full impact of last year's move to decimal pricing on
investing behavior and market making has not been realized. Trading activity could see an additional boost as investors returning to the market benefit from
substantially lower spreads. Any sustained rebound in equity markets should provide Nasdaq with greater opportunities for new listings and secondary offerings.



However, if weak domestic and international economic conditions continue or worsen, Nasdaq's business, financial condition, and results of operations may be
materially adversely affected.

Change in Accounting Principle

        On August 17, 2001, Nasdaq concluded discussions with the SEC with respect to the implementation in its financial statements of Staff Accounting Bulletin
101, "Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements" ("SAB 101"), which became effective for SEC reporting companies in the fourth quarter of 2000. Nasdaq
became a SEC public reporting company on June 29, 2001, the effective date of its Registration Statement on Form 10. As a result of the discussions with the
SEC, Nasdaq changed its method of accounting for revenue recognition for certain components of its Corporate Client Group services revenue (the "Change in
Accounting Principle").

        Although SAB 101 was adopted effective the fourth quarter of 2000, the Change in Accounting Principle has been applied as of January 1, 2000. In
accordance with applicable accounting guidance prior to SAB 101, Nasdaq recognized revenue for issuer initial listing fees and LAS fees in the month the listing
occurred or in the period additional shares were issued, respectively. Nasdaq now recognizes revenue related to initial listing fees and LAS fees on a straight line
basis over estimated service periods, which are six and four years, respectively.

        As a result of the Change in Accounting Principle, pro forma net income for the year ended December 31, 2000, excluding the cumulative effect of the
Change in Accounting Principle on prior years' results, decreased $20.8 million ($0.19 per share). In addition, Nasdaq recognized a one-time cumulative effect of
the Change in Accounting Principle in the first quarter of 2000. This cumulative effect of the Change in Accounting Principle decreased net income in 2000 by
$101.1 million ($0.90 per share), resulting in net income of $23.3 million ($0.21 per share). The adjustment to first quarter 2000 net income for the cumulative
change to prior years' results consists of the following:

($ in millions)

   
Deferred initial listing fees  $ 108.5 
Deferred LAS fees   60.6 
   
Total deferred fees   169.1 
Deferred income tax benefit   (68.0)
   
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle  $ 101.1 
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        For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, Nasdaq recognized $44.9 million and $55.7 million in revenue, respectively, that was included in the
cumulative effect adjustment as of January 1, 2000. This revenue contributed $27.3 million (after income taxes of $17.6 million) and $33.3 million (after income
taxes of $22.4 million) to net income for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

        The following table compares net income under the former accounting method to net income under the new accounting method:

 
 

Year ended December 31,  

($ in millions)
 

 

2001

 

2000

 
Net income, before implementation of SAB 101  $ 30.0 $ 145.2 
Increase due to recognition of prior period fees, included in the cumulative effect adjustment as of
1/1/00, net of taxes   27.3  33.3 
Increase due to recognition of prior period deferred fees, subsequent to the cumulative effect
adjustment, net of taxes   12.9  — 
Decrease due to deferral of current period fees, net of taxes   (29.7)  (54.1)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of taxes   —  (101.1)
    
Net income  $ 40.5 $ 23.3 
    

        Revenue deferred in accordance with SAB 101 as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 is discussed in Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Results of Operations

        Financial Overview.    Nasdaq's financial position can vary due to a number of factors discussed throughout this "Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Conditions and Results of Operation" and in "Item 1. Business—Risk Factors." The following table sets forth an overview of Nasdaq's financial results:

 
 

Year Ended December 31,  

($ in millions, except per share amounts)
 

 

2001

 

2000

 

1999

 
Total revenue  $ 857.2 $ 832.7 $ 634.2 
Pre-tax income   78.8  214.9  144.6 
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle   —  (101.1)  — 
Net income   40.5  23.3  86.1 
Basic and diluted earnings per share before change in accounting principle   0.35  1.11  0.86 
Earnings per share   0.35  0.21  0.86 
Return on average equity   7.0%  4.7%  27.9%



Revenue

        For the Years Ended December 31, 2001 and 2000.    Total revenue in 2001 increased $24.5 million, or 2.9%, from 2000.

        For the Years Ended December 31, 2000 and 1999.    Total revenue in 2000 increased $198.5 million, or 31.3%, from 1999. Pursuant to the Change in
Accounting Principle for Corporate Client Group services revenue adopted as of January 1, 2000, pro forma total revenues for 1999 would have been
$607.2 million and the increase for 2000 would have been $225.5 million, or 37.1%.
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Net Income

        For the Years Ended December 31, 2001 and 2000.    Net income in 2001 increased $17.2 million, or 73.8%, from 2000. Compared to pro forma net income
for the year ended December 31, 2000 of $124.4 million, which excludes the cumulative effect of the Change in Accounting Principle, net income decreased by
$83.9 million, or 67.4%.

        For the Years Ended December 31, 2000 and 1999.    Net income in 2000 decreased $62.8 million, or 72.9% from 1999. Compared to pro forma net income
for the year ended December 31, 2000, which excludes the cumulative effect of the Change in Accounting Principle, net income increased by $54.5 million, or
78.0%, from pro forma net income of $69.9 million for the year ended December 31, 1999.

Transaction Services

        The following table sets forth the revenue from transaction services:

 
 

Year Ended December 31,

($ in millions)

 

2001

 

2000

 

1999

Workstation II and Application Programming Interfaces  $ 146.2 $ 121.6 $ 87.6
ACT   87.3  100.0  68.1
SelectNet   87.1  113.5  83.1
SuperSoes   32.3  —  —
SOES   26.1  32.2  19.7
CTCI   15.5  3.2  2.3
Other transaction services revenue   14.3  24.6  22.9
    
Total transaction services revenue  $ 408.8 $ 395.1 $ 283.7
    

        For the Years Ended December 31, 2001 and 2000.    For the year ended December 31, 2001, transaction services revenue of $408.8 million increased
$13.7 million from $395.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2000, an increase of 3.5%.

        The Nasdaq Workstation II is the trader's direct connection to Nasdaq's quote and trade execution facilities, providing quotation services, automated trade
executions, real-time reporting, trade negotiations and clearing. This trading device, along with Application Programming Interfaces, provided revenue of
$146.2 million, an increase of $24.6 million, or 20.2%, for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $121.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. This
increase was primarily due to higher fees used to expand network capacity. Nasdaq Workstation II fees are charged monthly based upon the number of authorized
logon identifications and servers.

        ACT, an automated service that provides the post-execution steps of reporting price, volume comparison and clearing of pre-negotiated trades as well as risk
management services, provided revenue of $87.3 million, a decrease of $12.7 million, or 12.7%, for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $100.0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2000 primarily due to various fee changes enacted subsequent to March 31, 2000. These changes include a cap in risk management
fees, fee reductions on certain existing services, and a rule change that eliminated charges for certain transactions. ACT fees are generally charged on a per
transaction basis.

         SelectNet, a messaging system for order execution, provided revenue of $87.1 million, a decrease of $26.4 million, or 23.3%, for the year ended
December 31, 2001 from $113.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2000, primarily due to a decrease in trade volume related to the introduction of
SuperSoes on July 30, 2001, which reduced the number of trades directed to SelectNet. Revenues from SelectNet also decreased as a result of the introduction of
a new fee schedule for SelectNet in the third
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quarter of 2001. While Nasdaq revised the SelectNet fee schedule on October 1, 2001 to mitigate the negative effect of the prior fee schedule, the migration of
trading to SuperSoes caused revenue from SelectNet to continue to decline in the fourth quarter. With the implementation of SuperSoes, SelectNet becomes
primarily a tool to be used by market makers to negotiate trades. SelectNet fees are charged on a per transaction basis.

        On July 30, 2001, Nasdaq fully implemented SuperSoes. SuperSoes is designed to provide capability for automatic execution of buy and sell orders for
market makers, ECNs and institutional and retail customers, and streamline Nasdaq's transaction systems. SuperSoes combines features of SelectNet and SOES
execution systems and is only available for securities listed on The Nasdaq National Market tier of The Nasdaq Stock Market. Securities listed on The Nasdaq
SmallCap Market will continue to be traded through SOES and SelectNet. SuperSoes has resulted in the migration of significant transaction volume, and its
corresponding revenue, from SelectNet and SOES to SuperSoes. The introduction of the SuperSoes fee schedule at the time of implementation of SuperSoes had
a negative effect on revenue in the third quarter. Revised fee structure implemented October 1, 2001 for SuperSoes mitigated this negative effect in the fourth



quarter of 2001. SuperSoes fees are charged on a per transaction basis and consist of an entry charge per order and an execution charge per share. In certain
circumstances Nasdaq rebates a portion of the per share execution charge it receives to market participants whose quotation is accessed through SuperSoes. The
fees for order entry and executions were coupled with the fee rebate as part of the overall pricing strategy for the new fee structure introduced in October.
SuperSoes provided revenue of $32.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2001.

        SOES, a system providing for the automatic execution of small orders, provided revenue of $26.1 million, a decrease of $6.1 million, or 18.9%, for the year
ended December 31, 2001 from $32.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2000, due to the migration of SOES trading activity into the new SuperSoes
system for securities listed on The Nasdaq National Market. SOES will continue to operate as an execution system solely for securities listed on The Nasdaq
SmallCap Market. Due to the implementation of SuperSoes, SOES revenue is not expected to be material in future periods. SOES fees are charged on a per
transaction basis.

        Nasdaq provides CTCI for users to report trades, enter orders into SuperSoes and receive execution messages. The CTCI links market participants'
automated systems to Nasdaq. This interface has recently been upgraded to a new protocol and increased line speeds. CTCI revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2001 are $15.5 million, up $12.3 million from $3.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. The increase in revenue was driven primarily by
increased Nasdaq fees associated with an upgraded interface. Previously, the majority of fees for CTCI services was charged by Worldcom the system provider,
rather than Nasdaq. Users are charged a monthly fee based upon the size of the line used by the customer.

        For the Years Ended December 31, 2000 and 1999.    For the year ended December 31, 2000 transaction services revenue of $395.1 million increased
$111.4 million, or 39.3%, from $283.7 million for the year ended December 31, 1999.

        The Nasdaq Workstation II, along with Application Programming Interfaces, provided revenue of $121.6 million, an increase of $34.0 million, or 38.8%, for
the year ended December 31, 2000 from $87.6 million for the year ended December 31, 1999, primarily due to a larger customer base.

        ACT provided revenue of $100.0 million, an increase of $31.9 million, or 46.8%, for the year ended December 31, 2000 from $68.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 1999, primarily due to an increase in trade volume.
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        SelectNet provided revenue of $113.5 million, an increase of $30.4 million, or 36.6%, for the year ended December 31, 2000 from $83.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 1999, primarily due to an increase in trade volume.

        SOES provided revenue of $32.2 million, an increase of $12.5 million, or 63.5%, for the year ended December 31, 2000 from $19.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 1999, primarily due to an increase in volume of SOES executions.

Market Information Services

        The following table sets forth the revenue from market information services:

 
 

Year Ended December 31,

($ in millions)

 

2001

 

2000

 

1999

Level 1 Service  $ 140.8 $ 159.6 $ 135.0
Nasdaq Quotation Dissemination Service   61.0  74.8  32.5
Nasdaq InterMarket Tape Fees   32.5  21.9  17.2
Other market information services revenue   6.2  2.0  1.8
    
Total market information services revenue  $ 240.5 $ 258.3 $ 186.5
    

        For the Years Ended December 31, 2001 and 2000.    For the year ended December 31, 2001, market information services revenue of $240.5 million
decreased $17.8 million, or 6.9%, from $258.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2000.

        Nasdaq's Level 1 service provides subscribers with current inside quote and most recent price at which the last sale or purchase was transacted for a specific
security. Fees for professional users are based on monthly subscriptions to terminals or access lines. Non-professional users have the option to access this
information through either a flat monthly rate or a per query usage charge. The growth in on-line investing in recent years increased the usage of these fee
structures by on-line brokerage firms and other Internet services. However, the weaker economic and market conditions in 2001 caused a substantial reduction in
Level 1 revenue due to a decrease in demand for both professional and non-professional per query service. Level 1 provided revenue of $140.8 million, a decrease
of $18.8 million, or 11.8%, for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $159.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2000.

        Nasdaq Quotation Dissemination Service provides subscribers with the quotes of each individual market maker and ECN, in addition to the inside quotes
and last transaction prices. Nasdaq Quotation Dissemination Service provided revenue of $61.0 million, a decrease of $13.8 million, or 18.4%, for the year ended
December 31, 2001 from $74.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. This reduction reflects the introduction of the new reduced non-professional
service fee. Although the number of Nasdaq Quotation Dissemination Service subscribers increased in total, revenue decreased due to the number of subscribers
eligible for the new reduced non-professional fee. Nasdaq Quotation Dissemination Service revenue is derived from monthly subscriptions.

        Nasdaq InterMarket Tape Fee revenue is derived from data revenue generated by the Consolidated Quotation Plan and the Consolidated Tape Association
Plan. The information collected under the Consolidated Quotation Plan and the Consolidated Tape Association Plan is sold to data vendors, who in turn sell it to
the public. Nasdaq's InterMarket revenue is directly related to the percentage of trades in exchange listed securities that are executed in a Nasdaq facility and
reported through the Consolidated Quotation Plan and the Consolidated Tape Association Plan. Nasdaq InterMarket tape provided revenue of $32.5 million, an
increase of $10.6 million, or 48.4%, for the year ended December 31, 2001, from $21.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. This increase is
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primarily driven by increased trading through Nasdaq in Amex- listed exchange traded funds, specifically the Nasdaq-100 QQQ exchange traded fund.

        For the Years Ended December 31, 2000 and 1999.    For the year ended December 31, 2000, market information revenue of $258.3 million increased
$71.8 million, or 38.5%, from $186.5 million for the year ended December 31, 1999.

        Level 1 provided revenue of $159.6 million, an increase of $24.6 million, or 18.2%, for the year ended December 31, 2000 from $135.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 1999, primarily due to an increase in demand for non-professional services including both per month and per query usage.

        Nasdaq Quotation Dissemination Service provided revenue of $74.8 million, an increase of $42.3 million, or 130.2%, for the year ended December 31, 2000
from $32.5 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. This increase was primarily due to growth in the number of subscribers.

        Nasdaq InterMarket tape provided revenue of $21.9 million, and increase of $4.7 million, or 27.3%, for the year ended December 31, 2000, from
$17.2 million for the year ended December 31, 1999.

Corporate Client Group Services

        The following table sets forth the revenue from Corporate Client Group services:

 
 

Year Ended December 31,  

($ in millions)
 

 

2001

 

2000

 

1999

 
Annual fee revenue  $ 83.1 $ 81.1 $ 77.3 
LAS fee revenue   35.9  33.6  30.0*
Initial listing fee revenue   35.7  33.9  27.4*
Other Corporate Client Group services revenue   1.4  0.7  1.7 
     
Total Corporate Client Group services revenue  $ 156.1 $ 149.3 $ 136.4*
     

* Pro forma assuming retroactive application of the Change in Accounting Principle, which was adopted as of January 1, 2000.

        Corporate Client Group services revenue is derived from initial listings, LAS, and annual fees for companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. Fees are
generally calculated based upon total shares outstanding for the issuing company. These fees are initially deferred and amortized over the estimated service
periods for which the services are provided. Revenue from initial listings and LAS fees are amortized over six and four years, respectively, and annual fees are
amortized on a pro-rata basis over the calendar year.

        For the Years Ended December 31, 2001 and 2000.    Corporate Client Group services revenue increased to $156.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2001 from $149.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2000, an increase of $6.8 million, or 4.6%.

        Annual fee revenue increased by $2.0 million, or 2.5%, to $83.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $81.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000. LAS revenue increased $2.3 million, or 6.8%, from $33.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 to $35.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001. Initial listing revenue increased $1.8 million, or 5.3%, from $33.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2000 to $35.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2001.

        Actual initial listing and LAS fees charged during the year ended December 31, 2001 decreased due to significantly reduced IPO activity and capital raising
activity by current issuers. Initial listings on
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, including IPOs, declined from 605 during the year ended December 31, 2000 to 145 during the year ended December 31, 2001. Initial
listing fees charged decreased $40.5 million, or 76.3%, from $53.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 to $12.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001. LAS fees charged decreased $8.0 million, or 16.1%, from $49.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 to $41.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2001.

        For the Years Ended December 31, 2000 and 1999.    Corporate Client Group services revenue decreased from $163.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 1999 to $149.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2000, a decrease of $14.1 million, or 8.6%. Annual fee revenue increased from
$77.3 million to $81.1 million, an increase of $3.8 million, or 4.9%. Revenue related to LAS increased from $29.6 million to $33.6 million, an increase of
$4.0 million, or 13.5%, driven by an increase in the number of secondary offerings by current issuers offset by the Change in Accounting Principle, adopted as of
January 1, 2000. Initial listing revenue decreased from $54.9 million to $33.9 million, a decrease of $21.0 million or 38.3%, due to the effect of the Change in
Accounting Principle.

        Pro forma Corporate Client Group services revenue increased from $136.4 million for the year ended December 31, 1999, to $149.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2000, an increase of $12.9 million, or 9.5%. Actual initial listing and LAS fees charged during 2000 increased due to higher IPO activity and
capital raising activity by current issuers. Initial listing revenue increased from $27.4 million to $33.9 million, an increase of $6.5 million, or 23.7%. Revenue
related to LAS increased from $30.0 million to $33.6 million, an increase of $3.6 million, or 12.0%. Pro forma amounts assume the Change in Accounting
Principle, adopted as of January 1, 2000, is applied retroactively.

Other Revenue



        For the Years Ended December 31, 2001 and 2000.    Other revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001 totaled $51.8 million, up from $30.0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2000, an increase of $21.8 million, or 72.7%. This growth was primarily due to increased trademark and licensing revenue related to
the Nasdaq-100 Trust and related products. Other revenue also includes revenue associated with Nasdaq Tools, Nasdaq.com as well as advertising revenue from
the Nasdaq MarketSite.

        For the Years Ended December 31, 2000 and 1999.    Other revenue for the year ended December 31, 2000 totaled $30.0 million, up significantly from
$0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. This growth is attributable to increased trademark and licensing revenue, new banner advertising revenue for
Nasdaq.com, revenue generated by the newly opened Nasdaq MarketSite, and revenue related to Nasdaq Tools, which was acquired in 2000. Nasdaq Tools
develops a set of software utilities that can be loaded on a Nasdaq Workstation II terminal.

Future Products and Competitive Trends

        Products.    In the third quarter of 2002, Nasdaq plans to implement SuperMontage, an improved user interface on the Nasdaq Workstation II designed to
refine how market participants can access, process, display, and integrate orders and quotes in The Nasdaq Stock Market. SuperMontage is intended to attract
more orders to The Nasdaq Stock Market, thereby increasing competition and market transparency. SuperMontage will replace SuperSoes as the transaction
system for automatic execution of buy and sell orders. Nasdaq currently contemplates that it will begin user testing of SuperMontage in the second quarter of
2002. Assuming the testing and phase-in of SuperMontage proceeds according to this schedule, it is not anticipated that SuperMontage will generate revenue until
at least the third quarter of 2002.

        In conjunction with the implementation of SuperMontage, Nasdaq market information services will have two new data products. DepthView will show the
aggregate size available at up to five price levels while TotalView will display, in addition to DepthView data, each quote or order, with attribution when
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available, that makes up the aggregate depth at up to five price levels. These Nasdaq-proprietary data products will provide new revenue streams that are not
expected to materially reduce subscriptions of existing products because they are enhancements rather than substitutes for Level 1 and Nasdaq Quotation
Dissemination Service.

        Nasdaq is currently developing pricing structures for these products. In addition, Nasdaq reviews the pricing of its existing products and services in response
to competitive pressures or changes in market or general economic conditions. Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Act, Nasdaq must file all proposals
for a change in its pricing structure with the SEC. See "Item 1. Business—Fee Changes."

        Primex, which is operated pursuant to an agreement between Nasdaq and Primex Trading N.A., LLC, provides investors and market makers with a new
electronic auction trading platform. Primex was launched in December 2001 and is currently in its pilot phase, which is scheduled to be completed on March 31,
2002. Nasdaq has waived all fees associated with linking to, and transacting in, Primex for the duration of the pilot phase. Assuming successful completion of the
pilot phase, Primex is not expected to generate revenue until the third quarter of 2002.

        Competitive Trends.    Nasdaq faces increasing competition from regional exchanges for the trade reporting business of ECNs and market makers. In
February 2002, Island began reporting a portion of its trades to the Cincinnati Stock Exchange, a UTP Plan participant. Published reports indicate that the
Cincinnati Stock Exchange gained Island's business by committing to lower trade reporting fees and share with Island a substantial portion of Tape Fees that
Cincinnati earns from Island's trades. Nasdaq's market share under the UTP Plan dropped from approximately 97.6% of trade volume and 98.2% of share volume
for the month of January 2002 to 77.3% of trade volume and 88.5% of share volume for the first ten trading days in March 2002. The reduction in trade reporting
to Nasdaq was consistent with Nasdaq's estimates and projections for trade reporting in 2002. Nasdaq's revenue would be further affected if other ECNs began
reporting trades to other UTP Plan participants.

        To improve its competitive position, Nasdaq recently reduced certain trade reporting fees and began sharing Tape Fees with participants who report trades
through Nasdaq. Nasdaq shares 80% of its Tape Fees after deducting certain costs of regulating The Nasdaq Stock Market. Nasdaq historically has used Tape
Fees to pay market regulation expenses that help ensure the quality and fairness of The Nasdaq Stock Market and compliance with all applicable rules and
regulations. As a result of the deduction of market regulation expenses, Nasdaq's current Tape Fee sharing with Nasdaq market participants may not match the
portion of Tape Fees offered by the Cincinnati Stock Exchange although Nasdaq's Tape Fee sharing is designed to be competitive with the amount of Tape Fees
that ECNs such as Island rebate to their users. Nasdaq's trade reporting fees or Tape Fee sharing may be adjusted in the future to respond to competitive pressures.
See "Item 1. Business—Competition," and "Item 1. Business—Risk Factors—Competition by regional exchanges for trade reporting business may reduce
Nasdaq's trade reporting and market information revenue."
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        In addition, Nasdaq's business is materially affected by a number of general competitive concerns and financial market and economic conditions that are
discussed elsewhere in this Form 10-K. See "Item 1. Business—Competition," and "Item 1. Business—Risk Factors."

Direct Expenses

 
 

Year ended December 31,

($ in millions)

 

2001

 

2000

 

1999

Compensation and benefits  $ 183.4 $ 137.3 $ 98.1
Marketing and advertising   28.0  45.9  62.8
Depreciation and amortization   93.4  65.6  43.7
Professional and contract services   76.0  61.5  35.3
Computer operations and data communications   174.9  138.2  100.5
Provision for bad debts   15.5  5.6  3.0



Occupancy   27.2  14.8  6.6
Technology transition costs   9.2  —  —
Disaster related   23.2  —  —
Other   64.5  39.3  34.5
    
Total direct expenses  $ 695.3 $ 508.2 $ 384.5
    
Number of employees   1,259  1,214  1,043

        For the Years Ended December 31, 2001 and 2000.    Direct expenses increased 36.8% to $695.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from
$508.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2000.

        Compensation and benefits expense increased to $183.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $137.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2000, an increase of $46.1 million, or 33.6%. This increase is due to a number of factors, including an increase of approximately $23.2 million due to the transfer
of positions from the NASD associated with Nasdaq's restructuring as an independent company. The number of employees increased by a net 45, or 3.7%, to
1,259 employees as of December 31, 2001, from 1,214 employees as of December 31, 2000. In addition to the above, Nasdaq recorded a $7.4 million charge
associated with severance and outplacement costs. This was in response to the departure of certain senior managers and to softening market conditions, which
caused Nasdaq to implement a staff reduction plan in June 2001 that eliminated 137 positions, or approximately 10% of the workforce at that time. In addition,
direct expenses include $4.0 million of compensation and benefits related to employees of Nasdaq Europe from the date of acquisition by Nasdaq.

        Marketing and advertising expense decreased to $28.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $45.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2000, a decrease of $17.9 million, or 39.0%, due to reduced spring and fall advertising campaigns.

        Depreciation and amortization expense increased $27.8 million, or 42.4%, to $93.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $65.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2000 due to a higher overall asset base to support current initiatives, such as SuperMontage and Primex, and the implementation of
decimal quoting and trading. Also contributing to the increase was $9.2 million in depreciation and amortization expense of Nasdaq Europe from the date of
acquisition by Nasdaq.

        Professional and contract services expense increased to $76.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $61.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000, an increase of $14.5 million, or 23.6%, in support of SuperMontage and Primex development, and future technology design planning, and
costs associated with the Restructuring.
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        Computer operations and data communications expense increased $36.7 million, or 26.6%, to $174.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from
$138.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. The computer operations component of the costs increased $4.5 million from the year ended December 31,
2000 to the year ended December 31, 2001 due to increases in maintenance and software licenses to support a higher asset base. Data communications costs
increased $32.2 million due to increased charges for the upgraded bandwidth and processing speed and additional users that are commensurate with the increase
in Nasdaq Workstation II revenue as discussed above. Also contributing to the increase is $8.1 million of system operating costs of Nasdaq Europe from the date
of acquisition by Nasdaq.

        Provision for bad debts increased to $15.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $5.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 reflecting
an $8.4 million receivable write-off relating to the bankruptcy filing by Bridge Information Systems, a vendor of Nasdaq's market information. The remaining
increase in provision for bad debts was commensurate with the growth in Nasdaq's accounts receivable.

        Occupancy expense increased $12.4 million, or 83.8%, to $27.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $14.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000. This increase was primarily due to Nasdaq's new corporate offices, located at One Liberty Plaza, New York, New York, new office space in
Trumbull, Connecticut and the amortization of leasehold improvements to the Rockville, Maryland data center. These increased costs were slightly offset by a
rent abatement granted Nasdaq due to the closure of One Liberty Plaza following the September 11th attacks.

        Disaster related expenses of $23.2 million are related to the terrorists attacks of September 11, 2001. As a result of the attacks, Nasdaq was required to make
certain non-budgeted expenditures related to the efforts to restore services to market participants; the testing of trading systems; and required reconfiguring of
technology, telecommunications and alternative office facilities due to the temporary relocation of employees which amounted to $1.7 million. In addition,
Nasdaq has made a decision to vacate its leased space at One Liberty Plaza and relocate its headquarters to mid-town New York City, and recorded a charge of
$21.5 million to reflect the estimated loss on the sublease for this property.

        Technology transition costs of $9.2 million have been accrued under a commitment by Nasdaq to Amex to fund technology development costs associated
with the separation of Amex from Nasdaq. See "—Related Party Transactions" and Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a further explanation of
Nasdaq's commitment under the agreement.

        The remaining direct expenses increased $25.2 million, or 64.1%, to $64.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2001, from $39.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2000, related to increases in various expense categories including losses from strategic equity investments, telephone expense, and training
and travel expenses.

        Interest expense increased $7.5 million to $9.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $2.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 due
to interest on the Subordinated Notes issued to Hellman & Friedman in May 2001.

        For the Years Ended December 31, 2000 and 1999.    Direct expenses increased $123.7 million, or 32.2%, to $508.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000 from $384.5 million for the year ended December 31, 1999.

        Compensation and benefits costs increased $39.2 million, or 40.0%, to $137.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 from $98.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 1999. This increase was primarily due to growth in the number of employees required to support business and operational demands created



by the rapid expansion of the market during 2000. The number of employees increased by 171, or 16.4%, to 1,214 employees as of December 31, 2000, from
1,043 employees as of
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December 31, 1999. As a result, salaries for the period increased $20.8 million. Also contributing were increases in incentive compensation and retirement and
savings plan expenses. Approximately 30% of the overall increase in compensation and benefits costs related to the transfer of directors and executive officers
from the NASD to Nasdaq as well as new executive officer hires and existing directors and executive officers.

        Marketing and advertising costs decreased $16.9 million, or 26.9%, to $45.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 from $62.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 1999, primarily due to a decrease in scale of the media advertising campaign in the fall of 2000 as compared to the fall campaign in 1999.
During 1999, additional media events were scheduled to establish the Nasdaq and Amex brand following the NASD's 1998 acquisition of Amex.

        Depreciation and amortization expense increased $21.9 million, or 50.1%, to $65.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 from $43.7 million for the
year ended December 31, 1999, primarily due to purchases of computer hardware necessary to handle the growth in trading volumes. Also contributing to this
increase was the opening of the MarketSite and broadcast facility located in Times Square, New York City.

        Professional and contract services costs increased $26.2 million, or 74.2%, to $61.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 from $35.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 1999. The main projects driving this increase included Nasdaq Global and related international initiatives, design costs related to
Nasdaq.com and Nasdaq online, vendor services for the new MarketSite and broadcast facility located in Times Square, New York, and helpdesk and desktop
support costs provided by Electronic Data Systems Corporation.

        Computer operations and data communications costs increased $37.7 million, or 37.5%, to $138.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 from
$100.5 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. This overall increase was required to support additional capacity. The Nasdaq Stock Market's total share
volume for the year ended December 31, 2000 increased approximately 64.5% compared to the year ended December 31, 1999. The computer operations and
data communications complex was upgraded to provide the capability for processing four billion shares on a peak day. The computer operations component of the
costs increased $14.4 million between 1999 and 2000 to support this capacity. This increase resulted from help desk and network license increases of
$2.3 million, hardware maintenance increases of $5.4 million, Tandem lease increases of $1.3 million, software leases and maintenance increases of $3.9 million,
and computer supplies and cabling increases of $1.5 million. Data communications costs increased $23.3 million due to the increased Enterprise Wide Network II
charges from WorldCom for T-1 communications lines for new customers and upgraded bandwidth and processing speed.

        The remaining direct expenses increased $15.6 million, or 35.4%, to $59.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 from $44.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 1999. This was primarily due to an increase in occupancy costs as a result of the MarketSite and broadcast facility in Times Square, New
York, new office space in Trumbull, Connecticut, increased travel to support international initiatives, and losses in strategic foreign equity investments.

Support Costs

        Due to its historical relationship with the NASD, Nasdaq currently receives services from the NASD and NASDR, and provides services to the NASD and
Amex. As such, these services are considered related party transactions. Specifically, in 2001 the NASD has provided certain administrative, corporate and
infrastructure services, including certain financial services, real estate, legal and human resource services. NASDR provides surveillance and other regulatory
services for Nasdaq. These charges are composed primarily of the costs relating to technological investments for market surveillance as well as direct costs for
enforcement and other regulation services. Nasdaq
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provides systems and technology support to Amex in the form of market data storage and dissemination, web development and hosting and customer relationship
management application support. Nasdaq also provides security services to the NASD. It is expected that as Nasdaq continues moving towards self-sufficiency,
with the exception of surveillance and regulatory services, these related party transactions will diminish. Support costs with related parties have been transacted at
the cost of providing the service. See "Item 1. Business—Service, Regulatory, and Technology Contractual Relationship with the NASD, NASDR and Amex."

        For the Years Ended December 31, 2001 and 2000.    Support costs from related parties decreased by $26.7 million, or 20.8%, to $101.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2001 from $128.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. Surveillance and other regulatory charges from NASDR increased by
$3.9 million to $83.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $79.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. Support costs from the NASD
decreased $21.5 million to $32.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $53.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. In addition,
contributing to the decrease was an increase in the amount of Nasdaq costs charged to the Amex of $9.2 million to $14.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2001 from $4.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2000.

        For the Years Ended December 31, 2000 and 1999.    Support costs from related parties increased by $13.3 million, or 11.5%, to $128.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2000 from $115.2 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. Specifically, Nasdaq incurred increased surveillance and other regulatory
charges from NASDR. Surveillance and other regulatory charges from NASDR increased by $14.8 million, or 22.7%, to $79.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000 from $65.1 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. Additionally, contributing to the increase is a decline in the amount of Nasdaq
costs charged to Amex of $9.1 million, or 65.0%, to $4.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 from $14.0 million for the year ended December 31,
1999. The support cost increases are partially offset by a decrease in support costs from the NASD of $10.5 million, or 16.4%, to $53.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000 from $64.1 million for the year ended December 31, 1999. The decrease in support costs primarily reflects the outsourcing of Nasdaq's
computer desktop operations to Electronic Data Systems effective June 1, 1999. Prior to June 1, 1999, the NASD provided these services to Nasdaq.

Income Taxes

        For the Years Ended December 31, 2001 and 2000.    Nasdaq's income tax provision was $38.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 compared to
$90.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. The effective tax rate was 48.6% for the year ended December 31, 2001 compared to 42.1% for the year



ended December 31, 2000. The increase in Nasdaq's effective tax rate was primarily due to its foreign losses for which no tax benefit is taken, offset by the
recognition of permanent items for tax preferred investments such as tax-exempt interest and dividends received deductions.

        For the Years Ended December 31, 2000 and 1999.    Nasdaq's income tax provision was $90.5 million for 2000 compared to $58.4 million for 1999. The
effective tax rate was 42.1% for 2000 compared to 40.4% for 1999. The increase in Nasdaq's effective tax rate was primarily due to an increase in its foreign
losses for which no tax benefit is taken.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flows

        For the Years Ended December 31, 2001 and 2000.    Cash and cash equivalents and available-for-sale securities totaled $521.8 million at December 31,
2001, an increase of $27.5 million from $494.3 million
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at December 31, 2000. Working capital increased $81.3 million to $521.6 million as of December 31, 2001, from $440.3 million as of December 31, 2000.

        Cash and cash equivalents increased $31.4 million from $262.3 million on December 31, 2000 to $293.7 million as of December 31, 2001, primarily due to
cash provided by operating activities of $65.0 million and cash provided by financing activities of $75.6 million, partially offset by cash used in investing
activities of $109.2 million.

        Operating activities provided net cash inflows of $65.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2001, primarily due to cash received from customers of
$821.9 million less cash paid to suppliers, employees, and related parties of $730.1 million and income taxes paid of $26.8 million.

        Net cash used in investing activities was $109.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2001, primarily due to capital expenditures related to
SuperMontage, Primex, global initiatives and general capacity increases. The remaining cash used in investing activities is attributable to purchases of
investments with the proceeds from the sale of Common Stock in Phase II of the Restructuring that closed in January 2001 and receipts from the sales and
maturities of investments.

        Cash provided by financing activities was approximately $75.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. On May 3, 2001, Nasdaq sold Subordinated
Notes to Hellman & Friedman, yielding gross proceeds of approximately $240.0 million. Nasdaq used the proceeds to repurchase 18,461,538 shares of Common
Stock from the NASD for $13.00 per share for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $240.0 million. During this period, Nasdaq also received net
proceeds from Phase II of the Restructuring that equaled approximately $63.7 million and repaid approximately $28.6 million to the venture partners who
participated in Nasdaq Europe Planning Company Limited. Nasdaq used a portion of the proceeds to repurchase additional shares from the NASD in 2002 and
will use the remaining proceeds from its financing activities to invest in new technology, implement and form strategic alliances, implement competitive pricing
of its services, and build its brand through marketing programs.

        Approximately $305.2 million of Nasdaq's cash and cash equivalents were used in the first quarter of 2002 to fund the Repurchase, as discussed in Note 20
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

        Nasdaq believes that the liquidity provided by existing cash and cash equivalents, investments, and cash generated from operations will provide sufficient
capital to meet current and future operating requirements. Nasdaq is exploring alternative sources of financing that may increase liquidity in the future. Nasdaq
has generated positive cash flows annually in each of the five years since 1996 and believes that it will continue to do so in the future to meet both short and long
term operating requirements.

        For the Years Ended December 31, 2000 and 1999.    Cash and cash equivalents and available-for-sale securities totaled $494.3 million as of December 31,
2000, an increase of $330.1 million from $164.2 million as of December 31, 1999. Working capital increased $285.9 million to $440.3 million as of
December 31, 2000, from $154.4 million as of December 31, 1999.

        Cash and cash equivalents increased $251.7 million to $262.3 million as of December 31, 2000, primarily due to cash provided by financing activities as a
result of the net proceeds received from Phase I of the Restructuring that equalled $253.3 million.

        For the year ended December 31, 2000, operating activities provided net cash inflows of $255.6 million, primarily due to cash received from customers of
$713.4 million less cash paid to suppliers, employees, and related parties of $403.8 million and income taxes paid of $101.2 million.

        Net cash used in investing activities was $292.2 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2000, due in part to capital expenditures to complete
construction of the MarketSite and broadcast facility in Times Square and the acquisition of Financial Systemware, Inc. (now known as Nasdaq
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Tools). In addition, Nasdaq continued to make capital investments in technology to continue to support Nasdaq's system capacity needs. The remaining cash used
in investing activities is attributable to purchases of investments with the proceeds of the Phase I of the Restructuring that exceeded the sales and maturities of
investments.

        Cash provided by financing activities was $288.3 million as of December 31, 2000, primarily due to the net proceeds received from Phase I that equalled
approximately $253.3 million. Nasdaq used the proceeds to invest in new technology, implement and form strategic alliances and build its brand identity through
marketing programs. Also contributing to cash provided from financing activities was $30.0 million in capital contributions to Nasdaq Europe Planning Company
Limited from the minority shareholders.

Liquidity and Capital Adequacy



        Nasdaq's Treasury Department manages Nasdaq's capital structure, funding, liquidity, collateral, and relationships with bankers, investment advisors and
creditors on a global basis. The Treasury Department works jointly with subsidiaries to manage internal and external borrowings.

        The Board of Directors approved a revised investment policy for Nasdaq and its subsidiaries for internally and externally managed portfolios. The goal of
the policy is to maintain adequate liquidity at all times and to fund current budgeted operating and capital requirements and to maximize return. All securities
must meet credit ratings as established by the policy, and will be denominated in subsidiary specific currencies, with maturities up to 24 months, and an average
life of not greater than 12 months. The policy prohibits debt interest in any contractor company where Nasdaq has a material contribution to the business of such
company and debt interest in an entity that derives more that 25% of its gross revenue from the combined broker/dealer and/or investment advisory of all of its
subsidiaries and affiliates. This policy will be reviewed annually, and regular reviews of investments and investment managers will also be made.

        Nasdaq has pledged certain investments as collateral for a $25.0 million loan to a financial institution. Collateral is limited to U.S. Government and Agency
securities with a margined value of approximately $28.6 million, and is invested in accordance with the note agreement.

        The majority of liquidity for Nasdaq and its subsidiaries is raised by Nasdaq. Nasdaq lends necessary funds from time to time to its equity and consolidated
subsidiaries to meet their working capital requirements.

Contractual Obligations and Contingent Commitments

        Nasdaq has contractual obligations to make future payments under long-term debt and long-term noncancelable lease agreements and has contingent
commitments under a variety of arrangements as discussed in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The following table sets forth these contractual
obligations as of December 31, 2001:

($ in thousands)

 

2002

 

2003-2004

 

2005-2006

 

2007 and
thereafter

 

Total

Long-term borrowings by contract maturity  $ 12,837 $ 48,604 $ 253,305 $ 30,765 $ 345,511
Minimum rental commitments under noncancelable
operating leases   14,913  30,489  30,054  127,676  203,132
Minimum rental commitments under capitalized leases   6,129  10,258  2,952  —  19,339

        In May 1997, Nasdaq entered into a $25.0 million note payable with a financial institution. Principal payments are scheduled to begin in 2007 and continue
in equal monthly installments until maturity in 2012.
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        On March 27, 2001, Nasdaq acquired 68.2% of Nasdaq Europe and has accounted for this acquisition under the purchase method of accounting. Nasdaq
Europe has $23.5 million of notes payable outstanding as of December 31, 2001. Principal payments are scheduled in 2003 and 2004.

        On May 3, 2001, Nasdaq issued and sold $240 million in aggregate principal amount of 4.0% convertible Subordinated Notes due 2006 to Hellman &
Friedman. See Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information regarding long-term borrowings.

        Nasdaq leases certain office space and equipment in connection with its operations. The majority of these leases contain escalation clauses based on
increases in property taxes and building operating costs. Minimum lease payments at December 31, 2001 were $203.1 million.

        As of December 31, 2001, Nasdaq had future minimum lease payments under noncancellable capital leases of $19.3 million.

        The Board of Directors of Nasdaq has approved a capital contribution of up to $13.0 million in Nasdaq Japan. This contribution is expected to take place
during 2002. Additionally, Nasdaq has committed to lend up to $5.0 million to Nasdaq Japan. As of December 31, 2001 $2.8 million has been loaned to Nasdaq
Japan with the remainder expected to be loaned in 2002.

        The Board of Directors of Nasdaq has approved a capital contribution of up to $25.0 million to Nasdaq LIFFE joint venture. Nasdaq made contributions of
$2.0 million in 2001. Additional contributions under this agreement are expected to be made during 2002.

        Nasdaq entered into a six-year $600 million contract with WorldCom in 1997 to design and support the network. The contract with WorldCom will
automatically renew for successive renewal periods unless it is previously terminated by one of the parties. As part of that contract, Nasdaq provided a guaranteed
revenue commitment to WorldCom of $300 million. Nasdaq is permitted to renegotiate the contract once the minimum guarantee is satisfied. Nasdaq expects to
meet this commitment by May 2002.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

        Market risk represents the risks of changes in the value of a financial instrument, derivative or non-derivative, caused by fluctuations in interest rates, foreign
exchange rates, and equity prices. As of December 31, 2001, Nasdaq's investment portfolio consists primarily of floating rate securities, obligations of U.S.
Government sponsored enterprises, municipal bonds, and commercial paper. Nasdaq's primary market risk is associated with fluctuations in interest rates and the
effects that such fluctuations may have on its investment portfolio and outstanding debt. The weighted average maturity of the fixed income portion of the
portfolio is four years as of December 31, 2001. Nasdaq's outstanding debt obligations generally specify fixed interest rates until May 2007 and a floating interest
rate based on the lender's cost of funds until maturity in 2012. The investment portfolio is held primarily in short-term investments with maturities averaging
approximately one year. Therefore, management does not believe that a 100 basis point fluctuation in market interest rates will have a material effect on the
carrying value of Nasdaq's investment portfolio or on Nasdaq earnings or cash flows. Nasdaq's exposure to these risks has not materially changed since
December 31, 2000.

        Nasdaq has exposure to foreign currency translation gains and losses due to its subsidiaries and equity method investments. Nasdaq has not hedged its
accounting translation exposure to foreign currency fluctuations relative to these investments. However, Nasdaq expects to periodically re-evaluate its foreign
currency hedging policies and may choose in the future to enter into such transactions.
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Critical Accounting Policies

        Nasdaq's consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, which requires the
use of estimates and assumptions (see Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements). Nasdaq believes the following critical accounting policies, among others,
affect the more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of the statements:

        Revenue Recognition.    Market information services revenues (28.1% of total revenues in 2001) are based on the number of presentation devices in service
and quotes delivered through those devices. These revenues are recorded net of amounts due under revenue sharing arrangements with market participants.
Market information services revenues are recognized in the month that information is provided. Transaction services revenues (47.7% of total revenues in 2001)
are variable based on service volumes and are recognized as transactions occur. Corporate Client Group services revenues (18.2% of total revenues in 2001) are
recognized in a number of ways. Annual fee revenue are recognized ratably over the following 12-month period. Effective January 1, 2000, initial listing and
LAS fees are recognized in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin 101, "Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements" ("SAB 101"), on a straight line basis
over estimated service periods, which are six and four years, respectively. These estimated service periods are based on historical average listing lives of issuers.
Prior to 2000, initial listing fees were recognized in the month listing occurred and LAS fees were recognized in the period the incremental shares were issued.
The change in accounting for these fees is more fully described in Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

        Software Costs.    Significant purchased application software, and operational software that is an integral part of computer hardware, are capitalized and
amortized on the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, generally two to seven years. All other purchased software is charged to expense as
incurred.

        Nasdaq adopted Statement of Position 98-1, "Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use" ("SOP 98-1"),
effective January 1, 1999. SOP 98-1 requires that certain costs incurred in connection with developing or obtaining internal use software be capitalized. Under the
provisions of this SOP, Nasdaq capitalizes internal and third party costs incurred in connection with the development of internal use software.

        Related Party Transactions.    Related party receivables and payables are the result of various transactions between Nasdaq and its affiliates. Payables to
related parties are comprised primarily of the regulation charge from NASDR, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the NASD. NASDR charges Nasdaq for costs
incurred related to Nasdaq market regulation and enforcement. Support charges from the NASD to Nasdaq represent another significant component of payables to
related parties. The support charge includes an allocation of a portion of the NASD's administrative expenses as well as its costs incurred to develop and maintain
technology on behalf of Nasdaq. The remaining component of payables to related parties is cash disbursements funded by the NASD on behalf of Nasdaq. All
related party transactions are currently charged at cost.

        Receivables from related parties are primarily attributable to costs incurred by Amex and funded by Nasdaq related to various Amex technology projects.
The remaining portion of the receivable from related parties balance is related to cash disbursements funded by Nasdaq on behalf of its affiliates.

        Until Exchange Registration, the NASD will retain voting control over Nasdaq. See "Item 1. Business—Nasdaq's History and Structure" and "Item 5. Market
for Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters—Unregistered Offerings." In addition, five of the 18 members of the Nasdaq Board are
currently members of the NASD Board. Until Exchange Registration, the NASD will be in a position to continue to control substantially all matters affecting
Nasdaq, including any determination with respect to the direction and policies of Nasdaq, acquisition or disposition of assets,
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future issuances of securities of Nasdaq, Nasdaq's incurrence of debt, and any dividend payable on the Common Stock.

        Conflicts of interest may arise between Nasdaq and the NASD, or its affiliates, in a number of areas relating to their past and ongoing relationships,
including the nature, quality, and pricing of services rendered; shared marketing functions; tax and employee benefit matters; indemnity agreements; sales or
distributions by the NASD of all or any portion of its ownership interest in Nasdaq; or the NASD's ability to influence certain affairs of Nasdaq prior to Exchange
Registration.

        Nasdaq has agreed to fund a portion of the necessary expenses related to the separation of software, hardware, and data under a plan to transition technology
applications and support from Nasdaq to Amex. The NASD originally integrated Nasdaq and Amex technology subsequent to the 1998 acquisition of Amex by
the NASD. The total estimated cost of the separation has been established at a maximum of $29.0 million, and is to be shared evenly between Nasdaq and the
NASD. Nasdaq has accrued $9.2 million of its $14.5 million commitment as of December 31, 2001.

        Provision for Bad Debts.    Nasdaq evaluates the collectibility of accounts receivable based on a combination of factors. In circumstances where a specific
customer's inability to meet its financial obligations is known (bankruptcy filings, substantial downgrading of credit scores), Nasdaq records a specific provision
for bad debts against amounts due to reduce the receivable to the amount it reasonably believes will be collected. For all other customers, provisions for bad debts
are made based on the length of time the receivable is past due and historical experience. For receivables past due for over 60, 90, and 120 days, 10%, 50%, and
100%, respectively, of the outstanding balances are reserved for. If circumstances change (i.e., higher than expected defaults or an unexpected material adverse
change in a major customer's ability to pay), our estimates of recoverability could be reduced by a material amount.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

        In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations," and SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets," ("SFAS 142")
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. Under the new rules, goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives will no longer
be amortized but will be subject to annual impairment tests. Other intangible assets will continue to be amortized over their useful lives. Nasdaq will apply the
new rules on accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets beginning in the first quarter of 2002. Application of the nonamortization provisions of
SFAS 142 is not expected to have a material impact to Nasdaq's financial position or results of operations. During 2002, Nasdaq will perform the first of the
required impairment tests of goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets as of January 1, 2002. Nasdaq does not expect the effect of these tests to have a
material impact on its earnings and financial position.
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Quarterly Results from Operations

(Unaudited, in thousands, except earnings per share information)

 

1st Qtr
2000

 

2nd Qtr
2000

 

3rd Qtr
2000

 

4th Qtr
2000

 

Total 2000

 
Total revenues  $ 207,015 $ 211,504 $ 202,720 $ 211,472 $ 832,711 
Total expenses   131,224  139,753  161,843  203,871  636,691 
       
Net operating income   75,791  71,751  40,877  7,601  196,020 
Interest income   2,200  3,205  5,519  9,187  20,111 
Interest expense   (483)  (476)  (718)  (453)  (2,130)
Minority interests   —  —  —  872  872 
Provision for income taxes   (31,158)  (29,181)  (23,649)  (6,489)  (90,477)
       
Income before cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle   46,350  45,299  22,029  10,718  124,396 
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle   (101,090)  —  —  —  (101,090)
       
Net (loss) income  $ (54,740) $ 45,299 $ 22,029 $ 10,718 $ 23,306 
       
Basic and diluted earnings per share:                 

 
Before cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle  $ 0.46 $ 0.45 $ 0.18 $ 0.09 $ 1.11 

 
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle   (1.01)  —  —  —  (0.90)

       
 Net (loss) income  $ (0.55) $ 0.45 $ 0.18 $ 0.09 $ 0.21 
       
Pro forma amounts assuming the accounting change is
applied retroactively:                 
  Total revenues  $ 207,015          $ 832,711 
  Net income  $ 46,350          $ 124,396 
  Basic and diluted earnings per share  $ 0.46          $ 1.11 

(Unaudited, in thousands, except earnings per share information)

 

1st Qtr
2001

 

2nd Qtr
2001

 

3rd Qtr
2001

 

4th Qtr
2001

 

Total 2001

 
Total revenues  $ 222,767 $ 221,306 $ 197,708 $ 215,451 $ 857,232 
Total expenses   180,673  188,573  190,954  236,897  797,097 
       
Net operating income   42,094  32,733  6,754  (21,446)  60,135 
Interest income   6,170  3,807  6,672  5,954  22,603 
Interest expense   (480)  (1,970)  (2,997)  (4,200)  (9,647)
Minority interests   217  1,765  3,252  470  5,704 
Provision for income taxes   (21,808)  (16,753)  (5,736)  5,965  (38,332)
       
Net income (loss)  $ 26,193 $ 19,582 $ 7,945 $ (13,257) $ 40,463 
       
Basic earnings per share  $ 0.21 $ 0.17 $ 0.07 $ (0.12) $ 0.35 
       
Diluted earnings per share  $ 0.21 $ 0.16 $ 0.07 $ (0.12) $ 0.35 
       

Item 7A.    Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk. 

        Information about quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk is incorporated herein by reference from "Item 7. Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk."
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Item 8.    Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. 

        Nasdaq's consolidated financial statements, including consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, consolidated statements of income for
the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, consolidated statements of changes in stockholders' equity for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999, consolidated statements cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, and notes to our consolidated financial statements, together
with a report thereon of Ernst & Young LLP, dated March 6, 2002, are attached hereto as pages F-1 through F-29.



Item 9.    Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. 

        Not applicable.

Part III 

Item 10.    Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant. 

        Information about Nasdaq's directors is incorporated by reference from the discussion under Proposal 1 in Nasdaq's Proxy Statement for the 2002 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders. The balance of the response to this item is contained in the discussion entitled "Executive Officers" under Item 1 of Part I of this report.

Item 11.    Executive Compensation. 

        Information about executive compensation is incorporated by reference from the discussion under the heading "Executive Compensation" in Nasdaq's Proxy
Statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 12.    Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters. 

        Information about security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is incorporated by reference from the discussion under the heading
"Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" in Nasdaq's Proxy Statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 13.    Certain Relationships and Related Transactions. 

        Information about certain relationships and transactions with related parties is incorporated herein by reference from the discussion under the heading
"Certain Relationships and Related Transactions" in Nasdaq's Proxy Statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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Part IV 

Item 14.    Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K. 

(a)(1)    Financial Statements

See "Index to Consolidated Financial Statements."

(a)(2)    Financial Statement Schedules

None.

        All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission are not required under
the related instructions or are inapplicable, and therefore have been omitted.

(a)(3)    Exhibits:

Exhibit
Number

  
3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.(+)
3.2 By-Laws of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.(#)
3.3 Certificate of Designations of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.'s Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock.
3.4 Certificate of Designations of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.'s Series B Preferred Stock.
4.1 Form of Common Stock certificate.(+)
9.1 Voting Trust Agreement dated June 28, 2000, among The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.

and The Bank of New York.(+)
9.2 First Amendment to the Voting Trust Agreement, dated as of January 18, 2001, among The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., the National

Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and The Bank of New York.(+)
10.1 Network Service Agreement, dated November 19, 1997, between MCI Telecommunications Corporation and The Nasdaq Stock

Market, Inc.*(+)
10.2 Consolidated Agreement, between Unisys Corporation and The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.*(+)
10.3 Network User License Agreement, dated November 30, 1993, between Oracle Corporation and The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.*(+)
10.4 Software License and Services Agreement, dated November 30, 1993, between Oracle Corporation and The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.*(+)
10.5 Regulatory Services Agreement, dated June 28, 2000, between NASD Regulation, Inc. and The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.*(+)
10.6 Separation and Common Services Agreement, dated as of June 28, 2000, between the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and

The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.(+)
10.7 The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.(+)
10.8 The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. Equity Incentive Plan.(+)
10.9 Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 23, 2001, among The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., Hellman & Friedman Capital



Partners IV, L.P. and the other purchasers listed in the signature pages thereto.(+)
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10.9.1 Securityholders Agreement, dated as of May 3, 2001, among The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., Hellman & Friedman Capital Partners IV, L.P.,
and the other securityholders listed on the signature pages thereto.(^)

10.10 Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated March 23, 2001, by and between the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and The Nasdaq
Stock Market, Inc.(+)

10.11 Employment Agreement between the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and Frank G. Zarb effective on February 24, 1997.(+)
10.12 Instrument of Amendment, dated March 18, 1998, to Employment Agreement between National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and

Frank G. Zarb, effective on February 24, 1997.(+)
10.13 Instrument of Amendment, dated as of August 20, 1999, to Employment Agreement between National Association of Securities

Dealers, Inc. and Frank G. Zarb, effective on February 24, 1997, as amended effective March 18, 1998.(+)
10.14 Instrument of Amendment, dated March 30, 2000, to Employment Agreement between National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and

Frank G. Zarb, effective on February 24, 1997, as amended effective March 18, 1998, and subsequently amended on August 20, 1999.(+)
10.15 Instrument of Amendment, effective as of July 27, 2000, to Employment Agreement between National Association of Securities

Dealers, Inc. and Frank G. Zarb, effective on February 24, 1997, as amended effective March 18, 1998, and subsequently amended in
August, 1999, and subsequently amended on March 30, 2000.(+)

10.16 Instrument of Amendment, effective as of November 1, 2000, to Employment Agreement between National Association of Securities
Dealers, Inc. and Frank G. Zarb, effective on February 24, 1997, as amended effective March 18, 1998, and subsequently amended in
August, 1999, and subsequently amended on March 30, 2000, and as of July 27, 2000.(+)

10.17 Instrument of Amendment, effective as of April 25, 2001, to Employment Agreement between National Association of Securities
Dealers, Inc., The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., and Frank G. Zarb, effective on February 24, 1997, as subsequently amended effective
March 18, 1998, August 20, 1999, March 30, 2000, July 27, 2000 and November 1, 2000.(+)

10.18 Letter Agreement, dated July 22, 2001, among Frank G. Zarb, the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and The Nasdaq Stock
Market, Inc.(—)

10.19 Employment Agreement by and between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and John L. Hilley, effective as of December 29, 2000.(+)
10.19.1 Amendment One to the Employment Agreement by and between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and John L. Hilley, effective as of

February 1, 2002.
10.20 Employment Agreement by and between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and Richard G. Ketchum, effective as of December 29, 2000.(+)

10.20.1 Amendment One to the Employment Agreement by and between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and Richard G. Ketchum, effective as of
February 1, 2002.

10.21 Employment Agreement by and between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and Hardwick Simmons, dated December 7, 2000, effective as of
February 1, 2001.(+)

10.21.1 Amendment Number One to the Employment Agreement by and between the The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., and Hardwick Simmons,
effective as of February 1, 2001. (+)

10.21.2 Amendment Number Two to the Employment Agreement by and between the The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., and Hardwick Simmons,
effective as of February 1, 2002.
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10.22 Employment Letter, dated May 31, 1996, from the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. to Alfred R. Berkeley, III.(#)
10.23 Employment Letter from The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. to David Weild IV, dated March 8, 2001 as amended and restated March 21, 2002.
10.24 Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of February 20, 2002, by and between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., and the National Association

of Securities Dealers, Inc.
10.24.1 Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of February 20, 2002, between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., and the National Association of

Securities Dealers, Inc. (~)
10.25 Separation Agreement, dated as of December 12, 2001, by and between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and J. Patrick Campbell.

10.25.1 Employment Agreement by and between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and J. Patrick Campbell, effective as of December 29, 2000. (+)
10.26 Loan Agreement, dated December 28, 2001, by and between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and David P. Warren.
10.27 Loan Agreement, dated December 30, 2001, by and between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and Steven Dean Furbush.

11 Statement regarding computation of per share earnings (incorporated herein by reference to "Item 14. Exhibits, Financial Statement
Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K" of this Form 10-K).

21.1 List of all subsidiaries.
23.1 Consent of Independent Auditors.
24.1 Powers of Attorney.

* Confidential treatment has been requested from the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission for certain portions of this exhibit. 

(+) Previously filed with The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form 10 (file number 000-32651) filed on April 30, 2001. 

(^) Previously filed with The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.'s Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form 10 (file number 000-32651) filed on May 14,
2001. 

(—) Previously filed with The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.'s Amendment No. 4 to Registration Statement on Form 10 (file number 000-32651) filed on
August 31, 2001. 

(#) Previously filed with The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.'s Amendment No. 5 to Registration Statement on Form 10 (file number 000-32651) filed on
November 16, 2001. 

(~) Previously filed with The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 22, 2002. 

(b) Reports on Form 8-K:



None.

(c) Exhibits:

See Item 14(a)(3) above.

(d) Financial Statement Schedules:

See Item 14(a)(2) above.
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SIGNATURES 

        Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on March 27, 2002.

  THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.

  By  /s/  HARDWICK SIMMONS      

    Name:  Hardwick Simmons
    Title:  Chairman of the Board and

Chief Executive Officer

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
in the capacities indicated as of March 27, 2002.

Name

 

Title

/s/  HARDWICK SIMMONS      

Hardwick Simmons

 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/  DAVID P. WARREN      

David P. Warren

 Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

*

Dr. Josef Ackermann  Director

*

H. Furlong Baldwin  Director

*

Frank E. Baxter  Director

*

Michael Casey  Director

*

Michael W. Clark  Director

   

64

William S. Cohen  Director

*

F. Warren Hellman  Director

/s/  RICHARD G. KETCHUM       President and Director



Richard G. Ketchum

*

John D. Markese  Director

*

E. Stanley O'Neal  Director

Vikram S. Pandit  Director

*

Kenneth D. Pasternak  Director

*

David S. Pottruck  Director

*

Arthur Rock  Director

*

Richard C. Romano  Director

*

Arvind Sodhani  Director

*

Sir Martin Sorrell  Director

* Pursuant to Power of Attorney

     
By:  /s/  EDWARD S. KNIGHT      

Edward S. Knight
Attorney-in-Fact
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INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

        The following consolidated financial statements of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and its subsidiaries are presented herein on the page indicated:

Report of Independent Auditors  F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets  F-3
Consolidated Statements of Income  F-4
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity  F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  F-7

F-1

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Board of Directors
The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.

        We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. ("Nasdaq") as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the
related consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001.
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of Nasdaq's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audits.



        We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

        In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Nasdaq at
December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

        As discussed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2000, Nasdaq changed its method of accounting for certain Corporate
Client Group services revenue.

   
  Ernst & Young LLP

New York, NY
March 6, 2002   

F-2

The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 

(in thousands, except share and par value amounts) 

  

December 31,

 

  

2001

 

2000

 
Assets        
Current assets:        
 Cash and cash equivalents  $ 293,731 $ 262,257 
 Investments:        
  Available-for-sale, at fair value   228,029  232,090 
  Held-to-maturity, at amortized cost   —  21,967 
 Receivables, net   194,040  172,660 
 Receivables from related parties   34,953  8,250 
 Deferred tax asset   51,170  32,367 
 Other current assets   13,249  14,869 
    

Total current assets   815,172  744,460 
Investments:        
 Held-to-maturity, at amortized cost   28,569  6,612 
Property and equipment:        
 Land, buildings and improvements   88,861  80,727 
 Data processing equipment and software   441,928  363,332 
 Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements   184,572  134,638 
    

   715,361  578,697 
 Less accumulated depreciation and amortization   (336,528)  (252,380)
    

Total property and equipment, net   378,833  326,317 
Non-current deferred tax asset   74,987  61,257 
Other assets   28,690  25,753 
    

Total assets  $ 1,326,251 $ 1,164,399 
    

Liabilities        
Current liabilities:        
 Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ 111,676 $ 111,133 
 Accrued personnel costs   43,744  36,514 
 Deferred revenue   65,366  66,178 
 Other accrued liabilities   47,296  29,879 
 Current obligation under capital lease   4,454  5,495 
 Due to banks   11,460  13,876 
 Payables to related parties   9,556  19,158 
    

Total current liabilities   293,552  282,233 
Long-term liabilities:        
 Senior notes   48,548  25,000 
 Subordinated notes   240,000  — 
Non-current obligation under capital lease   12,125  9,107 
Accrued pension costs   24,064  10,390 
Non-current deferred tax liability   41,981  32,116 
Deferred revenue non-current   121,687  138,166 
Other liabilities   20,529  6,685 



    
Total long-term liabilities   508,934  221,464 
Total liabilities   802,486  503,697 
Minority interests   5,377  15,543 
Stockholders' equity        
Common stock, $.01 par value, 300,000,000 authorized, shares issued: 130,161,823 in 2001 and 123,663,746 in 2000; shares
outstanding: 111,700,285 in 2001 and 123,663,746 in 2000   1,302  1,237 
Additional paid-in capital   348,457  273,387 
Common stock in treasury, at cost: 18,461,538 shares in 2001 and 0 shares in 2000   (240,000)  — 
Accumulated other comprehensive income   (6,976)  (1,892)
Deferred stock compensation   (3,350)  — 
Common stock issuable   6,065  — 
Retained earnings   412,890  372,427 
    

Total stockholders' equity   518,388  645,159 
    

Total liabilities, minority interest and stockholders' equity  $ 1,326,251 $ 1,164,399 
    

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 

Consolidated Statements of Income 

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts) 

  

Years ended December 31,

 

  

2001

 

2000

 

1999

 
Revenue           
Transaction services  $ 408,770 $ 395,123 $ 283,652 
Market information services   240,524  258,251  186,543 
Corporate Client Group services   156,124  149,297  163,425 
Other   51,814  30,040  628 
     
 Total revenue   857,232  832,711  634,248 
     
Expenses           
Compensation and benefits   183,369  137,284  98,129 
Marketing and advertising   28,017  45,908  62,790 
Depreciation and amortization   93,400  65,645  43,696 
Professional and contract services   76,049  61,483  35,282 
Computer operations and data communications   174,939  138,228  100,493 
Provision for bad debts   15,459  5,554  2,978 
Travel, meetings and training   14,593  12,113  10,230 
Occupancy   27,183  14,766  6,591 
Publications, supplies and postage   11,998  7,181  4,670 
Disaster related   23,208  —  — 
Technology transition costs   9,200  —  — 
Other   37,883  20,007  19,688 
     
 Total direct expenses   695,298  508,169  384,547 
Support cost from related parties, net   101,799  128,522  115,189 
     
 Total expenses   797,097  636,691  499,736 
     
Net operating income   60,135  196,020  134,512 
Interest income   22,603  20,111  12,201 
Interest expense   (9,647)  (2,130)  (2,143)
Minority interests   5,704  872  — 
     
Net income before taxes   78,795  214,873  144,570 
Provision for income taxes   (38,332)  (90,477)  (58,421)
     
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle   40,463  124,396  86,149 
     
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of taxes of $67,956 (Note
4)   —  (101,090)  — 
     
 Net income  $ 40,463 $ 23,306 $ 86,149 
     
Basic and diluted earnings per share:           
 Before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle  $ 0.35 $ 1.11 $ 0.86 
     



 Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle   —  (0.90)  — 
     
 Net income  $ 0.35 $ 0.21 $ 0.86 
     
Pro forma amounts assuming the accounting change is applied retroactively:           
 Total revenue     $ 832,711 $ 607,203 
       

 Net income     $ 124,396 $ 69,944 
       

 Basic and diluted earnings per share     $ 1.11 $ 0.70 
       

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity

(in thousands, except share amounts)

  

Number of
Common

Shares
Outstanding (1)

 

Common
Stock (1)

 

Additional
Paid in

Capita1 (1)

 

Treasury
Stock

 

Retained
Earnings

 

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

 

Deferred
Stock

Compensation

 

Common
Stock

Issuable

 

Total

 
Balance, January 1, 1999  100,000,000 $ 1,000 $ 149 $ — $ 262,972 $ 2,020 $ — $ — $ 266,141 
 Net income  —  —  —  —  86,149  —  —  —  86,149 

 Change in unrealized losses on available-for-sale
investments, net of tax of $(149)  —  —  —  —  —  (278)  —  —  (278)

                          

 Comprehensive income for the year ended
December 31, 1999  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  85,871 

           

Balance, December 31, 1999  100,000,000 $ 1,000 $ 149 $ — $ 349,121 $ 1,742 $ — $ — $ 352,012 
 Net income  —  —  —  —  23,306  —  —  —  23,306 

 Change in unrealized losses on available-for-sale
investments, net of tax of $765  —  —  —  —  —  (1,421)  —  —  (1,421)

 Foreign currency translation net of minority interests
of $(1,185)  —  —  —  —  —  (2,213)  —  —  (2,213)

                          

 Comprehensive income for the year ended
December 31, 2000  —  —  —  —  —  —        19,672 

                          

 Capital contribution  —  —  30,000  —  —  —  —  —  30,000 

 
Minority interest resulting from original share of
equity in Nasdaq Europe Planning Company
Limited  —  —  (17,600)  —  —  —  —  —  (17,600)

 Adjustment to carrying amount of investment in
Nasdaq Japan due to its private placement  —  —  7,784  —  —  —  —  —  7,784 

 Net proceeds from Phase I offering  23,663,746  237  253,054  —  —  —  —  —  253,291 
           

Balance, December 31, 2000  123,663,746 $ 1,237 $ 273,387 $ — $ 372,427 $ (1,892) $ — $ — $ 645,159 
 Net income  —  —  —  —  40,463  —  —  —  40,463 

 Change in unrealized losses on available-for-sale
investments, net of tax of $(1,030)  —  —  —  —  —  918  —  —  918 

 Foreign currency translation, net of minority
interests of $340 and net of tax of $(380)  —  —  —  —  —  (4,607)  —  —  (4,607)

 Minimum pension liability, net of tax of $900  —  —  —  —  —  (1,395)  —  —  (1,395)
                          

 Comprehensive income for the year ended
December 31, 2001  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  35,379 

                          

 Net proceeds from Phase II offering  5,028,797  50  63,638  —  —  —  —  —  63,688 
 Sale of subsidiary stock  —  —  6,930  —  —  —  —  —  6,930 

 Purchase of minority interests in Nasdaq Europe
Planning Company Limited  —  —  (12,400)  —  —  —  —  —  (12,400)

 Sale of warrants to purchase common stock  —  —  1,438  —  —  —  —  —  1,438 
 Purchase of common stock for treasury  (18,461,538)  —  —  (240,000)  —  —  —  —  (240,000)
 Restricted stock awards, net of forfeitures  —  —  —  —  —  —  (7,465)  7,465  — 
 Amortization and vesting of restricted stock  107,700  1  1,399  —  —  —  4,115  (1,400)  4,115 

 Other purchases of common stock by related parties
or affiliated entities  1,361,580  14  14,065  —  —  —  —  —  14,079 

           

Balance, December 31, 2001  111,700,285 $ 1,302 $ 348,457 $ (240,000) $ 412,890 $ (6,976) $ (3,350) $ 6,065 $ 518,388 
           

(1) Gives effect to the June 28, 2000 49,999-for-one common stock dividend for the year ended December 31, 1999. 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

(in thousands) 

  

Years ended December 31,

 

  

2001

 

2000

 

1999

 
Reconciliation of net income to cash provided by operating activities           
Net income  $ 40,463 $ 23,306 $ 86,149 
Non-cash items included in net income:           
 Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of taxes   —  101,090  — 
 Depreciation and amortization   93,400  65,645  43,696 
 Amortization of restricted stock awards and other stock-based compensation   6,883  3,788  — 
 Minority interest   (5,704)  (872)  — 
 Provision for bad debts   15,459  5,554  2,978 
 Loss from equity-method affiliates   17,224  2,160  — 
 Deferred taxes   (23,178)  (67,063)  340 
 Other non-cash items included in net income   3,550  3,131  1,114 

Net change in:           
 Receivables, net   (33,309)  (65,439)  (42,875)
 Receivables from related parties   (33,457)  (1,082)  2,497 
 Other current assets   2,112  (2,168)  (6,521)
 Other assets   (22,297)  (8,850)  4,866 
 Accounts payable and accrued expenses   (11,608)  55,490  19,315 
 Accrued personnel costs   6,804  6,460  9,303 
 Deferred revenue   (17,484)  103,254  1,413 
 Other accrued liabilities   16,846  12,742  2,580 
 Obligation under capital lease   1,977  (14,237)  (397)
 Payables to related parties   (11,555)  7,416  7,931 
 Accrued pension costs   10,329  3,317  2,507 
 Other liabilities   8,575  21,912  229 
     
Cash provided by operating activities   65,030  255,554  135,125 

Cash flow from investing activities           
 Proceeds from redemptions of available-for-sale investments   369,573  154,931  107,328 
 Purchases of available-for-sale investments   (366,438)  (237,241)  (131,291)
 Proceeds from maturities of held-to-maturity investments   25,465  10,811  30,743 
 Purchases of held-to-maturity investments   (25,455)  (10,973)  (30,990)
 Acquisition, net of cash acquired   4,990  (16,979)  — 
 Purchases of property and equipment   (122,555)  (195,900)  (110,989)
 Proceeds from sales of property and equipment   5,224  3,108  4,042 
     
Cash used in investing activities   (109,196)  (292,243)  (131,157)

Cash flow from financing activities           
 (Decrease) increase in due to banks   (2,416)  5,057  3,876 
 Proceeds from Phase I and Phase II private placement offering   63,688  253,291  — 
 Payments for treasury stock purchases   (240,000)  —  — 
 Increase in long-term debt   251,592  —  — 
 Purchase of minority interests in Nasdaq Europe Planning Company Limited   (27,361)  —  — 
 Issuances of common stock   14,079  —  — 
 Issuance of shares by subsidiary   16,058  —  — 
 Contributions from minority shareholders   —  30,000  — 
     
Cash provided by financing activities   75,640  288,348  3,876 
Increase in cash and cash equivalents   31,474  251,659  7,844 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   262,257  10,598  2,754 
     
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  $ 293,731 $ 262,257 $ 10,598 
     

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

1. Organization and Nature of Operations

        The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. ("Nasdaq"), operates the world's largest electronic, screen-based equity securities market and the world's largest equity
securities market based on share volume. Nasdaq is the parent company of Nasdaq Global Holdings ("Nasdaq Global"); Quadsan Enterprises, Inc. ("Quadsan");
Nasdaq Tools, Inc. ("Nasdaq Tools"); Nasdaq Financial Products Services, Inc. ("Nasdaq Financial Products"), formerly Nasdaq Investment Product
Services, Inc.; Nasdaq International Market Initiatives, Inc. ("NIMI"); Nasdaq Canada, Inc. ("Nasdaq Canada"); and Nasdaq European Planning Company,
Limited ("Nasdaq Europe Planning"); collectively referred to as "Nasdaq". These entities are wholly-owned by Nasdaq. At December 31, 2001, Nasdaq also owns
an approximate 60% majority interest in Nasdaq Europe S.A./N.V. ("Nasdaq Europe"), and a 50% interest in Nasdaq LIFFE Markets, LLC.

        Nasdaq Global, which is incorporated in Switzerland, is the holding company for Nasdaq's investments in IndigoMarketssm Ltd. ("IndigoMarkets") and
Nasdaq Japan, Inc. ("Nasdaq Japan"), in which it had 55.0% and 39.7% interests, respectively, as of December 31, 2001. Quadsan is a Delaware investment
holding company that provides investment management services for Nasdaq. Nasdaq Tools provides software products and services related to the broker-dealer
industry to be used in conjunction with Nasdaq Workstation II software. Nasdaq Financial Products is the sponsor of the Nasdaq-100 Trust. NIMI offers a variety
of consulting services to assist emerging and established securities markets around the world with both technology applications and regulation. Nasdaq Canada
was created to develop a new securities market within Canada under a cooperative agreement with the Provincial Government of Quebec. Nasdaq Europe
Planning was formed to expand Nasdaq into the European community; however, it has been inactive due to the purchase of Nasdaq Europe. Nasdaq Europe is a
pan-European market headquartered in Brussels.

        Nasdaq is a majority owned subsidiary of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. (the "NASD"). At a special meeting of the NASD members
held on April 14, 2000, a majority of NASD members approved a plan to broaden the ownership in Nasdaq through a two-phase private placement to all NASD
members, Nasdaq issuers and institutional investor firms. The two phases consisted of (1) newly-issued shares of Nasdaq common stock, $.01 par value per share
(the "Common Stock") and (2) additional shares of Common Stock and warrants to purchase shares of outstanding common stock owned by the NASD (the
transactions collectively, the "Restructuring"). The Restructuring was intended, among other things, to strategically realign the ownership of Nasdaq, minimize
potential conflicts of interest between Nasdaq and NASD Regulation, Inc. ("NASDR") and allow Nasdaq to respond to current and future competitive challenges
caused by technological advances and the increasing globalization of financial markets.

        In connection with the first phase of the Restructuring ("Phase I"); (1) the NASD separated the American Stock Exchange LLC ("Amex") from The Nasdaq-
Amex Market Group, Inc. ("Market Group"), a holding company that was a subsidiary of the NASD; (2) Market Group was merged with and into Nasdaq;
(3) Nasdaq effected a 49,999-for-one stock dividend creating 100 million shares of Common Stock outstanding (all of which were initially owned by the NASD);
and (4) Nasdaq authorized the issuance of an additional 30.9 million new shares to be offered for sale by Nasdaq. All share and per share amounts have been
retroactively adjusted to reflect the stock dividend.

        Phase I closed on June 28, 2000 with Nasdaq selling 23.7 million of its newly issued shares, yielding net proceeds of approximately $253.3 million. As of
December 31, 2000, the NASD owned approximately 81% of Nasdaq on a non-diluted basis.
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        The second phase of the Restructuring ("Phase II") closed on January 18, 2001, with Nasdaq selling approximately 5.0 million shares, yielding net proceeds
of approximately $63.7 million. At December 31, 2001, the NASD owned approximately 69% of Nasdaq on a non-diluted basis and 25% on a fully-diluted basis.
This reflects the sale by the NASD of 4.5 million shares of Common Stock and warrants to purchase 43.2 million shares of Common Stock in Phases I and II of
the Restructuring, the repurchase by Nasdaq of 18.5 million shares of Common Stock from the NASD in May 2001 and the assumed conversion of all potentially
dilutive securities.

        Nasdaq operates in one segment as defined in the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 131, "Disclosures About Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information." Nasdaq uses a multiple market maker system to operate its electronic, screen-based equity market. Nasdaq's principal
business products are price discovery and trading services, the sale of related market data and information, and the listing of securities. The majority of this
business is transacted with Nasdaq listed companies, market data vendors and firms in the broker-dealer industry within the United States.

2. Significant Transactions

Hellman and Friedman Capital Partners, IV

        On May 3, 2001, Nasdaq issued and sold $240.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 4.0% convertible subordinated notes due 2006 (the "Subordinated
Notes") to Hellman & Friedman Capital Partners IV, L.P. and certain of its affiliated limited partnerships (collectively, "Hellman & Friedman"). Nasdaq used the
proceeds from the sale of the Subordinated Notes to purchase 18,461,538 shares of Common Stock from the NASD for $13.00 per share. On November 12, 2001,
Nasdaq sold an aggregate amount of 500,000 shares of Common Stock to Hellman & Friedman for an aggregate offering price of $5,125,000 which was the fair
value at that date. See Note 10 for more information on the Subordinated Notes. See Note 18 for more information on the purchase of Common Stock.

Nasdaq Europe S.A./N.V.

        On March 27, 2001, Nasdaq acquired a 68.2% ownership interest in the European Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation S.A./N.V.,
("EASDAQ"), a pan-European market headquartered in Brussels for approximately $12.5 million. Nasdaq has renamed the company Nasdaq Europe S.A./N.V.
("Nasdaq Europe") and is in the process of restructuring it into a globally linked, pan-European market.

        Nasdaq's acquisition of Nasdaq Europe has been accounted for under the purchase method of accounting, and, accordingly, assets acquired and liabilities
assumed have been recorded at estimated fair value at the date of acquisition, resulting in the initial recording of goodwill of approximately $4.7 million. The



results of operations of Nasdaq Europe have been included in the Consolidated Statements of Income from its date of acquisition.

        During 2001, Nasdaq purchased an additional 2% ownership of Nasdaq Europe for approximately $6.0 million, and sold 1.2% of its ownership to a third
party. Nasdaq Europe sold additional shares representing a 9.0% ownership interest for approximately $13.9 million to third party investors, thereby reducing
Nasdaq's ownership interest from 68.2% to approximately 60% at December 31, 2001. As a result of Nasdaq Europe's sale of additional shares to third party
investors, Nasdaq recorded an increase of $7.7 million, to stockholders' equity, to reflect its adjusted share of the book value of Nasdaq Europe.

Nasdaq Europe Planning Company Limited

        In February 2000, the NASD formed a joint venture, Nasdaq Europe Planning, with SOFTBANK Corp. of Japan ("Softbank"), and two other partners,
whereby each partner contributed $10.0 million in
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cash. The NASD contributed $10.0 million, licensing of its brand and provided technology expertise and management leadership in exchange for a 56% interest
in this venture. As part of the Restructuring, the NASD's ownership interest in Nasdaq Europe Planning was transferred to Nasdaq Global.

        Nasdaq Europe Planning's proposed joint venture did not occur due to a strategic decision to pursue a strategy for European expansion through the
acquisition in March 2001 of a controlling interest of Nasdaq Europe rather than through Nasdaq Europe Planning. As a result, Nasdaq agreed to repurchase the
ownership interests of the three other shareholders in Nasdaq Europe Planning for $10.0 million each, thereby unwinding the joint venture. Repurchases from two
of the shareholders, for a total of $20.0 million, were completed in the first quarter of 2001. The repurchase from the third shareholder was completed in the
fourth quarter of 2001 for aggregate consideration estimated at $10.0 million, comprised of cash of $7.4 million, a warrant to purchase up to 479,648 shares of
Common Stock, and 7,211 shares of Nasdaq Europe. As of December 31, 2001, Nasdaq owned 100% of Nasdaq Europe Planning.

Nasdaq Tools, Inc.

        On March 7, 2000, Nasdaq acquired Financial Systemware, Inc. ("Financial Systemware", now known as Nasdaq Tools), a company that develops and
markets a set of software utilities that can be loaded on a Nasdaq Workstation II terminal to enhance the features and functionalities of Nasdaq Workstation II
software. This acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting.

        Upon consummation of the transaction, Nasdaq acquired 100% of Nasdaq Tools' issued and outstanding stock for $7.3 million. The goodwill of $6.5 million
recorded as a result of the acquisition is being amortized on a straight-line basis over five years. The Nasdaq Tools' principals, ("the sellers"), were paid
$10.0 million upon closing, which is being recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over five years. In addition, the sellers were entitled to additional cash
payments to be paid over the five years following closing, contingent upon their continued employment and development efforts on behalf of Nasdaq Tools.
During 2001, $3.0 million was paid to the principals pursuant to this transaction. The unamortized goodwill and other intangible assets related to the acquisition
of Nasdaq Tools are $4.1 million and $6.3 million, and $5.4 million and $8.3 million as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively, and are included in other
assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Nasdaq LIFFE Markets, LLC.

        On June 1, 2001, Nasdaq and the London International Financial Futures and Options Exchange ("LIFFE") formed Nasdaq LIFFE Markets, LLC (formerly
Nasdaq LIFFE, LLC, "Nasdaq LIFFE"), a new U.S. joint venture company to list and trade single stock futures. See Note 7 for additional information.

IndigoMarkets Ltd.

        In May 2000, IndigoMarkets was established for the purpose of creating market systems for Nasdaq Global markets, including Nasdaq Japan. Nasdaq Global
transferred an approximate 45.0% interest in IndigoMarkets to SSI Ltd., an India based software developer, in return for intellectual property rights in certain
software applications.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

        The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Nasdaq and its majority and wholly-owned subsidiaries. All non-majority owned investments
are accounted for under the equity method of
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accounting. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

        The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

        Cash and cash equivalents include cash in banks and all non-restricted highly liquid investments purchased with a remaining maturity of three months or less
at the time of purchase. Such investments included in cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Balance Sheets were $243.4 million and $218.5 million at
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Cash equivalents are carried at cost plus accrued interest which approximates fair value.



Investments

        Under SFAS No. 115, "Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities," management determines the appropriate classification of
investments at the time of purchase. Investments for which Nasdaq does not have the intent or ability to hold to maturity are classified as "available-for-sale" and
are carried at fair market value, with the unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported as a separate component of stockholders' equity. Investments for which
Nasdaq has the intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as "held-to-maturity" and are carried at amortized cost. The amortized cost of debt securities
classified as held-to-maturity or available-for-sale is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts, which are included in interest income.
Realized gains and losses on sales of securities are included in earnings using the specific identification method.

        A decline in the market value of any available-for-sale or held-to-maturity security below cost, that is deemed to be other than temporary, results in a
reduction in carrying amount to fair value. The impairment is charged to earnings and a new cost basis for the security is established.

Receivables, net

        Nasdaq's receivables are concentrated with NASD member firms, market data vendors and Nasdaq listed companies. Receivables are shown net of reserves
for uncollectable accounts. Reserves are calculated based on the age and source of the underlying receivable and are tied to past collections experience. Total
reserves netted against receivables in the Consolidated Balance Sheets were $7.4 million and $5.4 million at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Property and Equipment

        Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Equipment acquired under capital leases is recorded at the lower of fair market
value or the present value of future lease payments. Depreciation is provided on the straight-line method. Estimated useful lives generally range from 10 to
40 years for buildings and improvements, two to seven years for data processing equipment and software, and five to 10 years for furniture and equipment.
Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the lesser of the useful life of the improvement or the term of the applicable lease.
Depreciation expense was $82.4 million, $60.2 million and $43.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
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        Property and equipment includes capital leases of $26.9 million and $17.3 million, and accumulated amortization of $10.5 million and $2.9 million for the
years ending December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Goodwill

        Goodwill and other intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated period of benefit, ranging from five to 10 years.
Nasdaq periodically evaluates the recoverability of intangible assets and takes into account events or circumstances that warrant revised estimates of useful lives
or that indicate that an impairment exists. As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, goodwill and other intangibles were $18.4 million and $16.2 million, respectively.
Goodwill amortization expense was $4.0 million and $3.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. There was no goodwill in 1999.

        In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations" and SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets" ("SFAS 142"). SFAS 141 requires business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 to be accounted for using the purchase method of
accounting. It also specifies the types of acquired intangible assets that are required to be recognized and reported separately from goodwill. SFAS 142 requires
that goodwill and certain intangibles no longer be amortized, but instead tested for impairment at least annually. SFAS 142 is required to be applied starting with
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. Nasdaq does not expect the adoption of SFAS 142 in fiscal 2002 to have a material impact on its consolidated
financial statements.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

        In the event that facts and circumstances indicate that long-lived assets or other assets may be impaired, an evaluation of recoverability would be performed.
If an evaluation were required, the estimated future undiscounted cash flows associated with the asset would be compared to the asset's carrying amount to
determine if a write-down is required. If a write-down were required, Nasdaq would prepare a discounted cash flow analysis to determine the amount of the write-
down.

Revenue Recognition

        Market information services revenue is based on the number of presentation devices in service and market data information quotes delivered through those
devices. This revenue is recorded net of amounts due under revenue sharing arrangements with market participants. Market information services revenue is
recognized in the month that information is provided. Transaction services revenue is variable, and is based on service volumes, and is recognized as transactions
occur. Corporate Client Group services revenue includes annual fees, initial listing fees and listing of additional shares ("LAS") fees. Annual fees are recognized
ratably over the following 12-month period. Effective January 1, 2000, initial listing and LAS fees are recognized on a straight-line basis over estimated service
periods, which are six and four years, respectively. Prior to 2000, initial listing fees were recognized in the month listing occurred and LAS fees were recognized
in the period the additional shares were issued. The change in accounting for these fees is more fully described in Note 4.

Stock Compensation

        Nasdaq accounts for stock option grants in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,"
("APB 25"). Nasdaq grants stock options with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the stock at the date of the grant, and accordingly, recognizes no
compensation expense related to such grants.
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Deferred Revenue



        Deferred revenue represents cash received and billed receivables for Corporate Client Group services, which are unearned until services are provided.

Advertising Costs

        Nasdaq expenses advertising costs, which include media advertising and production costs, in the periods in which the costs are incurred. Media advertising
and production costs included as marketing and advertising in the Consolidated Statements of Income totaled $13.8 million, $35.3 million and $45.3 million for
2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Software Costs

        Significant purchased application software and operational software that is an integral part of computer hardware are capitalized and amortized on the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, generally two to seven years. All other purchased software is charged to expense as incurred.

        Nasdaq adopted Statement of Position 98-1, "Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use" ("SOP 98-1"),
effective January 1, 1999. The provisions of SOP 98-1 require certain costs incurred in connection with developing or obtaining internal use software to be
capitalized. Unamortized capitalized software development costs of $65.2 million and $32.9 million as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively, are carried
in data processing equipment and software in the consolidated balance sheets. Amortization of costs capitalized under SOP 98-1 totaled $7.0 million, $2.3 million
and $0.5 million for 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively, and are included in depreciation and amortization in the consolidated statements of income. Additions to
capitalized software were $39.3 million and $34.4 million in 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Income Taxes

        Nasdaq and its eligible subsidiaries file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return and all applicable state and local returns. Nasdaq uses the asset and
liability method required by SFAS No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes", to provide income taxes on all transactions recorded in the consolidated financial
statements. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of existing
assets and liabilities (i.e., temporary differences) and are measured at the enacted rates that will be in effect when these differences are realized. If necessary, a
valuation allowance is established to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized.

Foreign Currency Translation

        Assets and liabilities of non-U.S. subsidiaries that operate in a local currency environment are translated to U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect at the
balance sheet date. Revenue and expenses are translated at average exchange rates during the year. Translation adjustments resulting from this process are charged
or credited to other comprehensive income. Foreign currency translation also includes the translation of gains and losses for non-U.S. equity method investments.

Minority Interests

        Minority interests in the consolidated balance sheets represent the minority owners' share of equity as of the balance sheet date. Minority interests in the
consolidated statements of income represent the minority owners' share of the income or loss of certain consolidated subsidiaries, principally Nasdaq Europe and
IndigoMarkets at December 31, 2001 and Nasdaq Europe Planning at December 31, 2000.
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Classifications

        Certain amounts for the prior years have been reclassified to conform with the 2001 presentation. Nasdaq has also changed its presentation of the
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows from the direct method to the indirect method for the three years ending December 31, 2001.

4. Change in Accounting Principle

        On August 17, 2001, Nasdaq concluded discussions with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), with respect to the implementation in
its financial statements of Staff Accounting Bulletin 101, "Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements" ("SAB 101"), which became effective for SEC public
reporting companies in the fourth quarter of 2000. Nasdaq became a SEC public reporting company on June 29, 2001, the effective date of its Registration
Statement on Form 10, and as a result of discussions with the SEC, changed its method of accounting for revenue recognition for certain components of its
Corporate Client Group services revenue.

        SAB 101 was adopted effective the fourth quarter of 2000, the change in accounting principle has been applied as of January 1, 2000. In accordance with
applicable accounting guidance prior to SAB 101, Nasdaq recognized revenue for issuer initial listing fees and LAS fees in the month the listing occurred or in
the period additional shares were issued, respectively. Nasdaq now recognizes revenue related to initial listing fees and LAS fees on a straight-line basis over
estimated service periods, which are six and four years, respectively.

        As a result of the adoption of SAB 101, Nasdaq recognized a one-time cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in the first quarter of 2000. This
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle decreased net income for the year ended December 31, 2000 by $101.1 million ($.90 per share) resulting in
net income of $23.3 million ($.21 per share). The adjustment to December 31, 2000 net income for the cumulative change to prior years' results consists of the
following:

  

($ in thousands)

 
Deferred initial listing fees  $ 108,476 
Deferred LAS fees   60,570 
   
Total deferred fees   169,046 
Deferred income tax benefit   (67,956)
   



Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle  $ 101,090 
   

        As a result of the change in accounting principle, for the year ended December 31, 2000, revenue decreased $35.5 million and pro forma net income,
excluding the cumulative change in accounting principle, decreased $20.8 million ($.19 per share).

        For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, Nasdaq recognized $44.9 million and $55.7 million in revenue, respectively, that was included in the
cumulative effect adjustment as of January 1, 2000. This revenue contributed $27.3 million (after income taxes of $17.6 million), and $33.3 million (after income
taxes of $22.4 million) to net income for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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Deferred Revenue

        Nasdaq's deferred revenue as of December 31, 2001 relating to Corporate Client Group services revenues will be recognized in the following years:

  

Initial

 

LAS

 

Annual
and Other

 

Total

  

($ in thousands)

Fiscal year ended             
2002  $ 31,839 $ 33,527 $ — $ 65,366
2003   27,199  26,629  —  53,828
2004   22,473  16,077  —  38,550
2005   16,168  6,191  —  22,359
2006 and thereafter   6,950  —  —  6,950
     
  $ 104,629 $ 82,424 $ — $ 187,053
     

        Nasdaq's deferred revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 is reflected in the following tables. The additions reflect Corporate Client Group
services revenue charged during the year while the amortization reflects Corporate Client Group services revenue recognized during the year based on SAB 101.

  

Initial

 

LAS

 

Annual
and Other

 

Total

 

  

($ in thousands)

 
Balance at January 1, 2001  $ 127,693 $ 76,651 $ — $ 204,344 
Additions   12,602  41,637  84,594  138,833 
Amortization   (35,666)  (35,864)  (84,594)  (156,124)
      
Balance at December 31, 2001  $ 104,629 $ 82,424 $ — $ 187,053 
      

  

Initial

 

LAS

 

Annual
and Other

 

Total

 

  

($ in thousands)

 
Balance at January 1, 2000  $ 108,476 $ 60,570 $ — $ 169,046 
Additions   53,129  49,713  81,753  184,595 
Amortization   (33,912)  (33,632)  (81,753)  (149,297)
      
Balance at December 31, 2000  $ 127,693 $ 76,651 $ — $ 204,344 
      

5. Disaster Related Expenses

        As a result of the attacks on September 11, 2001, Nasdaq's executive offices in New York City were closed for the remainder of 2001 and its New York-
based employees were relocated. Also, as a result of the attacks, Nasdaq decided to relocate its New York City headquarters from One Liberty Plaza, which was
adjacent to the site where the World Trade Center Towers stood, to a location closer to its Times Square MarketSite building. Employees returned to One Liberty
Plaza on a temporary basis in the first quarter of 2002, and are expected to relocate to midtown New York City by early 2003. As of December 31, 2001, Nasdaq
is obligated under the terms of its One Liberty Plaza lease to pay $106.9 million over the remaining life of the lease. As of December 31, 2001, Nasdaq has
recorded an estimated loss on the sublease of One Liberty Plaza for $21.5 million which is included in disaster related expenses on the Consolidated Statement of
Income. The estimated loss was calculated assuming relocation as of January 2003. Additionally, the loss was calculated using an 8% net discount rate and an
estimated 21 year sublease term commencing June 2003 at estimated market rates.
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        In addition, it has been necessary for Nasdaq to make certain non-budgeted expenditures relating to September 11th, including, but not limited to, costs
related to the efforts to restore services to market participants, the testing of trading systems, and required reconfiguring of technology, telecommunications and
alternative office facilities due to the temporary relocation of employees. These other third and fourth quarter expenses of $1.7 million are also included in
disaster related expenses on the Consolidated Statement of Income. Additional expenses and recoveries will be recorded in future periods.

6. Investments

        Investments consist of U.S. Treasury securities, obligations of U.S. Government sponsored enterprises, municipal bonds, equity securities, and other
financial instruments. Following is a summary of investments classified as available-for-sale that are carried at fair value as of December 31, 2001:

  

Available-for-Sale Securities

  

Cost

 

Gross Unrealized
Gains

 

Gross Unrealized
Losses

 

Estimated Fair
Value

  

($ in thousands)

December 31, 2001             
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government agencies  $ 156,197 $ 1,749 $ 207 $ 157,739
Obligations of states and political subdivisions   45,670  817  61  46,426
Asset-backed securities   1,042  33  —  1,075
U.S. corporate securities   5,537  92  90  5,539
Other debt securities   —  —  —  —
     
 Total debt securities   208,446  2,691  358  210,779
Equity securities   17,373  1,595  1,718  17,250
     
 Total  $ 225,819 $ 4,286 $ 2,076 $ 228,029
     

        At December 31, 2001, all held-to-maturity investments were U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government agencies. The cost of the
securities were $28.6 million and had gross unrealized capital gains and losses of $570 thousand and $31 thousand, respectively and a total estimated fair value of
$29.1 million at December 31, 2001.

        Following is a summary of investments classified as available-for-sale which are carried at fair value as of December 31, 2000:

  

Available-for-Sale Securities

  

Cost

 

Gross Unrealized
Gains

 

Gross Unrealized
Losses

 

Estimated Fair
Value

  

($ in thousands)

December 31, 2000             
U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government agencies  $ 109,350 $ 542 $ 59 $ 109,833
Obligations of states and political subdivisions   43,664  55  954  42,765
Asset-backed securities   52,846  202  513  52,535
U.S. corporate securities   6,018  61  90  5,989
Other debt securities   649  9  —  658
     
 Total debt securities   212,527  869  1,616  211,780
Equity securities   19,069  3,584  2,343  20,310
     
 Total  $ 231,596 $ 4,453 $ 3,959 $ 232,090
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        At December 31, 2000, all held-to-maturity investments were U.S. Treasury securities and obligations of U.S. government agencies. The cost of the
securities were $28.6 million and had gross unrealized capital gains and losses of $45 thousand and $32 thousand, respectively, and a total estimated fair value of
$28.6 million at December 31, 2000.

        The cost and estimated fair value of debt and marketable equity securities classified as available-for-sale that are carried at fair value at December 31, 2001,
by contractual maturity, are shown below.

  

Gross Unrealized

  

Cost

 

Gain

 

Loss

 

Fair Value

  

($ in thousands)

Due in one year or less  $ 99,626 $ 657 $ 110 $ 100,173
Due after one through five years   60,682  1,200  2  61,880
Due after five through 10 years   28,629  420  133  28,916
Due after 10 years   19,509  414  113  19,810
     



Total debt securities   208,446  2,691  358  210,779
Equity securities   17,373  1,595  1,718  17,250
     
  $ 225,819 $ 4,286 $ 2,076 $ 228,029
     

        All investments classified as held-to-maturity are carried at amortized cost as of December 31, 2001, and mature between 2003 and 2007.

        During the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, debt and marketable equity available-for-sale securities with a fair value at the date of sale of
$369.6 million and $72.7 million, respectively, were sold. The gross realized gains on such sales totaled $1.8 million and $2.8 million, respectively, and the gross
realized losses totaled $4.2 million and $1.0 million, respectively. The net adjustment to unrealized holding gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities included
as a separate component of stockholders' equity totaled ($1.2) million and ($0.2) million, for 2001 and 2000, respectively. The net adjustment to unrealized gains
(losses) on available-for-sale securities included as a separate component of stockholders' equity due to the sale of securities totaled $2.1 million and
($1.2) million, for 2001 and 2000, respectively.

        At December 31, 2001 and 2000, investments with a carrying value of approximately $28.6 million and $28.0 million were pledged as collateral for Nasdaq's
$25.0 million note payable. See Note 9 for further information.

        In connection with the OptiMark, Inc. ("OptiMark") partnership, OptiMark issued warrants to Nasdaq to purchase up to an aggregate of 11.25 million shares
of its common stock, $.01 par value per share, which expire in 2004. The warrants are exercisable in several tranches upon the achievement of certain milestones,
which are based primarily upon the average daily share volume of Nasdaq-listed securities traded through the OptiMark Trading System.

        In September 2000, OptiMark announced a strategic change in its business that will allow it to focus on providing technology solutions to electronic
marketplaces. As part of the change, OptiMark decided to suspend trading operations on the OptiMark Trading System. As a result, Nasdaq management
concluded that its investment in warrants in OptiMark as well as the realization of the deferred revenue related to these warrants was impaired and reduced its
investment in warrants and related deferred revenue to zero. As of December 31, 2001, Nasdaq still considered the investment in warrants and the related deferred
revenue impaired.
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7. Joint Ventures and Equity Method Investments

Nasdaq LIFFE Markets, LLC

        On June 1, 2001, Nasdaq and LIFFE formed Nasdaq LIFFE, a new U.S. joint venture company to list and trade single stock futures. The products of this
joint venture are expected to be traded through a modified version of the LIFFE CONNECT™ electronic system. Nasdaq has committed up to $25.0 million plus
the rights to use certain of its trademarks in this venture. Nasdaq contributed $2.0 million during 2001. On August 21, 2001, the Commodity Futures Trading
Commission approved Nasdaq LIFFE as a futures market and self-regulatory organization. Nasdaq accounts for its investment in Nasdaq LIFFE under the equity
method of accounting. In 2001, Nasdaq recorded losses of approximately $6.0 million representing its share of the losses incurred by Nasdaq LIFFE.

Nasdaq Japan

        In 1999, the NASD contributed approximately $2.6 million for its initial 50.0% interest in Nasdaq Japan. After granting a restricted stock award of 4.0% of
its shares, the NASD transferred its remaining 46.0% interest to Nasdaq Global. In October 2000, Nasdaq Japan sold an approximate 15.0% stake for
approximately $48.0 million to a group of 13 major Japanese, U.S. and European brokerages, thereby reducing Nasdaq Global's interest from 46.0% to
approximately 39.2%. As a result of the private placement, Nasdaq increased the carrying value of its investment by approximately $7.8 million, recorded
through stockholders' equity, to reflect its adjusted share of the book value of Nasdaq Japan. In 2001, Nasdaq invested an additional $7.4 million in Nasdaq Japan,
increasing its ownership to 39.7%. Nasdaq accounts for its investment in Nasdaq Japan under the equity method of accounting, and recorded losses of
$11.3 million representing its share of the losses incurred by Nasdaq Japan in 2001. Nasdaq has committed up to $13.0 million in Nasdaq Japan.

        A condensed summary of combined assets and liabilities and results of operations for Nasdaq LIFFE and Nasdaq Japan for 2001 and Nasdaq Japan for 2000
follows:

  

Years ended December 31,

 

  

2001

 

2000

 

  

($ in thousands)

 
Condensed income statement information:        
Revenue  $ 1,971 $ 1,144 
Expenses   48,464  32,441 
Loss from operations   (46,493)  (31,297)
Net loss   (47,300)  (31,962)

  

December 31,

  

2001

 

2000

Condensed balance sheet information:       
Current assets  $ 20,155 $ 29,095
Non-current assets   20,025  7,922
Current liabilities   14,312  9,518
Non-current liabilities   16,352  2,692



8. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

        Nasdaq considers cash and cash equivalents, receivables, receivables from related parties, investments, accounts payable and accrued expenses, accrued
personnel costs, due to banks, and senior notes and subordinated notes to be its financial instruments. The carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance
sheets for cash and cash equivalents, receivables, receivables from related parties, investments, accounts payable and accrued expenses, accrued personnel costs,
and due to banks closely
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approximates their fair values due to the short-term nature of these assets and liabilities. The approximate fair value of Nasdaq's senior notes, subordinated notes
and obligations under capital leases was estimated using discounted cash flow analysis based on Nasdaq's assumed incremental borrowing rates for similar types
of borrowing arrangements. This analysis indicates that the fair value of these obligations at December 31, 2001 and 2000 approximates their carrying amounts.

9. Senior Notes

        In May 1997, Nasdaq entered into a $25.0 million note payable with a financial institution (the "Lender"). Principal payments are scheduled to begin in 2007
and continue in equal monthly installments until maturity in 2012. The note requires monthly interest payments through May 2007 at an annual rate of 7.41%.
After May 2007, Nasdaq will incur interest equal to the Lender's cost of funds rate, as defined in the agreement, plus 0.5%. Interest expensed and paid under the
agreement totaled approximately $1.9 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

        Nasdaq Europe has $23.5 million of notes payable outstanding as of December 31, 2001. These notes are denominated in Euros, and mature in 2003, 2004
and within five days of default of any loan covenant. Nasdaq Europe incurs interest expense at a rate of 6% on approximately $3.7 million of the notes, and
London Inter-Bank Offered Rate plus 1% on the remaining $19.8 million of the notes. Interest expensed and accrued totaled approximately $0.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2001.

10. Subordinated Notes

        On May 3, 2001, Nasdaq sold the Subordinated Notes to Hellman & Friedman. Until Nasdaq becomes registered with the SEC as a national securities
exchange ("Exchange Registration"), Hellman & Friedman may only exercise its conversion rights for a number of shares of Common Stock such that
immediately following such conversion, the NASD will continue to control greater than 50% of the combined voting power of Nasdaq. Nasdaq used the proceeds
from the sale of the Subordinated Notes to purchase 18,461,538 shares of Common Stock from the NASD for $13.00 per share. The annual 4.0% coupon will be
payable in arrears and the Subordinated Notes are convertible at any time into an aggregate of 12.0 million shares of Common Stock at $20.00 per share, subject
to adjustment, in general, for any stock split, dividend, combination, recapitalization or other similar event.

        Holders of the Subordinated Notes currently have no voting rights. However, Nasdaq has agreed to use its best efforts to seek stockholder approval of an
amendment to Nasdaq's Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the "Certificate of Incorporation") that would provide for voting debt in order to permit the holders
of the Subordinated Notes to vote on an as-converted basis on all matters on which holders of common stock have the right to vote, subject to the current 5.0%
voting limitation in the Certificate of Incorporation. In addition, the SEC has approved this proposed charter amendment. Nasdaq has granted Hellman &
Friedman certain registration rights with respect to the shares of Common Stock underlying the Subordinated Notes.

        On an as-converted basis, Hellman & Friedman owned an approximate 9.7% equity interest as a result of these Subordinated Notes in Nasdaq as of
December 31, 2001. Hellman & Friedman is permitted to designate one person reasonably acceptable to Nasdaq for nomination as a director of Nasdaq for so
long as Hellman & Friedman owns Subordinated Notes and/or shares of Common Stock issued upon conversion thereof representing at least 50.0% of the shares
of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Subordinated Notes initially purchased. F. Warren Hellman, chairman of Hellman & Friedman, was elected as
a director of Nasdaq pursuant to this agreement.
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11. Income Taxes

        The income tax provision includes the following amounts:

  

Years ended December 31,

  

2001

 

2000

 

1999

  

($ in thousands)

Current income taxes:          
 Federal  $ 50,625 $ 75,446 $ 46,482
 State   10,885  14,138  11,599
    
Total current income taxes   61,510  89,584  58,081
    
Deferred income taxes:          
 Federal   (22,078)  (53,717)  273
 State   (1,100)  (13,346)  67
    
Total deferred income taxes   (23,178)  (67,063)  340
    



Less deferred tax benefit attributable to cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle

  —  67,956  —

    
Total provision for income taxes  $ 38,332 $ 90,477 $ 58,421
    
Income taxes paid during the year  $ 26,844 $ 101,171 $ 49,992
    

        Reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal income tax rates to the effective tax rates are as follows:

  

Years ended December 31,

 

  

2001

 

2000

 

1999

 
Federal  35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State  6.2 3.6 5.2 
Foreign losses without U.S. benefit  15.9 2.9 — 
Tax preferred investments  (6.9) — — 
Tax credit  (2.3) — — 
State temporary differences at a lower rate  1.9 — — 
Other  (1.2) 0.6 0.2 
     
Effective rate  48.6% 42.1% 40.4%
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        Components of Nasdaq's deferred tax assets and liabilities consisted of the following:

  

December 31,

 

  

2001

 

2000

 

  

($ in thousands)

 
Deferred tax assets:        
 Deferred fees  $ 78,328 $ 82,600 
 Foreign net operating losses   31,318  5,043 
 Technology costs   11,765  1,499 
 Expense accruals   8,242  — 
 Lease reserve   7,691  — 
 Deferred capital loss carryforward   6,078  6,078 
 Bad debts   5,903  5,139 
 Compensation and benefits   5,133  1,592 
 Joint ventures   4,754  — 
 Other   4,341  2,794 
    
Gross deferred tax assets  $ 163,553 $ 104,745 
    
Deferred tax liabilities:        
 Software development costs  $ (29,025) $ (19,624)
 Depreciation   (10,648)  (12,492)
 Other   (2,308)  — 
    
Gross deferred tax liabilities  $ (41,981) $ (32,116)
    
Valuation allowance  $ (37,396) $ (11,121)
    
Net deferred tax asset  $ 84,176 $ 61,508 
    

        Nasdaq has a deferred tax asset related to a deferred capital loss carryforward of $6.1 million at December 31, 2001 and 2000. Since it is uncertain whether
such loss will be realized, a valuation allowance for the full amount of this deferred tax asset has been recorded.

        Nasdaq has foreign deferred tax assets of $31.3 million and $5.0 million, as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The foreign deferred tax assets are
composed of net operating losses, of which $3.6 million expire in 2007, $4.1 million expire in 2008 and $23.6 million have no expiration date. The foreign
deferred tax assets have been fully reserved by an offsetting valuation allowance as it is not "more likely than not" that these deferred tax assets will be realized.

        The following represents the domestic and foreign components of income (loss) before income tax expense:

  

Years ended December 31,



  2001  2000  1999

  

($ in thousands)

Domestic  $ 114,640 $ 233,647 $ 144,527
Foreign   (35,845)  (18,774)  43
    
Income before income tax expense  $ 78,795 $ 214,873 $ 144,570
    

12. Employee Benefits

        Nasdaq is a participating employer in a noncontributory, defined-benefit pension plan that the NASD sponsors for the benefit of its eligible employees and
the eligible employees of its subsidiaries. The benefits are primarily based on years of service and the employees' average salary during the highest 60
consecutive months of employment. The plan assets consist primarily of fixed income and equity securities.

        In addition, Nasdaq participates in a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan ("SERP") that is maintained by the NASD for certain highly compensated
employees.
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        The following table sets forth the combined plans' funded status and amounts recognized as of December 31:

  

Pension Benefits

 

  

2001

 

2000

 

  

($ in thousands)

 
Change in benefit obligation        
Benefit obligation at beginning of year  $ 53,667 $ 39,773 
Net employee transfers into plan   147  — 
Service cost   7,032  4,543 
Interest cost   4,519  3,246 
Actuarial losses   5,384  5,488 
Benefits paid   (4,860)  (1,988)
Plan amendments   1,127  — 
Curtailments   (1,301)  — 
Special benefits   760  — 
Loss due to change in discount rate   1,907  2,605 
    
Benefit obligation at end of year   68,382  53,667 
    
Change in plan assets        
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year   31,464  28,312 
Net employee transfers into plan   8,419  — 
Actual return on plan assets   848  2,058 
Company contributions   3,321  3,082 
Benefits paid   (4,860)  (1,988)
    
Fair value of plan assets at end of year   39,192  31,464 
    
Underfunded status of the plan   (29,190)  (22,203)
Unrecognized net actuarial gain   7,305  8,393 
Unrecognized prior service cost   1,585  906 
Unrecognized transition asset   (337)  (390)
    
Accrued benefit cost  $ (20,637) $ (13,294)
    
Weighted-average assumptions as of December 31:        
Discount rate   7.3%  7.5%
Expected return on plan assets   9.0  9.0 
Rate of compensation increase   5.5  5.2 

  

Pension Benefits

 

  

2001

 

2000

 

1999

 

  

($ in thousands)

 
Components of net periodic benefit cost           
Service cost  $ 7,032 $ 4,543 $ 3,304 
Interest cost   4,519  3,246  2,448 
Expected return on plan assets   (3,311)  (2,533)  (2,261)
Amortization of unrecognized transition asset   (58)  (57)  (57)



Recognized net actuarial loss   160  145  101 
Prior service cost recognized   465  131  133 
Special benefits   760  —  — 
Curtailment/settlement loss recognized   —  1,296  — 
     
Benefit cost  $ 9,567 $ 6,771 $ 3,668 
     

        As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, $4.3 million and $2.4 million, respectively, of the accrued pension liability is carried as current in the accounts payable
and accrued expenses line of the Consolidated Balance Sheets. During 2001, there was a curtailment gain recognized of $1.3 million in the pension plan to reflect
the reduction in force on June 26, 2001.
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        Pursuant to the provisions of SFAS No. 87 "Employer's Accounting for Pensions," related to the SERP, an intangible asset of $1.0 million and an adjustment
to stockholders' equity of $1.4 million (net of tax of $0.9 million), were recorded as of December 31, 2001 to recognize the minimum pension liability.

        Nasdaq also participates in a voluntary savings plan for eligible employees of the NASD and its subsidiaries. Employees are immediately eligible to make
contributions to the plan and are also eligible for an employer contribution match at an amount equal to 100% of the first 4% of eligible employee contributions.
Eligible plan participants may also receive an additional discretionary match from Nasdaq. Savings plan expense for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000
and 1999, was $5.9 million, $3.7 million and $2.9 million, respectively. The expense includes a discretionary match authorized by the Nasdaq Board of Directors
totaling $0.75 million for the year ended December 31, 2001, $1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2000, and $1.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 1999.

13. Stock Compensation and Stock Awards

        Effective December 5, 2000, as amended on February 14, 2001, Nasdaq adopted The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. Equity Incentive Plan (the "Plan"), under
which nonqualified and qualified incentive stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, or other stock based awards may be granted to employees,
directors, officers and consultants. A total of 20,000,000 shares are authorized under the Plan. At December 31, 2001, 9,779,863 were available for future grants
under the Plan.

        In 2001, Nasdaq granted 10,795,223 stock options and 630,550 shares of restricted stock to employees and officers pursuant to the Plan. During 2001,
1,169,636 stock options and 36,000 shares of restricted stock awards were forfeited.

        Restricted stock awards are awarded in the name of the employee or officer at fair value on the date of the grant. The awards contain restrictions on sales and
transfers, are subject to a five-year vesting period, and are expensed over the vesting period. Nasdaq recognized $4.1 million in amortization expense related to
restricted stock during the year ended December 31, 2001.

        Stock options are granted with an exercise price equal to the estimated fair market value of the stock on the date of the grant. Nasdaq accounts for stock
option grants in accordance with APB 25, and, accordingly, recognizes no compensation expense related to such grants.

        Options granted generally vest over three years and expire 10 years from the date of grant. All options to date have been granted at fair market value on the
date of grant. At December 31, 2001, options for 3,597,430 shares were vested, and exercisable with a weighted-average exercise price of $12.73.

        Stock option activity during the year ended December 31, 2001 is set forth below:

    

Price per Share

  

Shares

 

Range

 

Weighted Average

Balance, January 1, 2001  —  —  —
Granted  10,795,223 $ 10.25 - $13.00 $ 12.73
Exercised  —  —  —
Forfeited  1,169,636 $ 10.25 - $13.00 $ 12.98
Balance, December 31, 2001  9,625,587 $ 10.25 - $13.00 $ 12.70

        Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share is required under SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation" and has
been determined as if Nasdaq had accounted for all stock option grants based on the fair value method. The fair value of each stock option grant was estimated at
the date of grant using the Black-Scholes valuation model assuming a weighted-average expected life of five years, weighted-average expected volatility of 30%
and a weighted-average risk free interest rate of 4.68%. The weighted-average fair value of options granted in 2001 was $4.55.
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        For purposes of the pro forma information, the fair value of stock option grants are amortized over the vesting period. The pro forma information for the year
ended December 31, 2001 is as follows:

  

2001

  

Reported

 

Pro forma

  ($ in thousands, except per share
amounts)



Net income  $ 40,463 $ 25,476
Basic and diluted earnings per share  $ 0.35 $ 0.22

        Nasdaq has an employee stock purchase plan for all eligible employees. Under the plan, shares of Common Stock may be purchased at six-month intervals
(each, an "Offering Period") at 85% of the lower of the fair market value on the first or the last day of each Offering Period. Employees may purchase shares
having a value not exceeding 10% of their annual compensation, subject to applicable annual Internal Revenue Service limitations. During 2001, employees
purchased an aggregate of 326,580 shares at an average price of $10.63 per share.

        In May and July 2000, restricted Common Stock and options on Common Stock of Nasdaq Japan were awarded to certain Nasdaq officers and key
employees who devote substantial time to the operations of Nasdaq Japan. These awards contain restrictions and are subject to vesting provisions, generally three
years. The options were granted at an exercise price of $125 per share, the estimated fair market value of the common stock at the time of the award. The options
are exercisable for a period of seven years. As of December 31, 2001 there were 784 stock options outstanding to purchase shares of Nasdaq Japan held by
Nasdaq Global, 261 of them exercisable with an approximate value of $6,175 per share. The restricted common stock award was for 1,900 shares at the estimated
fair value of $125 per share. Approximately one-third of the shares vested immediately while the remaining two-thirds vest over a two-year period. As of
December 31, 2001, the restricted common stock had an approximate value of $6,250 per share. All share and dollar amounts reflect a four-for-one stock split of
Nasdaq Japan shares in April 2001.

        The options and restricted common stock awards are marked to market, and the fair value is being expensed over the vesting periods. Nasdaq recorded
approximately $2.8 million and $3.8 million in compensation expense related to these awards in 2001 and 2000, respectively.

14. Leases

        Nasdaq leases certain office space and equipment in connection with its operations. The majority of these leases contain escalation clauses based on
increases in property taxes and building operating costs. Certain of these leases also contain renewal options. Rent expense for operating leases was $11.0 million,
$9.9 million and $4.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. See Note 5 for additional information.
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        Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases with initial or remaining terms of one year or more, (including the sublease obligation
at One Liberty Plaza of $106.9 million, see Note 5) consisted of the following at December 31, 2001:

  

($ in thousands)

Year ending December 31:    
2002  $ 14,913
2003   14,799
2004   15,690
2005   15,058
2006   14,996
Remaining years   127,676
  
Total minimum lease payments  $ 203,132
  

        Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable capital leases with initial or remaining terms of one year or more consisted of the following at
December 31, 2001:

  

($ in thousands)

 
Year ending December 31:     
2002  $ 6,129 
2003   5,142 
2004   5,116 
2005   2,952 
   
Total minimum lease payments  $ 19,339 
Imputed interest   (2,760)
   
Present value of net minimum payments  $ 16,579 
   

15. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

        Comprehensive income is composed of net income and other comprehensive income, which includes the after-tax change in unrealized gains and losses on
available-for-sale securities, foreign currency translation adjustments, and a minimum pension liability adjustment.

        The following table outlines the components of other comprehensive income:

  

Unrealized
Gains (Losses)(a)

 

Translation
Adjustments(b)

 

Minimum Pension
Liability(c)

 

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income

 

  

($ in thousands)

 



Balance, January 1, 1999  $ 2,020 $ — $ — $ 2,020 
 Net change   (278)  —  —  (278)
      
Balance, December 31, 1999   1,742  —  —  1,742 
 Net change   (1,421)  (2,213)  —  (3,634)
      
Balance, December 31, 2000   321  (2,213)  —  (1,892)
 Net change   918  (4,607)  (1,395)  (5,084)
      
Balance, December 31, 2001  $ 1,239 $ (6,820) $ (1,395) $ (6,976)
      

(a) Primarily represents the after-tax difference between the fair value and cost of the available-for-sale securities portfolio.
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(b) Includes after-tax gains and losses on foreign currency translation from operations for which the functional currency is other than the U.S. dollar. 

(c) Represents the after-tax adjustment to record the minimum pension liability for the SERP.

16. Commitments and Contingencies

        In November 1997, Nasdaq entered into a $600.0 million six-year agreement with WorldCom to replace the existing data network that connects the Nasdaq
market facilities to market participants. As part of the agreement, Nasdaq gave an $8.0 million deposit to WorldCom in order to guarantee certain usage levels.
Nasdaq guaranteed WorldCom that the market participants would generate a minimum of $300.0 million in usage under the contract. Under the contract, the
deposit is refundable if certain higher service usage is achieved. Nasdaq expects to generate the minimum guaranteed level of service usage under the contract.
However, Nasdaq is renegotiating the contract with WorldCom, and as part of that negotiation, believes that it is unlikely that the deposit will be returned. As of
December 31, 2001, the deposit of $8.0 million has been fully reserved.

        In October 2000, Nasdaq entered into a contract with OptiMark under which OptiMark was engaged to provide software development services in connection
with the development of the SuperMontage system. Nasdaq agreed to pay OptiMark for the services over a period not to exceed 12 months. In addition, OptiMark
was entitled to receive incentive payments if it met certain delivery milestones agreed to in the contract. Nasdaq paid OptiMark $12.3 million under this contract,
which expired in December 2001.

        Nasdaq has agreed to fund a portion of the necessary expenses related to the separation of software, hardware and data under a plan to transition technology
applications and support from Nasdaq to Amex. The NASD originally integrated certain Nasdaq and Amex technology subsequent to the 1998 acquisition of
Amex by the NASD. The total estimated cost of the separation has been established at a maximum of $29.0 million, and is to be shared evenly between Nasdaq
and the NASD. In 2001, Nasdaq accrued $9.2 million under this commitment and expects to fund this commitment up to $14.5 million in the future.

        Nasdaq has a loan commitment to Nasdaq Japan for $5.0 million, of which $2.8 million was loaned in 2001, and the remainder is expected to be loaned in
2002.

        Nasdaq has made $2.0 million of capital contributions to Nasdaq LIFFE Joint venture in 2001. Other contributions are expected in 2002, up to the approved
$25.0 million.

        In March 2000, Nasdaq entered into an agreement with Primex Trading N.A., LLC ("Primex") in which the Primex Auction System™ would be operated as
a facility of The Nasdaq Stock Market® for the trading of Nasdaq and exchange-listed securities. Under the agreement, Nasdaq is required to pay Primex a
monthly licensing fee as well as a transaction fee for each trade executed in the Primex Auction System™ which will commence in 2002.

        Nasdaq may be subject to claims arising out of the conduct of its business. Currently, there are certain legal proceedings pending against Nasdaq.
Management believes, based upon the opinion of counsel, that any liabilities or settlements arising from these proceedings will not have a material adverse effect
on the financial position or results of operations of Nasdaq. Management is not aware of any unasserted claims or assessments that would have a material adverse
effect on the financial position and the results of operations of Nasdaq.

17. Related Party Transactions

        Related party receivables and payables are the result of various transactions between Nasdaq and its affiliates. Payables to related parties are comprised
primarily of the regulation charge from NASDR,
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a wholly-owned subsidiary of the NASD. NASDR charges Nasdaq for costs incurred related to Nasdaq market regulation and enforcement. Support charges from
the NASD to Nasdaq represent another significant component of payables to related parties. The support charges include an allocation of a portion of the NASD's
administrative expenses as well as its costs incurred to develop and maintain technology on behalf of Nasdaq. The remaining component of payables to related
parties is cash disbursements funded by the NASD on behalf of Nasdaq.

        Receivables from related parties are primarily attributable to costs incurred by Amex and funded by Nasdaq related to various Amex technology projects.
The remaining portion of the receivable from related parties balance is related to cash disbursements funded by Nasdaq on behalf of its affiliates. Disbursements
made by Nasdaq on behalf of affiliates relate mainly to office supply and utility charges where Nasdaq represents the largest portion.



Surveillance Charge from NASDR

        NASDR incurs costs associated with surveillance monitoring, legal and enforcement activities related to the regulation of The Nasdaq Stock Market. These
costs are charged to Nasdaq based upon the NASD management's estimated percentage of costs incurred by each NASDR department that are attributable directly
to The Nasdaq Stock Market surveillance. The following table represents Nasdaq management's estimate of the composition of costs charged by NASDR to
Nasdaq:

  

December 31,

  

2001

 

2000

 

1999

  

($ in thousands)

Compensation  $ 32,912 $ 32,018 $ 32,529
Professional and contract services   28,158  27,110  20,000
Occupancy   651  399  1,687
Publications, supplies and postage   2,857  2,924  1,661
Computer operations and data communication   4,755  5,010  3,430
Depreciation   10,868  8,435  3,831
Travel, meetings and training   2,811  2,848  1,841
Other   810  1,106  150
    
Total  $ 83,822 $ 79,850 $ 65,129
    

        On June 28, 2000, Nasdaq entered into a Regulatory Services Agreement with NASDR (the "Regulatory Services Agreement"). Under the terms of this
agreement, NASDR or its subsidiaries will provide Nasdaq and its subsidaries regulatory services and related administrative functions necessary for NASDR's
performance of such services commencing upon effectiveness of Exchange Registration. The services will be of the same type and scope as are currently
provided by NASDR to Nasdaq under the Delegation Plan. Prior to the effectiveness of Exchange Registration, NASDR's fees charged to Nasdaq are on a cost
basis. Once Exchange Registration is effective, fees will be determined on a "cost-plus" basis for each service.

Support Charge from the NASD

        The NASD provides various administrative services to Nasdaq including legal assistance, accounting and managerial services. It is the NASD's policy to
charge these expenses and other operating costs to Nasdaq based upon usage percentages determined by management of the NASD and Nasdaq. Additionally, the
NASD incurs certain costs related to the development and maintenance of technology for Nasdaq. Technology development costs are allocated directly to Nasdaq
based upon specific projects requested by Nasdaq. Technology maintenance costs are allocated based upon Nasdaq's
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share of computer usage. The following table represents Nasdaq management's estimate of the composition of costs charged by the NASD to Nasdaq:

  

December 31,

  

2001

 

2000

 

1999

  

($ in thousands)

Compensation  $ 16,436 $ 25,899 $ 25,956
Professional and contract services   4,585  9,986  16,671
Occupancy   4,992  9,576  4,637
Publications, supplies and postage   1,337  1,544  2,295
Computer operations and data communications   191  1,500  5,243
Depreciation   2,483  2,894  6,514
Travel, meetings and training   573  1,504  2,020
Other   1,528  701  759
    
Total  $ 32,125 $ 53,604 $ 64,095
    

        On June 28, 2000, Nasdaq entered into an interim Separation and Common Services Agreement with the NASD. Under the terms of this agreement, the
NASD provides Nasdaq the same administrative, corporate and infrastructure services it has historically provided. The rates and methodology to be used in
determining the cost of such services are consistent with past practices. Nasdaq and the NASD are in the process of negotiating a new Separation and Common
Services Agreement, which will provide for the NASD's continued support in the same areas. Nasdaq intends to develop its internal capabilities in the future in
order to reduce its reliance on the NASD for such services.

Nasdaq Charge to Amex

        Nasdaq incurs technology costs on behalf of Amex related to development of new Amex systems and enhancement of existing Amex systems. Amounts are
charged based upon specific projects requested by Amex. Amounts charged from Nasdaq to Amex are included in support costs from related parties and are
summarized as follows:

  

December 31,



  2001  2000  1999

  

($ in thousands)

Compensation  $ 605 $ 345 $ 600
Professional and contract services   13,195  4,389  13,090
Publications, supplies and postage   19  11  19
Other   329  187  326
    
Total  $ 14,148 $ 4,932 $ 14,035
    

        Nasdaq has agreed to fund a portion of the necessary expenses related to the separation of software, hardware and data under a plan to transition technology
applications and support from Nasdaq to Amex. The NASD originally integrated Nasdaq and Amex technology subsequent to the 1998 acquisition of Amex by
the NASD. In the opinion of management, all methods of cost allocation described above are reasonable for the services rendered. See Note 16 for further
information.

18. Capital Stock

        At December 31, 2001, 300,000,000 shares of Nasdaq's Common Stock were authorized, 130,161,823 shares were issued, and 111,700,285 shares were
outstanding. Each share of Common Stock has one vote, except that any person, other than the NASD or any other person as may be approved
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for such exemption by the Nasdaq Board of Directors prior to the time such person owns more than 5% of the then-outstanding shares of Common Stock, who
would otherwise be entitled to exercise voting rights in respect of more than 5% of the then-outstanding shares of Common Stock will be unable to exercise
voting rights for any shares in excess of 5% of the then-outstanding shares of Common Stock. In connection with the Restructuring, the NASD sold
approximately 10,806,494 warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 43,225,976 outstanding shares of Common Stock owned by the NASD. The voting rights
associated with the shares of Common Stock underlying the warrants, as well as the shares of Common Stock purchased through the valid exercise of warrants,
are governed by the voting trust agreement (the "Voting Trust Agreement") entered into by the NASD, Nasdaq and The Bank of New York, as voting trustee (the
"Voting Trustee"). Initially, the holders of the warrants (each, a "Warrant Holder" and, collectively, the "Warrant Holders") will not have any voting rights with
respect to the shares of Common Stock underlying such warrants. Until Exchange Registration the shares of Common Stock underlying unexercised and
unexpired warrant tranches, as well as the shares of Common Stock purchased through the exercise of warrants, will be voted by the Voting Trustee at the
direction of the NASD. The voting rights associated with the shares of Common Stock underlying unexercised and expired warrant tranches will revert to the
NASD. However, the NASD has determined, commencing upon Exchange Registration, to vote any shares of Common Stock that it owns (other than shares
underlying then outstanding warrants) in the same proportion as the other stockholders of Nasdaq. Upon Exchange Registration, the Warrant Holders will have
the right to direct the Voting Trustee as to the voting of the shares of Common Stock underlying unexercised and unexpired warrant tranches until the earlier of
the exercise or the expiration of such warrant tranches. The shares of Common Stock purchased upon a valid exercise of a warrant tranche prior to Exchange
Registration will be released from the Voting Trust Agreement upon Exchange Registration. The shares of Common Stock purchased upon a valid exercise of a
warrant tranche after Exchange Registration will not be subject to the Voting Trust Agreement.

        In connection with the repurchase of ownership interest of a shareholder in Nasdaq Europe Planning, Nasdaq issued a warrant to purchase up to an aggregate
of 479,648 shares of Common Stock. The warrant is exercisable in four annual tranches ranging from $13.00 to $16.00 per share. The issuance of the warrants
has been recorded at fair value in stockholders' equity.

        On November 12, 2001, Nasdaq sold an aggregate amount of 535,000 shares of Common Stock to five members of the Nasdaq Board of Directors and
500,000 shares of Common Stock to Hellman & Friedman for an aggregate offering price of $10,608,750. The shares were sold in a private transaction at the
current fair market value, pursuant to section 4(2) of the Securities Act.

        As of December 31, 2001, there were 30,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized, and none issued and outstanding. On March 8, 2002, Nasdaq issued
1,338,402 shares of Nasdaq's Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock and one share of Nasdaq's Series B Preferred Stock. See Note 20 for additional information.

        In December 2001, the Board adopted a revised Non-Employee Directors Compensation Policy whereby beginning in 2002 all non-employee directors will
be awarded 5,000 stock options per year with an exercise price at fair market value, which may be exercised for up to 10 years while serving on the Board of
Directors (in general, three years from termination of service on the Board of Directors).

19. Earnings Per Share

        Earnings per common share is computed in accordance with SFAS No. 128, "Earnings Per Share" ("SFAS 128"). Basic earnings per share excludes the
dilutive effects of options and convertible securities, and is calculated by dividing net income available to common stock holders by the weighted-average number
of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects all potentially dilutive securities.
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        The following table sets forth the computation of basic earnings per share.

  

December 31,

  

2001

 

2000

 

1999

  ($ in thousands, except share amounts)



Numerator          
Net income applicable to common shares for basic and diluted earnings
per share  $ 40,463 $ 23,306 $ 86,149
    
Denominator          
Weighted-average common shares for basic earnings per share   116,458,902  112,090,493  100,000,000
Weighted-average effect of dilutive securities:          
 Employee stock options and awards   280,789  —  —
 Convertible Subordinated Notes   —  —  —
    
Weighted-average common and common equivalent shares for diluted
earnings per share   116,739,691  112,090,493  100,000,000
    
Basic and diluted earnings per share:          
 Before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle  $ 0.35 $ 1.11 $ 0.86
 Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle   —  (0.90)  —
    
 Net income  $ 0.35 $ 0.21 $ 0.86
    

        Options to purchase 8,569,258 shares of Common Stock, 12,000,000 shares underlying Subordinated Notes and 479,648 shares underlying warrants were
outstanding during 2001, but were not included in the computation of earnings per share as their inclusion would be antidilutive. During 2000 and 1999, there
were no potentialy dilutive common shares outstanding.

20. Subsequent Events

        On March 8, 2002, Nasdaq completed a two-stage repurchase of 33,768,895 shares of Common Stock owned by the NASD, which represented all of the
remaining outstanding shares of Common Stock owned by the NASD, except for the 43,225,976 shares of Common Stock underlying the warrants issued by the
NASD in Phase I and II. Nasdaq purchased the Common Stock for $305,155,435 in aggregate cash consideration, 1,338,402 shares of Nasdaq's Series A
Cumulative Preferred Stock (face and liquidation value of $100 per share, plus any accumulated unpaid dividends), and one share of Nasdaq's Series B Preferred
Stock, (face and liquidation value of $1.00 per share). The NASD owns all of the outstanding shares of Series A and Series B Preferred Stock. All of the shares of
Common Stock repurchased by Nasdaq from the NASD are no longer outstanding.

        The Series A Preferred Stock carries a 7.6% dividend rate payable at the discretion of Nasdaq's Board of Directors. Dividends do not begin accruing until
March 2003. Shares of Series A Preferred Stock do not have voting rights, except for the right as a class to elect two new directors to the Board of Directors
anytime distributions on the Series A Preferred Stock are in arrears for four consecutive quarter and as otherwise required by Delaware law. The Series B
Preferred Stock does not pay dividends. Series B Preferred Stock will be entitled to cast the number of votes that, together with all other votes that the NASD is
entitled to vote by virtue of ownership, proxies or voting trusts, enables the NASD to cast one vote more than one-half of all votes entitled to be cast by
stockholders. If Nasdaq obtains Exchange Registration, the share of Series B Preferred Stock will lose its voting rights and will be redeemed by Nasdaq. Nasdaq
may redeem the shares of Series A Preferred Stock at any time after Exchange Registration and is required to use the net proceeds from an IPO, and upon the
occurrence of certain other events, to redeem all or a portion of the Series A Preferred Stock.
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                          CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATIONS, 
                             PREFERENCES AND RIGHTS 
                                       OF 
                       SERIES A CUMULATIVE PREFERRED STOCK 
                                       OF 
                          THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC. 
 
                         Pursuant to Section 151 of the 
                        Delaware General Corporation Law 
 
          The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the 
"Corporation"), certifies that pursuant to the authority contained in its 
Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the "Certificate of Incorporation") and 
in accordance with the provisions of Section 151 of the General Corporation Law 
of the State of Delaware, the Board of Directors of the Corporation (the "Board 
of Directors"), acting by unanimous written consent, adopted the following 
resolution, which resolution remains in full force and effect as of the date 
hereof: 
 
          DOES HEREBY CERTIFY THAT: 
 
          RESOLVED, that there is hereby established a series of authorized 
preferred stock consisting of 1,338,402 shares, which series shall have the 
following powers, designations, preferences and relative, participating, 
optional or other rights, and the following qualifications, limitations and 
restrictions (in addition to any powers, designations, preferences and relative, 
participating, optional or other rights, and any qualifications, limitations and 
restrictions, set forth in the Certificate of Incorporation): 
 
          SECTION 1. DESIGNATION AND AMOUNT. The series of preferred stock 
created hereby shall be designated "Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock," par 
value $.01 per share (hereinafter called the "Series A Preferred Stock") and the 
number of shares constituting such series shall be 1,338,402. 
 
          SECTION 2. DIVIDENDS; RANKING. 
 
               (a) The holders of the Series A Preferred Stock shall be entitled 
to receive when, as and if declared by the Board of Directors out of the funds 
legally available therefor, 
 
                    (i) during the period commencing the date which is the first 
     anniversary (the "7.60% Dividend Date") of the date of the original 
     issuance of the Series A Preferred Stock (the "Issue Date") and ending the 
     date that is the second anniversary of the Issue Date (the "Second 
     Anniversary Date") cash dividends, at the annual rate of 7.60% of the 
     Series A Preferred Stock Liquidation Preference (as defined below) 
 
 
 
     per annum per share, and no more, which shall be fully cumulative and shall 
     accrue without interest from the 7.60% Dividend Date, and 
 
                    (ii) during the period commencing the date which is the day 
     immediately following the Second Anniversary Date (the "10.60% Dividend 
     Date"), cash dividends, at the annual rate of 10.60% of the Series A 
     Preferred Stock Liquidation Preference per annum per share, and no more, 
     which shall be fully cumulative and shall accrue without interest from the 
     10.60% Dividend Date. 
 
     No dividends shall accrue in respect of the period commencing on the Issue 
     Date and ending on the date that is the day immediately prior to the 7.60% 
     Dividend Date. Dividends shall be paid quarterly in arrears in equal 
     amounts (prorated for any partial dividend period) on March 31, June 30, 
     September 30 and December 31 of each year (unless such day is not a 
     Business Day (as defined below), in which event such dividends shall be 
     payable on the next succeeding Business Day) (each such date being referred 
     to herein as a "Dividend Payment Date"), commencing with March 31, 2003 
     (and in the case of any accrued but unpaid dividends, at such additional 
     times and for such interim periods, if any, as determined by the Board of 
     Directors) to the holders of record as they appear on the stock books of 
     the transfer agent for the Corporation (the "Transfer Agent") on the 
     immediately preceding March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15, 
     respectively, (and in the case of accrued and unpaid dividends to be paid 
     at such additional times and for such interim periods, if any, on such 
     record dates, which shall be not more than 30 days nor less than 10 days 
     preceding the Dividend Payment Dates, as fixed by the Board of Directors) 
     (each such date being referred to herein as a "Series A Record Date"), 
     PROVIDED that holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock called for 
     redemption on a redemption date falling between any Series A Record Date 



     and the corresponding Dividend Payment Date shall, in lieu of receiving 
     such dividend payment on the Dividend Payment Date fixed therefor, receive 
     such dividend payment together with all other accrued and unpaid dividends 
     on the date fixed for redemption. The amount of dividends payable per share 
     of Series A Preferred Stock for each quarterly dividend period shall be 
     computed, which computation shall be made within five Business Days of the 
     Dividend Payment Date, by dividing the annual dividend amount per share by 
     four and adding to such amount the amount of all accrued and unpaid 
     dividends. The amount of dividends payable for the initial dividend period 
     and dividends payable for any other period that is shorter or longer than a 
     full quarterly dividend period shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day 
     year consisting of twelve 30-day months. Holders of shares of Series A 
     Preferred Stock shall not be entitled to receive any dividends, whether 
     payable in cash, property or stock, which are in excess of the cumulative 
     dividends provided for herein. 
 
          "Business Day" shall mean any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a 
day on which state or federally chartered banking institutions in New York, New 
York are not required to be open. 
 
 
 
               (b) The Series A Preferred Stock shall rank, both as to the 
payment of dividends and as to the distribution of assets upon Liquidation (as 
defined below), senior to any existing and future classes or series of equity 
securities of the Corporation, including, without limitation, the Corporation's 
Common Stock, par value $.01 per share (the "Common Stock"), and the 
Corporation's Series B Preferred Stock, par value $.01 ("Series B Preferred 
Stock"). 
 
               (c) So long as any shares of the Series A Preferred Stock are 
outstanding, no dividends (other than dividends or distributions paid in shares 
of, or options, warrants or rights to subscribe for or purchase, or to 
effectuate a stock split, on shares of Junior Securities (as defined below)) 
shall be declared or paid or set apart for payment on Junior Securities, for any 
period, nor, except for the Series B Preferred Stock, shall any Junior 
Securities be redeemed, purchased or otherwise acquired (other than a 
redemption, purchase or other acquisition of shares of Common Stock made for the 
purposes of incentive or benefit plans or arrangements of the Corporation or any 
subsidiary thereof) for any consideration (or any moneys be paid to or made 
available for a sinking fund for the redemption of any such Junior Securities) 
by the Corporation (except for conversion into or exchange into other Junior 
Securities) unless, in each case, prior to or currently with such declaration, 
payment or setting apart for payment all accrued and unpaid dividends on all 
outstanding shares of the Series A Preferred Stock shall have been paid or set 
apart for payment and any such dividend on shares of Junior Securities or 
consideration for any such redemption, purchase or other acquisition of Junior 
Securities shall consist only of cash or Common Stock or options, warrants or 
rights to subscribe for or purchase Common Stock. 
 
               (d) As used in this Certificate of Designations, the term "Junior 
Securities" means any class or series of stock or equity securities of the 
Corporation that by its terms is junior to the Series A Preferred Stock, either 
as to the payment of dividends or as to the distribution of assets upon 
Liquidation, or both, including the Common Stock and the Series B Preferred 
Stock. 
 
               (e) For purposes of the Series A Preferred Stock, the amount of 
dividends "accrued" on any share of stock of any class or series as of any date 
shall be deemed to be the amount of any unpaid dividends accumulated thereon to 
and including the date of such determination. 
 
          SECTION 3. PREFERENCE ON LIQUIDATION. 
 
               (a) In the event of the Liquidation of the Corporation, the 
holders of the Series A Preferred Stock shall be entitled to have paid to them 
out of the assets of the Corporation available for distribution to stockholders 
before any distribution is made to or set apart for the holders of shares of 
Common Stock, Series B Preferred Stock or other Junior Securities, an amount in 
cash equal to $100.00 per share plus all accrued and unpaid dividends thereon, 
whether or not declared, to the date of Liquidation (the "Series A Preferred 
Stock Liquidation Preference"); PROVIDED, HOWEVER, upon a Liquidation in which 
upon distribution of assets some or all of the consideration shall be paid other 
than in cash, then the Series A Preferred Stock Liquidation Preference shall be 
 
 
 
payable in such form of consideration as shall be payable generally to 
stockholders upon such Liquidation, and if there shall be more than one type of 
consideration payable upon such Liquidation, then the Series A Preferred Stock 
Liquidation Preference shall be comprised of cash, to the full extent available, 



and such other type of consideration, it being understood that no holders of 
Junior Securities shall be entitled to receive any cash consideration unless and 
until the aggregate Series A Preferred Stock Liquidation Preference shall have 
been paid in full. 
 
               (b) If, upon any Liquidation, the assets of the Corporation or 
proceeds thereof distributable among the holders of shares of the Series A 
Preferred Stock shall be insufficient to permit the payment in full of the 
Series A Preferred Stock Liquidation Preference for each share of the Series A 
Preferred Stock then outstanding, then such assets or proceeds thereof shall be 
distributed among such holders of Series A Preferred Stock ratably in accordance 
with the respective amounts that would be payable on such shares if all amounts 
payable thereon were paid in full. 
 
               (c) In the event of a Liquidation, the Corporation shall give, by 
certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed to each 
holder of any shares of Series A Preferred Stock at the address of such holder 
as shown on the books of the Corporation, at least 20 days' prior written notice 
of the date on which the books of the Corporation shall close or a record shall 
be taken for determining rights to vote in respect of any such Liquidation and 
of the date when the same shall take place. 
 
               (d) As used in this Certificate of Designations, the term 
"Liquidation" shall be deemed to include (i) any liquidation, dissolution or 
winding up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary, (ii) the sale, 
lease, abandonment, transfer or other disposition (each, a "Transfer") by the 
Corporation of all or substantially all its assets for cash where (A) the Board 
of Directors is required, pursuant to the law of the state of incorporation of 
the Corporation, to approve such Transfer and (B) at the time of such Transfer 
no holder of Series A Preferred Stock, directly or indirectly, in the aggregate, 
has affirmative voting control of the Corporation either through ownership of 
capital stock or other equity securities or through representation on the Board 
of Directors (any Transfer satisfying the foregoing clauses (A) and (B), being 
referred to herein as a "Qualifying Asset Sale"), and (iii) any merger or 
consolidation of the Corporation into or with any other person or persons where 
(x) the Corporation is not the surviving person, (y) the Board of Directors is 
required, pursuant to the law of the state of incorporation of the Corporation, 
to approve such merger or consolidation and (z) at the time of such merger or 
consolidation, no holder of Series A Preferred Stock, directly or indirectly, in 
the aggregate, has affirmative voting control of the Corporation either through 
ownership of capital stock or other equity securities or through representation 
on the Board of Directors (any merger or consolidation satisfying the foregoing 
clauses (x), (y) and (z), being referred to herein as a "Qualifying Merger"). 
For the avoidance of doubt, "Liquidation" shall not be deemed to include (i) a 
consolidation or merger of the Corporation into or with any other entity or 
entities other than a Qualifying Merger, (ii) other than in connection with a 
Qualifying Merger, a transaction or series of related transactions that results 
in the transfer of more than 50% of the voting power of the Corporation and 
(iii) the Transfer by the Corporation of all or substantially all its assets 
 
 
 
other than in connection with a Qualifying Asset Sale or in connection with a 
plan of liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if at any time after the Issue Date, the Board of 
Directors determines in good faith, based upon a review of relevant information, 
including a written opinion of its independent auditors, that as a result of any 
change in U.S. generally accepted accounting principles or any applicable U.S. 
accounting authority, treating a Qualifying Merger or a Qualifying Asset Sale as 
a Liquidation would no longer permit the Series A Preferred Stock to be 
accounted for as stockholders' equity of the Corporation, a "Liquidation" will 
no longer be deemed to include a Qualifying Merger or a Qualifying Asset Sale, 
as the case may be; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that the Corporation shall provide prompt 
notice of such determination by the Board of Directors, together with a copy of 
the written opinion of the Corporation's independent auditors referred to above, 
to each holder of the Series A Preferred Stock. For purposes of this Section 
3(d) and Section 6, "person" means any natural person, corporation, general or 
limited partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, 
association or entity of any kind. 
 
          SECTION 4. VOTING. 
 
               (a) Except as herein provided or as otherwise required by 
applicable law, holders of Series A Preferred Stock shall have no voting rights. 
 
               (b) If and whenever four consecutive quarterly dividends payable 
on the Series A Preferred Stock have not been paid in full, the number of 
directors then constituting the Board of Directors shall be increased by two and 
the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock, voting as a single class, shall be 
entitled, in accordance with the Certificate of Incorporation and subject to the 
requirements of applicable laws, rules and regulations, to elect the two 



additional directors to serve on the Board of Directors at any annual meeting of 
stockholders or special meeting held in place thereof, or at a special meeting 
of the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock called as hereinafter provided. 
Whenever all arrears in dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock then 
outstanding shall have been paid or the Corporation shall have repurchased and 
redeemed all then-outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock, as the case 
may be, then the right of the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock to elect 
such additional two directors shall cease (but subject always to the same 
provisions for the vesting of such voting rights in the case of any similar 
future arrearages in four consecutive quarterly dividends), and the terms of 
office of all persons elected as directors by the holders of the Series A 
Preferred Stock shall forthwith terminate and the number of the Board of 
Directors shall be reduced accordingly. At any time after such voting power 
shall have been so vested in the holders of shares of the Series A Preferred 
Stock, the secretary of the Corporation may, and upon the written request of 
holders of at least 25% of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock 
(addressed to the secretary at the principal office of the Corporation) shall, 
call a special meeting of the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock for the 
election of the two directors, who shall satisfy all requirements of the 
Corporation's By-Laws, Certificate of Incorporation, applicable laws, rules and 
regulations for service as members of the Board of Directors, to be elected by 
them as herein provided, such call to be made by notice similar to that provided 
in the By-Laws of the Corporation for a special meeting of the stockholders or 
as required by law. If any 
 
 
 
such special meeting required to be called as above provided shall not be called 
by the secretary within 20 days after receipt of any such request, then any 
holder of shares of Series A Preferred Stock may call such meeting, upon the 
notice above provided, and for that purpose shall have access to the stock books 
of the Corporation. The directors elected at any such special meeting shall hold 
office until the next annual meeting of the stockholders or special meeting held 
in lieu thereof if such office shall not have previously terminated as above 
provided. If any vacancy shall occur among the directors elected by the holders 
of the Series A Preferred Stock, a successor shall be appointed by the 
then-remaining director elected by the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock 
or the successor of such remaining director of a person who satisfies all 
requirements of the Corporation's By-Laws, Certificate of Incorporation, 
applicable laws, rules and regulations for service as a member of the Board of 
Directors, to serve until the next annual meeting of the stockholders or special 
meeting held in place thereof if such office shall not have previously 
terminated as provided herein. If at any time both director positions elected by 
the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock are vacant at the same time, the 
Board of Directors shall appoint such persons as designated by a majority of the 
holders of the Series A Preferred Stock who satisfy all requirements of the 
Corporation's By-Laws, Certificate of Incorporation, applicable laws, rules and 
regulations for service as a member of the Board of Directors, to serve until 
the next annual meeting of the stockholders or special meeting held in place 
thereof if such office shall not have previously terminated as provided herein. 
Directors elected or appointed in accordance with this Section 4(b) may only be 
removed with the written consent of at least 66 2/3% in Series A Preferred Stock 
Liquidation Preference of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock or 
the vote of holders of at least 66 2/3% in Series A Preferred Stock Liquidation 
Preference of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock at a meeting of 
the holders of Series A Preferred Stock called for such purpose. 
 
               (c) Without the written consent of the holders of at least 66 
2/3% in Series A Preferred Stock Liquidation Preference of the outstanding 
shares of Series A Preferred Stock or the vote of holders of at least 66 2/3% in 
Series A Preferred Stock Liquidation Preference of the outstanding shares of 
Series A Preferred Stock at a meeting of the holders of Series A Preferred Stock 
called for such purpose, the Corporation will not amend, alter or repeal any 
provision of the Certificate of Incorporation (by merger or otherwise) so as to 
adversely affect the preferences, rights or powers of the Series A Preferred 
Stock; PROVIDED that any such amendment that changes the dividend payable on or 
the liquidation preference of the Series A Preferred Stock shall require the 
affirmative vote at a meeting of holders of Series A Preferred Stock called for 
such purpose or written consent of the holder of each share of Series A 
Preferred Stock. 
 
               (d) In exercising the voting rights set forth in this Section 4, 
each share of Series A Preferred Stock shall have one vote per share, except 
that when any other series of preferred stock shall have the right to vote with 
the Series A Preferred Stock as a single class on any matter, then the Series A 
Preferred Stock and such other series shall have with respect to such matters 
one vote per $100 of stated liquidation preference, disregarding any provision 
for accrued and unpaid dividends. Except as otherwise required by applicable law 
or as set forth herein, the shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall not have 
any relative, participating, optional or other special voting 
 



 
 
rights and powers and the consent of the holders thereof shall not be required 
for the taking of any corporate action. 
 
          SECTION 5. REDEMPTION. 
 
               (a) OPTIONAL REDEMPTION. Subject to the provisions of this 
Section 5, to the extent the Corporation shall have funds legally available for 
such payment, the Corporation shall have the right, exercisable from time to 
time, to redeem, at its option, in part or in whole, then-outstanding shares of 
Series A Preferred Stock at a redemption price per share in cash equal to 
$100.00 plus any accrued and unpaid dividends in arrears to, but excluding, the 
applicable redemption date (the "Redemption Price"); PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that no 
holder of Series A Preferred Stock, directly or indirectly, in the aggregate, 
has affirmative voting control of the Corporation either through ownership of 
capital stock or other equity securities, or through representation on the Board 
of Directors, at the time the Corporation determines to exercise its redemption 
right pursuant to this Section 5(a). 
 
               (b) MANDATORY REDEMPTION UPON AN IPO. In the event of a sale by 
the Corporation of shares of Common Stock in the first underwritten public 
offering (the "IPO") of Common Stock pursuant to a registration statement under 
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), the Corporation 
shall, within 10 business days from the consummation of the IPO, use the net 
proceeds to the Corporation from the IPO (the "IPO Net Proceeds") to redeem, in 
part or in whole, the maximum number, rounded downward to the nearest share, of 
outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock that may be redeemed at the 
Redemption Price per share through application of the IPO Net Proceeds. 
 
               (c) MANDATORY REDEMPTION UPON A NON-IPO SALE OF CAPITAL STOCK. In 
the event of a sale by the Corporation or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries (as 
defined below) of shares of their capital stock or other equity securities for 
cash proceeds from time to time, other than in the IPO, the Corporation shall, 
within 60 days from the consummation of such sale, use the net proceeds to the 
Corporation or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries from any such sale (the "Stock 
Sale Net Proceeds") to redeem, in whole or in part, the maximum number, rounded 
downward to the nearest whole share, of outstanding shares of Series A Preferred 
Stock that may be redeemed at the Redemption Price per share through application 
of the Stock Sale Net Proceeds. The obligations of this Section 5(c) shall not 
apply: 
 
                    (i) if the aggregate net proceeds in any transaction or 
     series of transactions with respect to sales of capital stock by the 
     Corporation or any Restricted Subsidiary does not exceed $10,000,000; 
 
                    (ii) to sales of capital stock in connection with a joint 
     venture, strategic alliance or other similar arrangement, in any such case 
     the primary purpose of which is other than the raising of capital for the 
     Corporation and the consideration involved in such transaction is not 
 
 
 
     predominantly comprised of cash, in each case as determined in good faith 
     by the Board of Directors; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that for the purposes of this 
     Section 5(c)(ii) any transaction or series of transactions that involves 
     cross-shareholdings obtained through substantially similar cash investments 
     shall not be deemed to have a primary purpose of raising capital or to 
     involve predominantly cash consideration; or 
 
                    (iii) to any issuance of shares of equity securities, or 
     securities convertible into equity, by the Corporation or a Restricted 
     Subsidiary, as the case may be, pursuant to benefit plans or arrangements 
     for employees, officers, directors or consultants, or pursuant to warrants 
     or convertible subordinated debentures outstanding on the Issue Date. 
 
               (d) If the Corporation shall redeem shares of Series A Preferred 
Stock pursuant to this Section 5, notice of such redemption shall be given by 
certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, mailed not less than 
two days nor more than 45 days prior to the redemption date, to each holder of 
record of the shares to be redeemed at such holder's address as the same appears 
on the stock books of the Transfer Agent. Any notice that was mailed in the 
manner herein provided shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given on 
the date mailed whether or not the holder receives the notice. Each such notice 
shall state: (i) the redemption date; (ii) the number of shares of Series A 
Preferred Stock to be redeemed and, if fewer than all the shares held by such 
holder are to be redeemed, the number of shares to be redeemed from such holder; 
(iii) the amount payable; (iv) the place or places where certificates for such 
shares are to be surrendered for payment of the Redemption Price; and (v) that 
dividends on the shares to be redeemed will cease to accrue on such redemption 
date, except as otherwise provided herein. 



 
               (e) Upon surrender in accordance with notice given pursuant to 
this Section 5 of the certificates for any shares of Series A Preferred Stock 
(properly endorsed or assigned for transfer, if the Board of Directors of the 
Corporation shall so require and the notice shall so state), such shares shall 
be redeemed by the Corporation at the Redemption Price. If fewer than all the 
outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock are to be redeemed, the number of 
shares to be redeemed shall be determined by the Board of Directors in 
accordance with this Certificate of Designations and the shares to be redeemed 
shall be selected pro rata (with any fractional shares being rounded down to the 
nearest whole share). In case fewer than all the shares of Series A Preferred 
Stock represented by any such certificate are redeemed, a new certificate shall 
be issued representing the unredeemed shares without cost to the holder thereof. 
 
               (f) If notice has been mailed as aforesaid, from and after the 
redemption date (unless default shall be made by the Corporation in providing 
for the payment of the Redemption Price of the shares called for redemption), 
(i) except as otherwise provided herein, dividends on the shares of Series A 
Preferred Stock so called for redemption shall cease to accrue, (ii) said shares 
shall no longer be deemed to be outstanding, and (iii) all rights of the holders 
thereof as holders of the Series A Preferred Stock shall cease (except the right 
to receive from the Corporation the Redemption Price 
 
 
 
without interest thereon, upon surrender and endorsement of their certificates 
if 
so required). 
 
               (g) As used in this Certificate of Designations, the term 
"Restricted Subsidiary" shall be deemed to mean any direct or indirect 
subsidiary of the Corporation other than (i) any subsidiary set forth on 
Schedule A hereto and (ii) any subsidiary that is formed in connection with a 
joint venture, strategic alliance or other similar arrangement and the primary 
purpose of which is other than the raising of capital, as determined in good 
 .faith by the Board of Directors. 
 
          SECTION 6. MERGER OR CONSOLIDATION. In the event of a merger or 
consolidation of the Corporation with or into any person pursuant to which the 
Corporation shall not be the continuing person and that does not constitute a 
Liquidation within the meaning of Section 3(d), the Series A Preferred Stock 
shall be converted into or exchanged for and shall become preferred shares of 
such successor or resulting company or, at the Corporation's sole discretion, 
the parent of such successor or resulting company, having in respect of such 
successor or resulting company or parent of such successor or resulting company, 
substantially the same powers, preferences and relative participating, optional 
or other special rights, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions 
thereon, that the Series A Preferred Stock had immediately prior to such 
transaction, and with any additional preferences, rights or powers as may be 
determined by the Corporation that would not adversely affect the preferences, 
rights or powers of the Series A Preferred Stock. 
 
          SECTION 7. LIMITATION AND RIGHTS UPON INSOLVENCY. Notwithstanding any 
other provision of this Certificate of Designations, the Corporation shall not 
be required to pay any dividend on, or to pay any amount in respect to any 
redemption of, the Series A Preferred Stock at a time when immediately after 
making such payment the Corporation is or would be rendered insolvent (as 
defined by applicable law), PROVIDED, that the obligation of the Corporation to 
make any such payment shall not be extinguished in the event the foregoing 
limitation applies. 
 
          SECTION 8. SHARES TO BE RETIRED. Any share of Series A Preferred Stock 
redeemed, exchanged or otherwise acquired by the Corporation shall be retired 
and canceled and shall upon cancellation be restored to the status of authorized 
but unissued shares of preferred stock, subject to reissuance by the Board of 
Directors as Series A Preferred Stock or as shares of preferred stock of one or 
more other series. 
 
          SECTION 9. RECORD HOLDERS. The Corporation and the Transfer Agent, if 
any, may deem and treat the record holder of any shares of Series A Preferred 
Stock as the true and lawful owner thereof for all purposes, and neither the 
Corporation nor the Transfer Agent, if any, shall be affected by any notice to 
the contrary. 
 
          SECTION 10. TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS. Prior to the one-year anniversary 
date of the Issue Date, a holder of Series A Preferred Stock may not effect any 
offer, sale, pledge, transfer or other disposition or distribution (or enter 
into any agreement with 
 
 
 



respect to any of the foregoing) of Series A Preferred Stock without the prior 
written consent of the Corporation. 
 
          SECTION 11. LEGENDS. 
 
               (a) Prior to the one-year anniversary date of the Issue Date, any 
certificate representing shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall bear the 
following legend: 
 
          THE SHARES OF SERIES A PREFERRED STOCK, PAR VALUE $.01 PER SHARE, OF 
          THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC. REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE MAY NOT 
          BE OFFERED, SOLD OR TRANSFERRED BY THE HOLDER HEREOF PRIOR TO MARCH 8, 
          2003 WITHOUT THE PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, 
          INC. 
 
          Subsequent to the one-year anniversary date of the Issue Date, the 
     Corporation agrees, from time to time and at the request of a holder, to 
     issue replacement certificates representing such holder's shares of Series 
     A Preferred Stock that do not bear the legend contained in Section 11(a). 
 
               (b) Until no longer required by applicable law, any certificate 
representing shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall bear the following legend: 
 
          THE SHARES OF SERIES A PREFERRED STOCK, PAR VALUE $.01 PER SHARE, OF 
          THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC. REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE NOT 
          BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR UNDER 
          THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OR FOREIGN JURISDICTION AND MAY NOT 
          BE OFFERED, SOLD OR TRANSFERRED WITHOUT COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE 
          FEDERAL, STATE OR FOREIGN SECURITIES LAWS. 
 
          Subsequent to registration of the Series A Preferred Stock pursuant to 
     the Securities Act, the Corporation agrees, from time to time and upon 
     request of a holder, to issue replacement certificates representing such 
     holder's shares of Series A Preferred Stock that do not bear the legend 
     contained in Section 11(b). 
 
          SECTION 12. NOTICES. Except as may otherwise be provided for herein, 
all notices referred to herein shall be in writing, and all notices hereunder 
shall be deemed to have been given upon the earlier of (a) receipt of such 
notice, (b) three Business Days after the mailing of such notice if sent by 
registered mail (unless first-class mail shall be specifically permitted for 
such notice under the terms hereof) or (c) the Business Day following the date 
such notice was sent by overnight courier, in any case with postage or delivery 
charges prepaid, addressed: if to the Corporation, to its offices at One Liberty 
Plaza, New York, New York 10006, Attention: General Counsel, or to an agent of 
the Corporation designated as permitted by the Certificate of Incorporation, or, 
if to any 
 
 
 
holder of the Series A Preferred Stock, to such holder at the address of such 
holder of the Series A Preferred Stock as listed in the stock record books of 
the Corporation, or as the holder shall have designated by written notice 
similarly given by the holder and received by the Corporation. 
 
          SECTION 13. OTHER RIGHTS. Other than as may be prescribed by law, the 
holders of the Series A Preferred Stock shall not have any other voting rights, 
conversion rights, preferences or special rights. 
 
 
 
                  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this 
Certificate of Designations to be executed this 8th day of March, 2002. 
 
                                    THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC. 
 
                                    By:    /s/ David P. Warren 
                                           ----------------------------- 
                                    Name:  David P. Warren 
                                    Title: Executive Vice President and 
                                           Chief Financial Officer 
 
 
 
                                   SCHEDULE A 
 
       
1.       Nasdaq Tools, Inc. 
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                          CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATIONS, 
                             PREFERENCES AND RIGHTS 
                                       OF 
                            SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK 
                                       OF 
                          THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC. 
 
                         Pursuant to Section 151 of the 
                        Delaware General Corporation Law 
 
          The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the 
"Corporation"), certifies that pursuant to the authority contained in its 
Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the "Certificate of Incorporation") and 
in accordance with the provisions of Section 151 of the General Corporation Law 
of the State of Delaware, the Board of Directors of the Corporation (the "Board 
of Directors"), acting by unanimous written consent, adopted the following 
resolution, which resolution remains in full force and effect as of the date 
hereof: 
 
          DOES HEREBY CERTIFY THAT: 
 
          RESOLVED, that there is hereby established a series of authorized 
preferred stock consisting of one share, which series shall have the following 
powers, designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other 
rights, and the following qualifications, limitations and restrictions (in 
addition to any powers, designations, preferences and relative, participating, 
optional or other rights, and any qualifications, limitations and restrictions, 
set forth in the Certificate of Incorporation): 
 
          SECTION 1. DESIGNATION AND AMOUNT. The series of preferred stock 
     created hereby shall be designated "Series B Preferred Stock," par value 
     $.01 per share (hereinafter called the "Series B Preferred Stock") and the 
     number of shares constituting such series shall be one. 
 
          SECTION 2. DIVIDENDS. The holder of the Series B Preferred Stock shall 
     not be entitled to receive dividends. 
 
          SECTION 3.  PREFERENCE ON LIQUIDATION. 
 
               (a)    In the event of the Liquidation (as defined below) of the 
     Corporation, the holder of the Series B Preferred Stock shall be entitled 
     to have paid to it out of the assets of the Corporation available for 
     distribution to stockholders before any distribution is made to or set 
     apart for the holders of 
 
 
 
     shares of the Corporation's Common Stock, par value $.01 per share (the 
     "Common Stock"), or other Junior Securities (as defined below), an amount 
     in cash equal to $1.00 per share (the "Series B Preferred Stock Liquidation 
     Preference"). 
 
               (b)    In the event of a Liquidation, the Corporation shall give, 
     by certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed to 
     the holder of the share of Series B Preferred Stock at the address of such 
     holder as shown on the books of the Corporation, at least 20 days prior 
     written notice of the date on which the books of the Corporation shall 
     close or a record shall be taken for determining rights to vote in respect 
     of any such Liquidation and of the date when the same shall take place. 
 
               (c)    As used in this Certificate of Designations, the term 
     "Junior Securities" means any class or series of stock or equity securities 
     of the Corporation that by its terms is junior to the Series B Preferred 
     Stock as to the distribution of assets upon Liquidation. 
 
               (d)    As used in this Certificate of Designations, the term 
     "Liquidation" shall be deemed to include any liquidation, dissolution or 
     winding up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary. For the 
     avoidance of doubt, "Liquidation" shall not be deemed to include (i) a 
     consolidation or merger of the Corporation into or with any other entity or 
     entities, (ii) a transaction or series of related transactions that results 
     in the transfer of more than 50% of the voting power of the Corporation and 
     (iii) unless in connection with a plan of liquidation, dissolution or 
     winding up of the Corporation, the sale, lease, abandonment, transfer or 
     other disposition by the Corporation of all or substantially all its 
     assets. 
 
          SECTION 4.  VOTING. The holder of the share of Series B Preferred 
     Stock shall have the following voting rights: 



 
               (a)    The holder of the share of Series B Preferred Stock shall 
     be entitled to vote on all matters submitted to a vote of the stockholders 
     of the Corporation, voting together with the holders of the Common Stock 
     (and of any other shares of capital stock of the Corporation entitled to 
     vote at a meeting of stockholders) as one class, except in cases where a 
     separate or additional vote or consent of the holders of any class or 
     series of capital stock or other equity securities of the Corporation shall 
     be required by the Certificate of Incorporation, including, without 
     limitation, Section 4(c) hereof, or by applicable law, in which case the 
     requirement for any such separate or 
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     additional vote or consent shall apply in addition to the single class vote 
     or consent otherwise required by this paragraph. 
 
               (b)    As of each record date for the determination of the 
     Corporation's stockholders entitled to vote on any matter (a "Record 
     Date"), the share of Series B Preferred Stock shall have voting rights and 
     powers equal to the number of votes that, together with all other votes 
     entitled to be cast by the holder of the share of Series B Preferred Stock 
     on such Record Date, whether by virtue of beneficial ownership of capital 
     stock of the Corporation, proxies, voting trusts or otherwise, entitle the 
     holder of the share of Series B Preferred Stock to exercise one vote more 
     than one-half of all votes entitled to be cast as of such Record Date by 
     all holders of capital stock of the Corporation. 
 
               (c)    Without the written consent of the holder of the share of 
     Series B Preferred Stock at a meeting of the holder of the Series B 
     Preferred Stock called for such purpose, the Corporation will not amend, 
     alter or repeal any provision of the Certificate of Incorporation (by 
     merger or otherwise) so as to adversely affect the preferences, rights or 
     powers of the Series B Preferred Stock. 
 
               (d)    Upon the Corporation becoming registered with the U.S. 
     Securities and Exchange Commission as a national securities exchange 
     ("Exchange Registration"), the rights of the holder of the Series B 
     Preferred Stock pursuant to this Section 4 shall immediately terminate and 
     the holder of the Series B Preferred Stock shall thereafter have no voting 
     rights, except as otherwise required by applicable law. 
 
          SECTION 5.  REDEMPTION. 
 
               (a)    Upon Exchange Registration, to the extent the Corporation 
     shall have funds legally available for such payment, the Corporation shall 
     promptly redeem the share of Series B Preferred Stock at a redemption price 
     per share in cash equal to the Series B Preferred Stock Liquidation 
     Preference (the "Redemption Price"). 
 
               (b)    If the Corporation shall redeem the share of Series B 
     Preferred Stock pursuant to this Section 5, notice of such redemption shall 
     be given by certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, 
     mailed not less than two days nor more than 45 days prior to the redemption 
     date, to the holder of record of the share to be redeemed at such holder's 
     address as the 
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     same appears on the stock books of the transfer agent for the Corporation 
     (the "Transfer Agent"). Any notice that was mailed in the manner herein 
     provided shall be conclusively presumed to have been duly given on the date 
     mailed whether or not the holder receives the notice. Each such notice 
     shall state: (i) the redemption date; and (ii) the place or places where 
     the certificate for such share is to be surrendered for payment of the 
     Redemption Price. 
 
               (c)    Upon surrender in accordance with notice given pursuant to 
     this Section 5 of the certificate for the share of Series B Preferred Stock 
     (properly endorsed or assigned for transfer, if the Board of Directors of 
     the Corporation shall so require and the notice shall so state), such share 
     shall be redeemed by the Corporation at the Redemption Price. 
 
               (d)    If notice has been mailed as aforesaid, from and after the 
     redemption date (unless default shall be made by the Corporation in 
     providing for the payment of the Redemption Price of the shares called for 
     redemption), (i) said share shall no longer be deemed to be outstanding, 
     and (iii) all rights of the holder thereof as holder of the Series B 
     Preferred Stock shall cease (except the right to receive from the 



     Corporation the Redemption Price without interest thereon, upon surrender 
     and endorsement of its certificates if so required). 
 
          SECTION 6.  MERGER OR CONSOLIDATION. In the event of a merger or 
     consolidation of the Corporation with or into any person pursuant to which 
     the corporation shall not be the continuing person, the Series B Preferred 
     Stock shall be converted into or exchanged for and shall become a preferred 
     share of such successor or resulting company or, at the Corporation's sole 
     discretion, the parent of such successor or resulting company, having in 
     respect of such successor or resulting company or parent of such successor 
     or resulting company, substantially the same powers, preferences and 
     relative participating, optional or other special rights, and the 
     qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereon, that the Series B 
     Preferred Stock had immediately prior to such transaction and with any 
     additional preferences, rights or powers as may be determined by the 
     Corporation that would not adversely affect the preferences, rights or 
     powers of the Series B Preferred Stock. For purposes of this Section 6, 
     "person" means any natural person, corporation, general or limited 
     partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, association 
     or entity of any kind. 
 
          SECTION 7.  LIMITATION AND RIGHTS UPON INSOLVENCY. Notwithstanding any 
     other provision of this Certificate of Designations, the Corporation 
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     shall not be required to pay any amount in respect to any redemption of the 
     Series B Preferred Stock at a time when immediately after making such 
     payment the Corporation is or would be rendered insolvent (as defined by 
     applicable law), provided that the obligation of the Corporation to make 
     any such payment shall not be extinguished in the event the foregoing 
     limitation applies. 
 
          SECTION 8.  SHARE TO BE RETIRED. When the share of Series B Preferred 
     Stock is redeemed, exchanged or otherwise acquired by the Corporation, it 
     shall be retired and canceled and shall upon cancellation be restored to 
     the status of authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock, subject to 
     reissuance by the Board of Directors as Series B Preferred Stock or as 
     shares of preferred stock of one or more other series. 
 
          SECTION 9.  RECORD HOLDERS. The Corporation and the Transfer Agent, if 
     any, may deem and treat the record holder of the share of Series B 
     Preferred Stock as the true and lawful owner thereof for all purposes, and 
     neither the Corporation nor the Transfer Agent, if any, shall be affected 
     by any notice to the contrary. 
 
          SECTION 10. TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS. The holder of Series B Preferred 
     Stock may not effect any offer, sale, pledge, transfer or other disposition 
     or distribution (or enter into any agreement with respect to any of the 
     foregoing) of the share of Series B Preferred Stock. 
 
          SECTION 11. LEGENDS. The certificate representing the share of Series 
     B Preferred Stock shall bear the following legend: 
 
          THE SHARE OF SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK, PAR VALUE $.01 PER SHARE, OF 
          THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC. REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE MAY NOT 
          BE OFFERED, SOLD OR TRANSFERRED BY THE HOLDER HEREOF. 
 
          SECTION 12. NOTICES. Except as may otherwise be provided for herein, 
     all notices referred to herein shall be in writing, and all notices 
     hereunder shall be deemed to have been given upon the earlier of (a) 
     receipt of such notice, (b) three Business Days (as defined below) after 
     the mailing of such notice if sent by registered mail (unless first-class 
     mail shall be specifically permitted for such notice under the terms 
     hereof) or (c) the Business Day following the date such notice was sent by 
     overnight courier, in any case with postage or delivery charges prepaid, 
     addressed: if to the Corporation, to 
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     its offices at One Liberty Plaza, New York, New York 10006, Attention: 
     General Counsel, or to an agent of the Corporation designated as permitted 
     by the Certificate of Incorporation, or, if to the holder of the Series B 
     Preferred Stock, to such holder at the address of such holder of the Series 
     B Preferred Stock as listed in the stock record books of the Corporation, 
     or as the holder shall have designated by written notice similarly given by 
     the holder and received by the Corporation. "Business Day" shall mean any 
     day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which state or federally 
     chartered banking institutions in New York, New York are not required to be 



     open. 
 
          SECTION 13. OTHER RIGHTS. Other than as may be prescribed by law, the 
     holders of the Series B Preferred Stock shall not have any other voting 
     rights, conversion rights, preferences or special rights. 
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          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Certificate of 
Designations to be executed this 8th day of March, 2002. 
 
                                 THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC. 
 
                                 By:     /s/ David P. Warren 
                                     ------------------------------------------- 
                                 Name:   David P. Warren 
                                 Title:  Executive Vice President and 
                                         Chief Financial Officer 
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                              AMENDMENT ONE TO THE 
                              EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
 
          This Amendment is hereby entered into effective as of February 1, 
2002, by and between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. (the "Company") and John 
Hilley (the "Executive"). 
 
                               W I T N E S S E T H 
 
          WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive entered into on December 29, 
2000, an Employment Agreement (the "Employment Agreement"), providing for the 
Executive's continued employment with the Company; and 
 
          WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive desire to amend the Employment 
Agreement. 
 
          NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby 
acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows: 
 
          1. Section 3 of the Employment Agreement is hereby amended in its 
     entirety to contain two subsections (a) and (b) each of which shall read in 
     their entirety as follows: 
 
               (a) ANNUAL SALARY. During the Employment Term, the Company shall 
          pay the Executive salary (the "Annual Salary") at the annual rate of 
          not less than $500,000. Annual Salary shall be payable in regular 
          installments in accordance with the Company's usual payroll practices. 
          The Management Compensation Committee of the Board (the "Compensation 
          Committee") shall review Annual Salary for the purpose of increasing 
          it in accordance with its normal review procedures. 
 
               (b) INCENTIVE COMPENSATION/BONUS. With respect to each calendar 
          year during the Employment Term, the Company shall award the Executive 
          such incentive compensation (hereinafter "Incentive Compensation") as 
          the Compensation Committee may determine in its discretion; provided 
          that in no event may the sum of Incentive Compensation to be awarded 
          and the Executive's Annual Salary be less than $1.2 million. Incentive 
          Compensation for each calendar year shall be paid at the same time as 
          the Company pays Incentive Compensation awards to other executives, 
          but in no event later than the March 1st following the calendar year 
          with respect to which such Incentive Compensation relates. 
          Notwithstanding the foregoing, twenty percent (20%) of the Incentive 
          Compensation awarded and otherwise due and payable with respect to 
          each calendar year (the "Retained Amount"), shall be retained by the 
          Company in accordance with the terms of the Company's Retention 
          Component of the Incentive Compensation Program, as adopted by the 
          Compensation Committee on January 23, 2002 (the "Retention Policy"). 
          The Retained Amount shall be credited with interest at the rate set 
          forth in the Retention Policy and shall be due and payable pursuant to 
          the terms of the Retention Policy, and to the extent applicable, as 
          modified by this Section 3(b). In the event the Executive's employment 
          is terminated on or after December 31, 2003, other than pursuant to 
          Section 8(a) of the Employment Agreement (for Cause), the 
 
 
 
          Company shall pay the Executive the Retained Amount plus interest at 
          the rate set forth in the Retention Policy. 
 
          2. Section 4(b)(ii) of the Employment Agreement is hereby amended such 
     that it reflects that the cross-referenced sections for the definitions of 
     (x) Disability and (y) Cause and Good Reason shall be to Sections 8(b) and 
     8(c) respectively. 
 
          3. The first sentence of Section 7 of the Employment Agreement is 
     hereby amended to read as follows: 
 
               Subject to the Executive's employment with the Company on August 
          9, 2002 (the "Stay Pay Date"), the Company shall pay the Executive an 
          additional bonus equal to not less than $2.4 million (the "Stay Pay 
          Bonus"); PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that the Executive's earlier death or 
          Disability (as defined in Section 8(b) hereof) while employed or 
          termination pursuant to Section 8(c) hereof shall also be a Stay Pay 
          Date. 
 
          4. The second paragraph of Section 8(b) of the Employment Agreement is 



     hereby amended such that the phrase "and Incentive Compensation" appears 
     immediately following the phrase "all unpaid Annual Salary" in clause (ii) 
     of such paragraph. 
 
          5. The second paragraph of Section 8(c) of the Employment Agreement is 
     hereby amended to read in its entirety as follows: 
 
               If the Executive's employment is terminated by the Company 
          without Cause (other than by reason of his Disability or death) or the 
          Executive terminates this Agreement for Good Reason, the Executive 
          shall be entitled to receive: (i) any accrued but unpaid Annual Salary 
          through the date of such termination, (ii) the Stay Pay Bonus provided 
          by Section 7 hereof if not already paid and (iii) all other current 
          cash obligations of the Company to the Executive (e.g. unused 
          vacation). In addition, the Executive shall be entitled to receive: 
          (x) his Annual Salary through the later of (i) the balance of the Term 
          or (ii) twenty-four months from the date of such termination (the 
          "Severance Period") and (y) any Incentive Compensation (including any 
          Retained Amount pursuant to Section 3(b) hereof) and assuming the 
          awarding of the minimum guaranteed amount of such Incentive 
          Compensation as set forth in Section 3(b)) hereof, that would have 
          been paid or earned by the Executive through the Severance Period. 
          Such severance shall be paid in a lump sum within thirty (30) days 
          following the termination date. The Company shall provide continued 
          health coverage at its expense for the Severance Period. All other 
          benefits, if any, due the Executive following termination pursuant to 
          this Section 8(c) shall be determined in accordance with the plans, 
          policies and practices of the Company; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that the 
          Executive shall not participate in any severance plan, policy or 
          program of the Company. 
 
          6. This Amendment shall in no way reduce or otherwise negatively 
     impact the calculation of the SERP benefits due the Executive pursuant to 
     Section 4(b) of the 
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     Employment Agreement and accordingly, subsection (vi) of Section 4(b) is 
     hereby amended to read in its entirety as follows: 
 
               For purposes of determining the Executive's Final Average 
          Compensation, the Executive's "Compensation" shall be deemed to be the 
          sum of (x) one-half of the sum of his Annual Salary and Incentive 
          Compensation and (y) one-third of one-half of the sum of his Annual 
          Salary and Incentive Compensation. 
 
               Except as specifically set forth herein, all other provisions of 
     the Employment Agreement shall remain unchanged and in full force effect. 
 
               IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment 
to be executed March 1, 2002. 
 
                                       By: /s/ John Hilley 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
                                          John Hilley 
 
                                       THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC. 
 
                                       By: /s/ H. Furlong Baldwin 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
                                          H. Furlong Baldwin, Chairman of 
                                          The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 
                                          Management Compensation Committee 
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                              AMENDMENT ONE TO THE 
                              EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
 
     This Amendment is hereby entered into effective as of February 1, 2002, by 
and between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. (the "Company") and Richard G. Ketchum 
(the "Executive"). 
 
                               W I T N E S S E T H 
 
     WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive entered into on December 29, 2000, 
an Employment Agreement (the "Employment Agreement"), providing for the 
Executive's continued employment with the Company; and 
 
     WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive desire to amend the Employment 
Agreement. 
 
     NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the 
parties hereto hereby agree as follows: 
 
     1.   Section 4 of the Employment Agreement is hereby amended by adding the 
          following two new sentences at the end thereof: 
 
               Notwithstanding the foregoing, twenty percent (20%) of the 
               Incentive Compensation, otherwise due and payable with respect to 
               each calendar year (the "Retained Amount"), shall be retained by 
               the Company in accordance with the terms of the Company's 
               Retention Component of the Incentive Compensation Program, as 
               adopted by the Compensation Committee on January 23, 2002 (the 
               "Retention Policy"), as such policy may be amended from time to 
               time. The Retained Amount shall be credited with interest at the 
               rate set forth in the Retention Policy and shall be due and 
               payable pursuant to the terms of the Retention Policy. 
 
     2.   For the avoidance of doubt, this Amendment shall in no way reduce or 
          otherwise negatively impact: (i) the calculation of the SERP benefits 
          due the Executive pursuant to Section 5(b) of the Employment 
          Agreement, or (ii) the amount of severance otherwise due and payable 
          to the Executive in accordance with applicable subsection of Section 9 
          of the Employment Agreement. 
 
     3.   Except as specially set forth above, all other provisions of the 
          Employment Agreement shall remain unchanged and in full force effect. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be 
executed February 17, 2002. 
 
                                  By: /s/ Richard G. Ketchum 
                                     ------------------------------------------- 
                                      Richard G. Ketchum 
 
 
                                  THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC. 
 
 
                                  By: /s/ H. Furlong Baldwin 
                                     ------------------------------------------- 
                                      H. Furlong Baldwin, Chairman of 
                                      The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 
                                      Management Compensation Committee 
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                                AMENDMENT TWO TO 
                              EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
 
          This Amendment is hereby entered into by and between The Nasdaq Stock 
Market, Inc. ("Nasdaq") and Hardwick Simmons ("Simmons") effective as of 
February 1, 2002. 
 
                              W I T N E S S E T H 
 
          WHEREAS, Nasdaq and Simmons have entered into on December 7, 2000 a 
certain employment agreement, to be effective as of February 1, 2001 (the 
"Employment Agreement"), providing for Simmons' employment with Nasdaq; and 
 
          WHEREAS, Nasdaq and Simmons desire to amend the Employment Agreement. 
 
          NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby 
acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows: 
 
          1. Paragraph 3(a) of the Employment Agreement is hereby amended to add 
the following new sentence at the end thereof: 
 
          Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Agreement, 
twenty percent (20%) of the Incentive Compensation, otherwise due and payable 
pursuant to this Paragraph 3(a) shall be retained by Nasdaq in accordance with 
the terms of the Nasdaq Retention Component of the Incentive Compensation 
Program, as adopted by the Management Compensation Committee of the Nasdaq Board 
of Directors on January 23, 2002, and as such policy may be amended from time to 
time. 
 
          2. For the avoidance of doubt, this Amendment shall in no way reduce 
or otherwise negatively impact the calculation or amount of any pension or 
retirement benefit due the Simmons pursuant to the Employment Agreement or any 
employee benefit plan of Nasdaq. 
 
          3. Except as specially set forth above, all other provisions of the 
Employment Agreement shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect. 
 
          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to 
be executed February 8, 2002. 
 
                         By: /s/ Hardwick Simmons 
                            ---------------------------------------------------- 
                            Hardwick Simmons 
 
                         THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC. 
 
                         By: /s/ H.Furlong Baldwin 
                            ---------------------------------------------------- 
                            H. Furlong Baldwin, Chairman of The Nasdaq Stock 
                            Market, Inc. Management Compensation Committee 
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February 8, 2001 (as amended March 21, 2002) 
 
 
Mr. David Weild IV 
111 West 67th Street 
Apt. 34D 
New York, NY 10023 
 
Dear David: 
 
      This letter agreement (the "Letter Agreement"), serves as an amendment 
and restatement of the offer letter presented to you on March 8, 2001. This 
Letter Agreement contains the entire understanding between you and The Nasdaq 
Stock Market, Inc. (the "Company") with respect to your employment with the 
Company and any and all agreements including, without limitation, the March 
8, 2001 offer letter (other than your Option Agreements and Restricted Stock 
Agreement described in Paragraph 4 of this Letter Agreement) previously 
entered into shall be null and void. This Letter Agreement may not be 
altered, modified, or amended except by written instrument signed by the 
parties hereto. 
 
      1. Your position with the Company is Vice Chairman and Executive Vice 
President, Corporate Client Group and in this role you report directly to the 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. 
 
      2. Your annual base salary is $400,000 beginning with your start date 
of March 12, 2001. Your base salary will be reviewed periodically for 
purposes of increasing it based upon your performance. 
 
      3. You are entitled to receive a guaranteed minimum annual bonus of 
$700,000 for each of calendar year 2001 and 2002, payable with respect to 
each such calendar year at the same time as the Company pays bonus awards to 
other senior executives, but in no event later than March 1st following the 
calendar year with respect to which the bonus relates contingent upon your 
not having (a) been terminated for "Cause" or (b) voluntarily resigned 
without "Good Reason." Notwithstanding the foregoing, under the terms of our 
incentive compensation program, as adopted by the Management Compensation 
Committee of our Board of Directors (the "Board"), 20% of your annual bonus 
(the "Retained Amount") will be retained for 24 months following the date 
bonuses are paid in accordance with the terms of that program. 
 
      For purposes of this Letter Agreement the terms "Cause", "Good Reason" 
and "Change in Control" shall have the following meanings: 
 
            (a) Cause means (i) you engaging in willful misconduct that is 
      injurious to the Company or its affiliates, (ii) your embezzlement or 
 
 
 
      misappropriation of funds or property of the Company or its affiliates, 
      or your conviction of a felony or your entrance of a plea of guilty or 
      nolo contendere to a felony, (iii) your willful failure or refusal to 
      substantially perform your duties or responsibilities that continues 
      after being brought to your attention (other than any such failure 
      resulting from your incapacity due to disability), or (iv) your 
      violation any restrictive covenants entered into between you and the 
      Company or the Company's Guidelines for Appropriate Conduct as 
      described in the Company's Employee Handbook, or the Company's Code of 
      Conduct. 
 
            (b) Good Reason means a material diminishment of your 
      responsibilities and compensation, relocation without your consent, or 
      a Change in Control. 
 
            (c)   Change in Control means the first to occur of any one of 
      the events set forth in the following paragraphs: 
 
                  (i) any "Person," as such term is used in Sections 13(d) 
            and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange 
            Act") (other than (A) the Company, (B) any trustee or other 
            fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of 
            the Company, (C) any entity owned, directly or indirectly, by the 
            stockholders of the Company in substantially the same proportions 
            as their ownership of the Common Stock of the Company ("Shares"), 
            and (D) the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc.), is 
            or becomes the "beneficial owner" (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under 
            the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly (not including any 



            securities acquired directly (or through an underwriter) from the 
            Company or its affiliates), of 25% or more of the Shares; 
 
                  (ii) the following individuals cease for any reason to 
            constitute a majority of the number of directors then serving on 
            the Company's Board of Directors (the "Board"): individuals who, 
            on March 12, 2001, were members of the Board and any new director 
            (other than a director whose initial assumption of office is in 
            connection with an actual or threatened election contest, 
            including but not limited to a consent solicitation, relating to 
            the election of directors of the Company) whose appointment or 
            election by the Board or nomination for election by the Company's 
            stockholders was approved or recommended by a vote of at least 
            two-thirds (2/3) of the directors then still in office who either 
            were directors on March 12, 2001 or whose appointment, election 
            or nomination for election was previously so approved or 
            recommended; 
 
                  (iii) there is consummated a merger or consolidation of the 
            Company with any other corporation or the Company issues Shares 
            in connection with a merger or consolidation of any direct or 
            indirect subsidiary of the Company with any other corporation, 
            other than (A) a merger or consolidation that would result in the 
            Shares of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto 
            continuing to represent (either by 
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            remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting 
            securities of the surviving or parent entity) more than 50% of 
            the Company's then outstanding Shares or 50% of the combined 
            voting power of such surviving or parent entity outstanding 
            immediately after such merger or consolidation or (B) a merger or 
            consolidation effected to implement a recapitalization of the 
            Company (or similar transaction) in which no Person, directly or 
            indirectly, acquired 25% or more of the Company's then 
            outstanding Shares (not including any securities acquired 
            directly (or through an underwriter) from the Company or its 
            affiliates); or 
 
                  (iv) the stockholders of the Company approve a plan of 
            complete liquidation of the Company or there is consummated an 
            agreement for the sale or disposition by the Company of all or 
            substantially all of the Company's assets (or any transaction 
            having a similar effect), other than a sale or disposition by the 
            Company of all or substantially all of the Company's assets to an 
            entity, at least 50% of the combined voting power of the voting 
            securities of which are owned directly or indirectly by 
            stockholders of the Company in substantially the same proportions 
            as their ownership of the Company immediately prior to such sale. 
 
      4. You were granted pursuant to the terms of the Company's Equity 
Incentive Plan (the "Equity Plan"), 14,000 incentive stock options, 250,000 
non-qualified stock options and 15,900 shares of restricted stock. The terms 
and conditions of these awards are governed by the Equity Plan and the Stock 
Option and Restricted Stock Award Agreements entered into by and between you 
and the Company. 
 
      5. You will also be eligible for future equity grants/awards 
commensurate with the Company policy or practice in effect at the time of 
issuance. Any such awards will require current and continued employment with 
the Company and continued satisfactory performance. 
 
      6.    You are entitled to four (4) weeks paid vacation per year. 
 
      7. The Company shall pay or reimburse you for your reasonable legal 
fees and expenses incurred in connection with the negotiation and execution 
of this Letter Agreement upon presentation by you of written invoices or 
receipts setting forth in reasonable detail the basis for such legal fees and 
expenses. 
 
      8. During your employment with the Company you shall be provided with 
benefits on the same basis as benefits are generally made available to other 
senior executives of the Company, including without limitation, medical, 
dental, vision, disability, life insurance and pension benefits. 
 
      David, we look forward to your continued employment with the Company. 
Sincerely, 
 
                                      3 



 
 
Hardwick Simmons 
Chief Executive Officer 
The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 
 
 
 
Agreed and Accepted: 
 
 
/s/ David Weild, IV                 3/21/02 
- ------------------------------      ------------------------------ 
David Weild, IV                     Date 
 
 
 
 
Agreed and Accepted: 
 
 
/s/ Hardwick Simmons                3/22/02 
- ------------------------------      ------------------------------ 
Hardwick Simmons, CEO of            Date 
The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 
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                                                                   EXHIBIT 10.24 
 
================================================================================ 
 
                           PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT 
 
                                     between 
 
                          THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC. 
 
                                       and 
 
                NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SECURITIES DEALERS, INC. 
 
                          Dated as of February 20, 2002 
 
================================================================================ 
 
 
 
          PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT dated as of February 20, 2002 (this 
"AGREEMENT"), between the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., a 
Delaware nonprofit corporation (the "NASD"), and The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., 
a Delaware corporation ("NASDAQ"). 
 
          WHEREAS, the NASD is the beneficial owner of 76,994,871 shares of the 
common stock, par value $.01 per share, of Nasdaq (the "COMMON STOCK"); and 
 
          WHEREAS, in furtherance of enabling Nasdaq and the NASD to meet a 
principal goal of the restructuring and recapitalization of Nasdaq (the 
"RESTRUCTURING")--the reduction of the NASD's ownership of Nasdaq--as well as to 
assist the NASD in fulfilling its commitment to attempt to eliminate its 
ownership interest in Nasdaq by June 2002, the NASD desires to sell and Nasdaq 
desires to purchase on the terms and subject to the conditions provided for 
herein, 33,768,895 shares of Common Stock (the "SHARES"), which, together with 
the shares of Common Stock underlying outstanding and unexpired warrants issued 
by the NASD in connection with the Restructuring (such shares, the "WARRANT 
SHARES"), constitute all of the shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by the 
NASD as of the date hereof; and 
 
          WHEREAS, in connection with the foregoing purchase and sale, the 
parties desire to provide for certain other agreements. 
 
          NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the provisions contained herein, 
the parties hereto agree as follows: 
 
          1. PURCHASE AND SALE OF THE SHARES. 
 
          1.01 SALE OF THE SHARES. On the terms and subject to the conditions 
contained herein, the NASD agrees to sell to Nasdaq and Nasdaq agrees to buy 
from the NASD the Shares. 
 
          1.02 DELIVERY OF THE SHARES. As set forth in SECTION 2, the NASD shall 
deliver to Nasdaq validly issued certificates representing the Shares duly 
endorsed in blank or accompanied by stock powers duly executed in blank, with 
all necessary stock transfer stamps affixed thereto. 
 
          1.03 PURCHASE PRICE. The aggregate purchase price (the "PURCHASE 
PRICE") for the Shares shall consist of (i) $305,155,435 in cash (the "CASH 
PURCHASE PRICE"), (ii) 1,338,402 shares of Nasdaq's Series A preferred stock, 
the terms of which are substantially as set forth in the form of Series A 
Certificate of Designations attached as EXHIBIT I hereto (the "SERIES A 
PREFERRED STOCK"), and (iii) one share of Nasdaq's Series B preferred stock, the 
terms of which are substantially as set forth in the form of Series B 
Certificate of Designations attached as EXHIBIT II hereto (the "SERIES B 
PREFERRED STOCK" and together with the Series A Preferred Stock, the "PREFERRED 
STOCK"). 
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2.  THE CLOSING. 
 
          2.01 CLOSING. The closing of the purchase and sale of the Shares 
provided for in this Agreement (the "CLOSING") shall take place in two stages. 
In the first stage of the Closing (the "STAGE ONE CLOSING"), the NASD shall 
sell, and Nasdaq shall purchase, 13,461,538 of the Shares (the "STAGE ONE 
SHARES") in exchange for $174,999,994 of the Cash Purchase Price (the "STAGE ONE 
CASH CONSIDERATION"). In the second stage of the Closing (the "STAGE TWO 



CLOSING"), the NASD shall sell, and Nasdaq shall purchase, 20,307,357 of the 
Shares (the "STAGE TWO SHARES") in exchange for (i) $130,155,441 of the Cash 
Purchase Price (the "STAGE TWO CASH CONSIDERATION") and (ii) the Preferred 
Stock. 
 
          2.02 CLOSING DATES. The Stage One Closing shall take place on 
February 21, 2002, or such other date as the parties may mutually agree (the 
date of such closing being referred to herein as the "STAGE ONE CLOSING DATE"). 
The Stage Two Closing shall take place on March 1, 2002, or such other date as 
the parties may mutually agree (the date of such closing being referred to 
herein as the "STAGE TWO CLOSING DATE"). In the event that all the conditions 
provided for in SECTIONS 6 and 7 have not been satisfied or waived by March 1, 
2002, or such other mutually agreed upon date, the Stage Two Closing shall take 
place on the second business day following the date that all such conditions 
have been satisfied or waived, other than those that by their nature are to be 
satisfied on the Stage Two Closing Date, but subject to the satisfaction or 
waiver of those conditions. Each of the Stage One Closing and the Stage Two 
Closing shall take place at the offices of Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom 
LLP, Four Times Square, New York, New York 10036, at 10 a.m., or at such other 
place and time as the parties hereto may mutually agree. 
 
          2.03 CLOSING DELIVERIES. 
 
          2.3.1 STAGE ONE CLOSING DELIVERIES. 
 
          (a) On the Stage One Closing Date, Nasdaq shall pay to the NASD the 
Stage One Cash Consideration by wire transfer of immediately available funds to 
an account specified by the NASD for such purpose. 
 
          (b) On the Stage One Closing Date, the NASD shall deliver to Nasdaq 
validly issued certificates representing the Stage One Shares duly endorsed in 
blank or accompanied by stock powers duly executed in blank, with all necessary 
stock transfer stamps affixed thereto. 
 
          2.3.2 STAGE TWO CLOSING DELIVERIES. 
 
          (a) On the Stage Two Closing Date, Nasdaq shall (i) pay to the NASD 
the Stage Two Cash Consideration by wire transfer of immediately available funds 
to an account specified 
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by the NASD for such purpose and (ii) deliver to the NASD validly issued 
certificates representing the Preferred Stock in the name of the NASD. 
 
          (b) On the Stage Two Closing Date, the NASD shall deliver to Nasdaq 
validly issued certificates representing the Stage Two Shares duly endorsed in 
blank or accompanied by stock powers duly executed in blank, with all necessary 
stock transfer stamps affixed thereto. 
 
          3. COVENANTS. 
 
          3.01 FURTHER ACTIONS. The parties hereto agree to use their reasonable 
best efforts to have the Closing occur as soon as practicable consistent with 
the provisions of this Agreement. 
 
          3.02 INVESTOR RIGHTS AGREEMENT. The parties hereto agree to take all 
action reasonably necessary to finalize, execute and deliver an investor rights 
agreement (the "INVESTOR RIGHTS AGREEMENT"), as of the Stage One Closing Date. 
 
          3.03 VOTING. Commencing upon Nasdaq becoming registered with the U.S. 
Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") as a national securities exchange 
("EXCHANGE REGISTRATION"), at any meeting at which holders of Common Stock are 
entitled to vote or in connection with any written consent by holders of Common 
Stock, the NASD shall cause to be counted as present thereat for the purpose of 
establishing a quorum and shall vote (or grant its consent in respect of) all 
shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by the NASD that are not then subject 
to the Voting Trust Agreement (as defined below) on each matter presented in the 
same proportion as all other holders of Common Stock have voted (or granted 
consent) on such matter (for such purposes, only votes in favor, in opposition 
or abstention shall be counted as voting, shares that are not voted shall not be 
counted). In connection with the foregoing, the NASD shall so instruct the 
inspector of election or party seeking consent to cause such shares of Common 
Stock to be counted as provided above. The NASD acknowledges that the voting of 
the Warrant Shares shall be governed by the Voting Trust Agreement, dated June 
28, 2000, as amended from time to time (the "VOTING TRUST AGREEMENT"), by and 
among Nasdaq, the NASD and The Bank of New York, as voting trustee. 
 
          3.04 SEC APPROVALS. 
 



          (a) Prior to, and following, the Stage Two Closing Date, (i) the NASD 
shall use all reasonable efforts to secure SEC approval of the rules previously 
filed by the NASD with the SEC, in connection with the NASD's alternative 
display facility. 
 
          (b) Nasdaq agrees to use its reasonable best efforts to secure SEC 
approval of each of the Series A Certificate of Designations and the Series B 
Certificate of Designations as soon as practicable consistent with the 
provisions of this Agreement. 
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          3.05 CERTAIN ACTIONS OF NASDAQ PRIOR TO REDEMPTION OF THE SERIES A 
PREFERRED STOCK. During the period commencing on the Stage Two Closing Date and 
terminating on the date of the redemption or purchase in full of all of the 
then-outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock by Nasdaq, Nasdaq shall not, 
and shall not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, without the prior 
written consent of the NASD, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, 
conditioned or delayed (it being understood that conditioning such consent on 
Nasdaq's agreement to use the net proceeds of such transaction to redeem Series 
A Preferred Stock shall be deemed to be not unreasonable): 
 
          (a) incur or assume any new long-term debt (a, "LONG-TERM DEBT 
INCURRENCE"); PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that this clause (a) shall not restrict in any 
manner any Long-Term Debt Incurrences whereby the amount of net proceeds to, 
plus the amount of long-term debt assumed by, Nasdaq and its Restricted 
Subsidiaries, collectively, from Long-Term Debt Incurrences together with net 
proceeds to Nasdaq and its Restricted Subsidiaries, collectively, from 
Extraordinary Asset Sales (as defined below), do not exceed at any time an 
aggregate outstanding amount equal to $200,000,000 (or its equivalent in other 
currencies) (which amount shall include, but not be limited to, the amount of 
net proceeds to Nasdaq and its Restricted Subsidiaries, collectively, from 
Long-Term Debt Incurrences to refinance the Cash Purchase Price). 
 
          For purposes of this Agreement, "LONG-TERM DEBT INCURRENCES" shall NOT 
include the incurrence of any new long-term debt (i) the purpose of which is to 
refinance debt of Nasdaq or any Restricted Subsidiary, collectively, outstanding 
on the Stage One Closing Date or (ii) pursuant to or under lines of credit to 
Nasdaq or any Restricted Subsidiary existing on the Stage One Closing Date. 
 
          (b) sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of assets of Nasdaq held 
directly or indirectly through any Restricted Subsidiary for cash outside of the 
ordinary course of Nasdaq's business (an "EXTRAORDINARY ASSET SALE"); PROVIDED, 
HOWEVER, that this clause (b) shall not restrict in any manner any sale, 
transfer or other disposition of assets resulting in net proceeds to Nasdaq and 
its Restricted Subsidiaries, collectively, that together with the amount of net 
proceeds to, plus the amount of long-term debt assumed by, Nasdaq and its 
Restricted Subsidiaries, collectively, from Long-Term Debt Incurrences at any 
time outstanding, do not exceed at any time an aggregate amount equal to 
$200,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies). 
 
          For purposes of this Agreement, "EXTRAORDINARY ASSET SALES" shall NOT 
include (i) any sale, transfer or disposition of assets of Nasdaq to a 
Restricted Subsidiary, if such Restricted Subsidiary agrees in writing for the 
benefit of the NASD to be bound by the provisions of this SECTION 3.05(b) with 
respect to such assets, (ii) any sale, transfer or disposition of assets of 
Nasdaq in connection with a joint venture, strategic alliance or other similar 
arrangement, in any such case, the primary purpose of which is other than the 
raising of capital for Nasdaq and the consideration involved in such transaction 
is not predominantly comprised of cash, in each case as determined in good faith 
by the board of directors of Nasdaq (the "BOARD OF DIRECTORS") and (iii) any 
sale of any interest in the capital stock of Nasdaq or any sale by a subsidiary, 
other than a Restricted Subsidiary, of any interest in its capital stock. 
 
                                        5 
 
 
          For purposes of this Agreement, the term "RESTRICTED SUBSIDIARY" means 
any direct or indirect subsidiary of Nasdaq other than (i) any subsidiary set 
forth on Schedule A hereto; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that Quadsan Enterprises Inc. 
("QUADSAN") shall not be permitted to issue any long-term debt, issue any 
interests in its capital stock, or sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of its 
assets for cash outside the ordinary course of its business and; PROVIDED, 
FURTHER, that any purchase, sale or transfer of any marketable securities in the 
ordinary course of business by Quadsan shall not be deemed to be subject to 
SECTION 3.5 and (ii) any subsidiary that is formed in connection with a joint 
venture, strategic alliance or other similar arrangement and the primary purpose 
of which is other than the raising of capital, as determined in good faith by 
the Board of Directors. 
 



          4. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE NASD. The NASD represents and 
warrants to Nasdaq as follows: 
 
          4.01 ORGANIZATION AND STANDING. The NASD is a non-profit corporation 
duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the 
State of Delaware. 
 
          4.02 BINDING AGREEMENT. This Agreement will be duly and validly 
executed and delivered on behalf of the NASD and, assuming due authorization, 
execution and delivery by Nasdaq, will constitute the legal and binding 
obligation of the NASD enforceable against the NASD in accordance with its 
terms, subject to the effects of bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, 
reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws relating to or affecting 
creditors' rights generally and to general equity principles (whether considered 
in a proceeding in equity or at law). 
 
          4.03 TITLE TO SHARES. The NASD has good and valid title to the Shares, 
free and clear of all liens, charges, claims, security interests, restrictions, 
options, proxies, voting trusts or other encumbrances (each an "ENCUMBRANCE"), 
other than Encumbrances created by this Agreement and the Investor Rights 
Agreement. Assuming Nasdaq has the requisite power and authority to be lawful 
owner of the Shares, upon delivery to Nasdaq at the Stage One Closing and the 
Stage Two Closing, as applicable, of certificates representing the Stage One 
Shares and Stage Two Shares, as applicable, and upon the NASD's receipt of the 
applicable Purchase Price for the Shares, Nasdaq will acquire all of the NASD's 
right, title and interest in and to the Shares being sold to it and will receive 
good and valid title to the Shares, free and clear of any and all Encumbrances. 
 
          4.04 ACQUISITION OF THE PREFERRED STOCK. The NASD is acquiring the 
shares of Preferred Stock not with a view toward, or for the sale in connection 
with, any distribution in violation of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended 
(the "SECURITIES ACT"). The NASD acknowledges and agrees that (i) for the period 
of one year following the original issuance of the Series A Preferred Stock (the 
"NO TRANSFER PERIOD"), the Series A Preferred Stock may not be sold, 
transferred, offered for sale, pledged, hypothecated or otherwise disposed of 
(each, a "TRANSFER") without the prior written consent of Nasdaq, (ii) following 
the No Transfer Period, the Series A Preferred Stock may not be Transferred 
without registration under the Securities Act and any 
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applicable state securities laws or regulations, except pursuant to an exemption 
from such registration under the Securities Act and any applicable state 
securities laws or regulations, (iii) certain contractual restrictions may 
restrict its ability to Transfer the shares of Series A Preferred Stock and (iv) 
the Series B Preferred Stock may not be Transferred. 
 
          4.05 LEGENDS. 
 
          (a) The NASD acknowledges and agrees that prior to the one-year 
anniversary date of the Stage Two Closing Date, any certificate evidencing the 
shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall bear a legend substantially as follows: 
 
          THE SHARES OF SERIES A PREFERRED STOCK, PAR VALUE $.01 PER SHARE, OF 
          THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC. REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE MAY NOT 
          BE OFFERED, SOLD OR TRANSFERRED BY THE HOLDER HEREOF PRIOR TO THE 
          ONE-YEAR ANNIVERSARY DATE OF ITS ORIGINAL ISSUANCE WITHOUT THE PRIOR 
          WRITTEN CONSENT OF THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC. 
 
          (b) The NASD acknowledges and agrees that, upon its request, until no 
longer required by applicable law, following the No Transfer Period, the 
certificates evidencing the shares of Series A Preferred Stock may be replaced 
with certificates bearing a legend substantially as follows: 
 
          THE SHARES OF SERIES A PREFERRED STOCK, PAR VALUE $.01 PER SHARE, OF 
          THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC. REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE NOT 
          BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR UNDER 
          THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OR FOREIGN JURISDICTION AND MAY NOT 
          BE OFFERED, SOLD OR TRANSFERRED WITHOUT COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE 
          FEDERAL, STATE OR FOREIGN SECURITIES LAWS. 
 
          (c) The NASD acknowledges and agrees that, until no longer required by 
applicable law, the certificates evidencing the share of Series B Preferred 
Stock shall bear a legend substantially as follows: 
 
          THE SHARE OF SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK, PAR VALUE $.01 PER SHARE, OF 
          THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC. REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE MAY NOT 
          BE OFFERED, SOLD OR TRANSFERRED BY THE HOLDER HEREOF. 
 
          4.06 REQUIRED APPROVALS, NOTICES AND CONSENTS. Except as set forth 



herein, no material consent or approval of, other action by, or any notice to, 
any governmental body or agency, domestic or foreign, or any third party is 
required in connection with the execution and 
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delivery by the NASD of this Agreement or the consummation by the NASD of the 
transaction contemplated hereby. 
 
          5. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF NASDAQ. Nasdaq represents and 
warrants to the NASD as follows: 
 
          5.01 ORGANIZATION AND STANDING. Nasdaq is a corporation duly 
incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State 
of Delaware. 
 
          5.02 PREFERRED STOCK. At the Stage One Closing Date, the shares of 
Preferred Stock will have been duly authorized and, when transferred to the NASD 
in accordance with this Agreement on the Stage One Closing Date, will be validly 
issued, fully paid and nonassessable and the issuance of such shares will not be 
subject to any preemptive or similar rights. 
 
          5.03 BINDING AGREEMENT. This Agreement will have been duly and validly 
authorized, executed and delivered by Nasdaq and, assuming due authorization, 
execution and delivery by the NASD, will constitute the legal and binding 
obligation of Nasdaq enforceable against Nasdaq in accordance with its terms, 
subject to the effects of bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, 
reorganization, moratorium and other laws relating to or affecting creditors' 
rights generally and to general equity principles (whether considered in a 
proceeding in equity or at law). 
 
          5.04 REQUIRED APPROVALS, NOTICES AND CONSENTS. Except as set forth 
herein, no material consent or approval of, other action by, or any notice to, 
any governmental body or agency, domestic or foreign, or any third party is 
required in connection with the execution and delivery by Nasdaq of this 
Agreement or the consummation by Nasdaq of the transaction contemplated hereby. 
 
          6. CONDITIONS TO OBLIGATIONS OF THE NASD. The obligations of the NASD 
are subject to the fulfillment on or prior to the Stage Two Closing as follows, 
except, to the extent permitted by applicable law, as may be waived by the NASD 
pursuant to SECTION 9.06 hereof: 
 
          6.01 STATUTES, RULES AND REGULATIONS. No statute, rule, regulation or 
order of any court or administrative agency shall be in effect which prohibits 
the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby. 
 
          7. CONDITIONS TO OBLIGATIONS OF NASDAQ. The obligations of Nasdaq are 
subject to the fulfillment on or prior to the Stage Two Closing as follows, 
except, to the extent permitted by applicable law, as may be waived by Nasdaq 
pursuant to SECTION 9.06 hereof: 
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          7.01 STATUTES, RULES AND REGULATIONS. No statute, rule, regulation or 
order of any court or administrative agency shall be in effect which prohibits 
the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby. 
 
          7.02 SEC OBJECTION. The SEC shall have not objected, disapproved or 
otherwise expressed disfavor to Nasdaq, whether in writing or orally, with 
respect to the Series A Certificate of Designations or the Series B Certificate 
of Designations. 
 
          8. TERMINATION. 
 
          8.01 TERMINATION. This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior 
to the Stage Two Closing: 
 
          (a) by the mutual written consent of the parties; and 
 
          (b) by either party in the event the Stage Two Closing has not 
occurred on or before May 20, 2002, unless the failure of such consummation 
shall be due to a breach of this Agreement by the party seeking to terminate 
this Agreement. 
 
          8.02 EFFECT OF TERMINATION. In the event of the termination of this 
Agreement pursuant to SECTION 8.01, this Agreement shall forthwith become void, 
and there shall be no liability on the part of any party hereto (or any 
stockholder, director, officer, partner, employee, agent, consultant or 
representative of such party) except that (a) nothing herein shall relieve any 



party from liability for, or eliminate the rights of any party relating to, any 
willful breach of this Agreement and (b) this SECTION 8.02 and SECTIONS 9.01, 
9.02, 9.03 and 9.09 shall survive termination of this Agreement. 
 
          9. MISCELLANEOUS. 
 
          9.01 ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement, the Investor Rights Agreement 
and all schedules, attachments and exhibits embody the entire agreement and 
understanding of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and 
supersede any and all prior agreements, arrangements and undertakings, whether 
written or oral, relating to matters provided for herein and therein (including 
those set forth in the term sheet dated as of January 15, 2002 between the 
parties). There are no provisions, undertakings, representations or warranties 
relative to the subject matter of this Agreement not expressly set forth herein 
and therein. 
 
          9.02 EXPENSES. Except as otherwise specifically provided in this 
Agreement, all costs and expenses, including, without limitation, fees and 
disbursements of counsel, financial advisors and accountants, incurred in 
connection with this Agreement and the transaction contemplated hereby shall be 
paid by the party incurring such expense. 
 
          9.03 NOTICES. Any notice, demand, claim, notice of claim, request or 
communication required or permitted to be given under the provisions of this 
Agreement shall be in 
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writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given if delivered personally by 
facsimile transmission or sent by first class or certified mail, postage prepaid 
to the following addresses, 
 
          If to the NASD: 
 
          National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. 
          1735 K Street, N.W. 
          Washington, D.C. 20006 
          Facsimile: (202) 728-8894 
          Attention: General Counsel 
 
          with a copy to: 
 
          Shearman & Sterling 
          599 Lexington Avenue 
          New York, New York 10022 
          Facsimile: (212) 848-7179 
          Attention: Robert Mundheim, Esq. and 
                     James B. Bucher, Esq. 
 
          If to Nasdaq: 
 
          The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 
          One Liberty Plaza 
          New York, New York 10006 
          Facsimile: (212) 858-5150 
          Attention: General Counsel 
 
          with a copy to: 
 
          Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP 
          Four Times Square 
          New York, New York 10036 
          Facsimile: (212) 735-2000 
          Attention: Matthew J. Mallow, Esq. and 
                     Eric J. Friedman, Esq. 
 
or to such other address as any party may request by notifying in writing all of 
the other parties to this Agreement in accordance with this SECTION 9.03. 
 
          Any such notice shall be deemed to have been received on the date of 
personal delivery, the date set forth on the Postal Service return receipt, the 
date of delivery shown on the records of the overnight courier or the date shown 
on the facsimile confirmation, as applicable. 
 
                                       10 
 
 
          9.04 SURVIVAL OF REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. Each of the 
representations and warranties made by the parties in this Agreement shall 
terminate 12 months after the Stage Two Closing. 



 
          9.05 BENEFIT AND ASSIGNMENT. This Agreement will be binding upon and 
inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and 
permitted assigns. There shall be no assignment of any interest under this 
Agreement by any party. Nothing herein, express or implied, is intended to or 
shall confer upon any other person any legal or equitable right, benefit or 
remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement. 
 
          9.06 WAIVER. Any waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be 
valid only if set forth in an instrument in writing signed by the party to be 
bound thereby. Any waiver of any term or condition shall not be construed as a 
waiver of any subsequent breach or a subsequent waiver of the same term or 
condition, or a waiver of any other term or condition, of this Agreement. The 
failure of any party to assert any of its rights hereunder shall not constitute 
a waiver of any such rights. 
 
          9.07 AMENDMENT. This Agreement may not be amended or modified except 
by an instrument in writing signed by, or on behalf of, the NASD and Nasdaq. 
 
          9.08 CONSTRUCTION OF THIS AGREEMENT; COUNTERPARTS. The language used 
in this Agreement shall be deemed to be the language chosen by the parties 
hereto to express their mutual agreement, and this Agreement shall not be deemed 
to have been prepared by any single party hereto. The headings of the sections 
and subsections of this Agreement are inserted as a matter of convenience and 
for reference purposes only and in no respect define, limit or describe the 
scope of this Agreement or the intent of any section or subsection. This 
Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts and by the different 
parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when executed shall be 
deemed to be an original but all of which taken together shall constitute one 
and the same agreement. 
 
          9.09 GOVERNING LAW. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed 
and enforced in accordance with, the internal laws of the State of New York 
applicable to contracts executed and to be performed in the State of New York. 
 
          9.10 PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENTS. No party hereto shall make any public 
announcement concerning the transactions contemplated by this Agreement without 
the prior approval of the other party hereto, except as such announcement may be 
required by the applicable laws, rules and regulations. The parties hereto 
acknowledge that promptly after the execution of this Agreement and each of the 
Stage One Closing and the Stage Two Closing, the parties will make public 
disclosure, to be mutually agreed upon, of the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement. 
 
          9.11 SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE. The parties recognize and agree that if for 
any reason any of the provisions of this Agreement are not performed in 
accordance with their 
 
                                       11 
 
 
specific terms or are otherwise breached, immediate and irreparable harm or 
injury would be caused for which money damages would not be an adequate remedy. 
Accordingly, each party agrees that, in addition to any other available 
remedies, each other party shall be entitled to an injunction restraining any 
violation or threatened violation of the provisions of this Agreement without 
the necessity of posting a bond or other form of security. In the event that any 
action should be brought in equity to enforce the provisions of the Agreement, 
no party will allege, and each party hereby waives the defense, that there is an 
adequate remedy at law. 
 
          9.12 FURTHER ASSURANCES. The NASD hereby agrees that it shall from 
time to time, at the request of Nasdaq, execute and deliver to Nasdaq any and 
all instruments or documents as Nasdaq may reasonably request for the purpose of 
vesting in Nasdaq the full right, title and interest of the NASD in and to the 
Shares. 
 
                            [Signature page follows] 
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          IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been duly executed by the 
parties hereto as of the date first above written. 
 
                                        NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF 
                                        SECURITIES DEALERS, INC. 
 
                                        By:    /s/ Douglas Shulman 
                                               ---------------------------- 
                                        Name:  Douglas Shulman 



                                        Title: Executive Vice President 
 
                                        THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC. 
 
                                        By:    /s/ Edward S. Knight 
                                               ---------------------------- 
                                        Name:  Edward S. Knight 
                                        Title: Executive Vice President and 
                                               General Counsel 
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                                                                  EXECUTION COPY 
 
December 12, 2001 
 
Mr. J. Patrick Campbell 
8900 Bel Air Place 
Potomac, MD 20854 
 
Re:   RESIGNATION AND RELEASE OF CLAIMS 
 
Dear Pat: 
 
This letter (including Attachment A hereto) sets forth the agreement (the 
"Agreement and Release") by and among you and The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. (the 
"Company"). This Agreement and Release confirms our understanding and agreement 
with respect to your resignation of employment with the Company as follows: 
 
1.        RESIGNATION. You confirm the resignation of your employment as 
President, Nasdaq U.S. Markets, and the resignation of any other positions held 
by you with the Company or the Releasees (as defined below) effective December 
31, 2001 (hereinafter, the "Resignation Date"). You agree that thereafter, you 
will not represent yourself to be associated in any capacity with the Company or 
the Releasees. You further agree to cooperate and execute administrative 
documents necessary to effectuate such resignation(s). By this Agreement and 
Release, the Employment Agreement between you and the Company effective December 
29, 2000 (and any predecessor agreement) is terminated and superseded by this 
Agreement and Release, except as specifically provided in Paragraph 8 below (a 
copy of your December 29, 2000 Employment Agreement is attached hereto for 
reference). You will continue to receive payments at the current rate of your 
base compensation ($436,000 per year) through December 31, 2001, payable in 
accordance with the Company's payroll practices. 
 
2.        COMPENSATION. You will be entitled to the following payments and 
benefits, subject to applicable deductions and tax withholding and (i) the 
execution and delivery of this Agreement and Release in accordance with the 
provisions of Paragraph 19 below, and non-revocation of the same; (ii) on 
December 31, 2001, the execution and delivery of Attachment A hereto pursuant to 
its terms and non-revocation of the same, (iii) the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement and Release, and (iv) with respect to Paragraph 2(d) below, approval 
of the Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. Equity Plan Committee: 
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     a.        You will be paid $436,000 (100% of your annual base 
compensation), which you agree represents your Incentive Compensation for 2001, 
payable in a lump sum upon the expiration of your right to revoke Attachment A 
hereto; 
 
     b.        You will be paid $470,000, which you agree represents your 
deferred compensation for 1999 and 2000, payable on June 30, 2002; 
 
     c.        You will be paid $1,000,000, which you agree represents an 
additional separation payment, payable in equal installments over the twelve 
month period beginning January 1, 2002 and ending December 31, 2002, in 
accordance with the Company's payroll practices in effect at the time; 
 
     d.        Subject to your continued employment through December 31, 2001, 
on January 1, 2002, your restricted stock award of 30,000 shares will become 
fully vested, your incentive stock option (ISO) award and your nonqualified 
stock option (NSO) award will vest as to 4667 shares and 35,233 shares 
respectively, and your ISO and NSO awards, to the extent so vested, will remain 
exercisable until, and will terminate upon, the eighteen month anniversary of 
the Resignation Date. You acknowledge and agree that (i) the tax withholding 
obligation that arises by reason of the vesting of your restricted stock award 
will be satisfied from the cash payments payable pursuant to the other clauses 
of this Paragraph 2, (ii) the ISO, to the extent exercised more than 3 months 
after the Resignation Date, will be treated as a nonqualified option for tax 
purposes as required by applicable law, (iii) the vested awards remain subject 
to the terms and conditions of the Company's Equity Incentive Plan (including 
those contained in Section 9 thereof, which references transfer restrictions, as 
well as the Company's right to repurchase the shares, which you agree remains 
outstanding for 6 months from the Resignation Date, or, in the case of options, 
the date you acquire the shares), and (iv) all other stock or equity-based 



awards that are not vested as provided above are cancelled as of the Resignation 
Date; 
 
     e.        Under the NASD Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (the 
"SERP"), upon your attainment of age 55, you will be treated as having satisfied 
the age and service requirements solely for purposes of Sections 4.1 and 4.3 of 
the SERP, and not for any other purpose, including the calculation of your 
"Retirement Benefit" under Section 4.2 of the SERP ("SERP Calculation"). The 
SERP Calculation will be based upon your actual period of completed service and 
actual compensation paid during your employment as such service and compensation 
are determined under the SERP and, except as provided herein, will be consistent 
with the policies and practices of the SERP applicable to similarly eligible 
Company executives. The Company will cooperate with your reasonable request to 
explain the actuarial bases and methodology of the SERP Calculation; 
 
     f.       Following the Resignation Date, you and your family will continue 
to receive health coverage on the same basis that such coverage is provided to 
active employees. This coverage will terminate on the earlier of December 31, 
2003 or the date you become eligible for coverage under another group health 
plan (whether or not as an employee), and you agree to notify the Company in 
writing immediately upon becoming so eligible. You acknowledge that the period 
of coverage provided under this Paragraph 2(f) will be counted as continuation 
health coverage under "COBRA"; 
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     g.        Upon the Resignation Date, you will cease to actively participate 
in all other benefit plans and programs, including, but not limited to, the 
Company's pension plan, 401(k) plan, employee stock purchase plan and flexible 
spending plan, and any entitlements thereunder will be governed by the terms of 
such plans and programs. You agree that any amounts payable under this Paragraph 
2 will not be taken into account in determining any such entitlements; 
 
     h.        You will be paid your accrued and unused vacation time in a lump 
sum on January 2, 2002; and 
 
     i.        You will be reimbursed for approved and authorized out-of-pocket 
travel and business expenses incurred through December 31, 2001, as soon as 
practicable thereafter. 
 
3.        NO OTHER COMPENSATION. Other than as set forth herein, you will not 
receive compensation, payments or benefits of any kind from the Company or 
Releasees (as that term is defined below) relating to or arising out of your 
employment, compensation or benefits with the Company, or the resignation 
thereof, or any services rendered by you during the period of such employment. 
You understand and agree that the compensation, payments and benefits provided 
for in this Agreement and Release are in excess of those to which you may be 
entitled from the Company or Releasees, and you expressly acknowledge and agree 
that you are not entitled to any additional compensation, payment or benefit 
from the Company, including, but not limited to, any compensation, payment or 
benefit under any Company severance plan or policy. 
 
4.        WAIVER AND RELEASE BY YOU. In exchange for the compensation, payments, 
benefits and other consideration provided to you pursuant to this Agreement and 
Release, you agree to execute Attachment A pursuant to its terms, and you 
further agree as follows: 
 
     a.        You agree to accept the compensation, payments, benefits and 
other consideration provided for in this Agreement and Release in full 
resolution and satisfaction of, and hereby IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY 
RELEASE, WAIVE AND FOREVER DISCHARGE the Company and Releasees from, any and all 
agreements, promises, liabilities, claims, demands, rights and entitlements of 
any kind whatsoever, in law or equity, whether known or unknown, asserted or 
unasserted, fixed or contingent, apparent or concealed, which you, your heirs, 
executors, administrators, successors or assigns ever had, now have or hereafter 
can, shall or may have for, upon, or by reason of any matter, cause or thing 
whatsoever existing, arising or occurring at any time on or prior to the date 
you execute this Agreement and Release, including, without limitation, any and 
all claims arising out of or relating to your employment, compensation and 
benefits with the Company and/or the resignation thereof, and any and all 
contract claims, benefit claims, tort claims, fraud claims, claims under your 
December 29, 2000 Employment Agreement (and any predecessor agreement), 
commissions, defamation, disparagement, or other personal injury claims, claims 
related to any bonus compensation, claims for accrued vacation pay, claims under 
any federal, state or municipal wage payment, discrimination or fair employment 
practices law, statute or regulation, and claims for costs, expenses and 
attorneys' fees with respect thereto, except that the Company's obligations 



under this Agreement and Release shall continue in full force and effect in 
accordance with their terms. THIS RELEASE AND WAIVER INCLUDES, WITHOUT 
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LIMITATION, ANY AND ALL RIGHTS AND CLAIMS UNDER TITLE VII OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS 
ACT OF 1964, AS AMENDED, THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1991, THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 
1866 (42 U.S.C. 1981), THE EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT INCOME SECURITY ACT, AS AMENDED, 
THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT, THE FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT, THE FAMILY 
AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT, THE AGE DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT ACT, THE DISTRICT OF 
COLUMBIA HUMAN RIGHTS ACT, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT 
OF 1990, THE NEW YORK STATE EXECUTIVE LAW, THE NEW YORK CITY ADMINISTRATIVE CODE 
and all other federal, state or local fair employment practices statutes, 
ordinances, regulations or constitutional provisions; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that 
this waiver and release shall not prohibit you from testifying truthfully under 
oath pursuant to subpoena, order or otherwise, or cooperating in an official 
government investigation as may be required by law, or from enforcing against 
the Company or Releasees your rights under this Agreement and Release. You 
further represent and affirm (i) that you have not filed any claim or demand for 
relief against the Company or Releasees and (ii) that to the best of your 
knowledge and belief, there are no outstanding claims or demands for relief 
within the meaning of this Paragraph 4(a); 
 
     b.        For the purpose of implementing a full and complete release and 
discharge of claims, you expressly acknowledge that this Agreement and Release 
is intended to include in its effect, without limitation, all the claims 
described in the preceding Paragraph 4(a), whether known or unknown, apparent or 
concealed, and that this Agreement and Release contemplates the extinction of 
all such claims, including claims for attorney's fees. You expressly waive any 
right to assert after the execution of this Agreement and Release that any such 
claim, demand, obligation or cause of action has, through ignorance or 
oversight, been omitted from the scope of this Agreement and Release; and 
 
     c.        For purposes of this Agreement and Release, the term "the Company 
and Releasees" includes The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., and any past, present and 
future direct and indirect parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, divisions, 
predecessors, successors, and assigns, and their past, present and future 
officers, directors, shareholders, representatives, employees, agents and 
attorneys, in their official and individual capacities, and all other related 
individuals and entities, jointly and individually, and this Agreement and 
Release shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by all such entities 
and individuals and their successors and assigns. 
 
5.        WAIVER AND RELEASE BY THE COMPANY. By signing this Agreement and by 
acceptance of the mutual consideration and covenants contained herein, the 
Company WAIVES, RELEASES AND FOREVER DISCHARGES you with respect to any and all 
agreements, promises, liabilities, claims, demands, rights and entitlements of 
any kind whatsoever, in law or equity, whether known or unknown, asserted or 
unasserted, fixed or contingent, apparent or concealed, which the Company ever 
had, now has or hereafter can, shall or may have for, upon, or by reason of any 
matter, cause or thing whatsoever existing, arising or occurring at any time on 
or prior to the date the Company executes this Agreement, including, without 
limitation, any and all claims arising out of or relating to your employment, 
compensation and benefits with the Company, and your resignation thereof; 
provided, however, that this waiver and release shall not 
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prohibit the Company and Releasees from enforcing against you their rights under 
this Agreement. 
 
6.        ADMISSIONS. Nothing contained in this Agreement and Release shall be 
deemed to constitute an admission or evidence of any wrongdoing or liability on 
your part or the part of the Company or Releasees. 
 
7.        RETURN OF DOCUMENTS AND PROPERTY. On or before the Resignation Date, 
you will return to the Company all known equipment, data, material, books, 
records, documents (whether stored electronically or on computer hard drives or 
disks), computer disks, credit cards, Company keys, I.D. cards and other 
property, including, without limitation, stand alone computer, fax machine, 
printers, telephones, and Blackberry(TM) in your possession, custody, or control 
which are or were owned and/or leased by the Company in connection with the 
conduct of the business of the Company (collectively referred to as "Company 



Property"). You further warrant that you have not retained, or delivered to any 
person or entity, copies of Company Property or permitted any copies of Company 
Property to be made by any other person or entity. 
 
8.        NON-COMPETITION/CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION/NON-SOLICITATION/MUTUAL NON- 
          DISPARAGEMENT. 
 
     a.        You and the Company acknowledge and agree that you possess 
knowledge and skills unique to the Company and the Company's industry. You 
acknowledge and agree that the provisions and restrictions regarding, among 
other things, non-competition, confidentiality and non-solicitation, as set 
forth in Paragraph 10, subparagraphs (a)-(d), inclusive, of your December 29, 
2000 Employment Agreement, survive the termination of that Employment Agreement, 
are incorporated herein by reference and shall remain in full force and effect 
pursuant to their terms. NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING, you may accept 
employment with, consult for and/or provide services to (i) alternative trading 
systems that are not Electronic Communication Networks ("ECNs") and (ii) 
non-U.S. registered exchanges, as each of those terms are defined in the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations 
promulgated thereunder, without breach of your non-competition restrictions and 
obligations under this Paragraph 8. Further, during the "Restricted Period" (as 
that term is defined in Paragraph 10 of your December 29, 2000 Employment 
Agreement), you may, in writing, request permission from the Company to accept 
employment with, consult for and/or provide services to a specific person or 
entity engaged in a "Competitive Business" (as that term is defined in Paragraph 
10 of your December 29, 2000 Employment Agreement) and the Company agrees to 
consider any such reasonable request in good faith, and, in its sole discretion, 
determine whether or not to grant or deny such request. In no event shall any 
partial waiver by the Company of your non-competition restrictions and 
obligations as described in this Paragraph 8(a) relieve you of your restrictions 
and obligations regarding confidentiality and non-solicitation as set forth in 
Paragraph 10 of your December 29, 2000 Employment Agreement, which you agree 
shall remain binding and in full force and effect. 
 
     b.        You shall not issue or cause to be issued or condone the issuance 
of any communication, written or otherwise, that disparages, criticizes or 
otherwise reflects adversely or encourages any adverse action against the 
Company or Releasees, except if testifying truthfully 
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under oath pursuant to any lawful court order or subpoena or otherwise 
responding to or providing disclosures required by law. The Company shall not 
authorize, direct or condone the issuance of any communication, written or 
otherwise, that disparages, criticizes or otherwise reflects adversely or 
encourages any adverse action against you, except if the Company is testifying 
truthfully under oath pursuant to any lawful court order or subpoena or 
otherwise responding to or providing disclosures required by law. 
 
     c.        You further agree that if it is determined that you have 
willfully breached the terms of the aforesaid Paragraph 8(a) or (b), in addition 
to the relief specified in Paragraph 12 and Paragraph 16 hereof, the Company 
shall be entitled to recover from you all costs and reasonable attorneys' fees 
incurred as a result of its attempts to redress such breach of Paragraph 8(a) or 
(b), or to enforce its rights and protect its legitimate interests under 
Paragraph 8(a) or (b), and further that such breach of Paragraph 8(a) or (b) by 
you shall result in a forfeiture of all of the awards and benefits to be 
provided to you under Paragraphs 2(d)-(f) above, and a forfeiture of 75% of the 
payments to be provided to you under Paragraphs 2(a)-(c) above, and, if any such 
payments and benefits have already been conveyed as of the time of your breach 
of Paragraph 8(a) or (b), you agree to return and/or repay them to the Company. 
 
9.        COOPERATION. You agree that you will assist and cooperate with the 
Company and Releasees to a reasonable extent in connection with any 
investigation, proceeding, dispute or claim that may be made against, by or with 
respect to the Company or Releasees, or in connection with any ongoing or future 
investigation, proceeding, dispute or claim of any kind involving the Company or 
Releasees, including any proceeding before any arbitral, administrative, 
regulatory, self-regulatory, judicial, legislative, or other body or agency, to 
the extent such claims, investigations or proceedings relate to your employment 
with the Company, services performed or required to be performed by you, 
pertinent knowledge possessed by you, or any act or omission by you; provided, 
however, that your obligation to assist and cooperate shall not be construed so 
as to interfere with your obligations to your future employers. You further 
agree to execute and deliver any necessary documents as shall reasonably be 
requested that are related to compliance with federal, state and/or local laws. 
 



10.       CONFIDENTIALITY. With respect to all persons and entities, including 
members of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., NASDAQ listed 
companies, vendors to the Company, and current or potential affiliates and joint 
venturers of the Company, you agree to maintain the confidentiality of, and 
refrain from disclosing, making public, or discussing in any way whatsoever the 
terms and conditions of this Agreement and Release. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, it is understood that as the sole exceptions to this confidentiality 
provision: (i) you may discuss this Agreement and Release with your spouse and 
immediate family; (ii) you may discuss this Agreement and Release with your 
attorneys; (iii) you may permit appropriate public accountants to review this 
Agreement and Release in connection with the conduct of an audit, and may permit 
attorney(s), accountant(s) and tax advisor(s) of your choice to review this 
Agreement and Release in connection with the receipt of advice on the taxability 
of the compensation, payments and benefits set forth in Paragraph 2 of this 
Agreement and Release, your rights hereunder, or to answer inquiries with 
respect thereto; and (iv) you may disclose the circumstances of this Agreement 
and Release and its terms as required by, or in response to 
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inquiries from, any governmental, regulatory or self-regulatory body or agency, 
or as otherwise required by law or court order. To the extent that you divulge 
the terms of this Agreement and Release to any of the above-described 
individuals, you shall advise each such individual of this confidentiality 
provision and instruct each such individual of the confidential nature of this 
Agreement and Release and that each such individual must comply with the 
confidentiality terms of this Agreement and Release and not divulge any of the 
terms and conditions thereof. In response to inquiries from third parties, you 
and the Company shall state only that you voluntarily resigned from the Company 
on mutually acceptable terms. You agree that the Company may also confirm to 
third parties your dates of employment and title/position, and provide any other 
information required by, or in response to, inquiries from any governmental body 
or agency, or as otherwise required by law or court order. You further agree 
that the Company and/or Releasees may describe this Agreement and Release in 
public filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission and may include this 
Agreement and Release as an exhibit thereto. In addition, the parties agree that 
a copy of this Agreement and Release may be submitted to any court or other 
tribunal in connection with any proceeding concerning the meaning, 
interpretation or enforcement of its terms. 
 
11.       MODIFICATIONS. This Agreement and Release may not be changed orally, 
and no modification, amendment or waiver of any of the provisions contained in 
this Agreement and Release, nor any future representation, promise or condition 
in connection with the subject matter of this Agreement and Release, shall be 
binding upon any party hereto unless made in writing and signed by such party. 
 
12.       ENFORCEMENT/ARBITRATION. 
 
     a.        You acknowledge and affirm that, in view of the nature of the 
business in which the Company is engaged, the restrictions and agreements 
contained in Paragraph 10, subparagraphs (a)-(d), inclusive, of your December 
29, 2000 Employment Agreement, and Paragraphs 7, 8, 9 and 10 hereof, are 
reasonable and necessary in order to protect the Company's legitimate interests, 
and that any breach or threatened breach thereof would result in irreparable 
injuries to the Company which would not be readily ascertainable or compensable 
in terms of money, and therefore you further acknowledge that, in the event you 
breach or threaten to breach any of these restrictions, the Company, without 
posting any bond, shall be entitled to obtain from any court of competent 
jurisdiction temporary, preliminary and permanent injunctive relief or any other 
equitable remedy, as well as damages, which rights shall be cumulative and in 
addition to any other rights or remedies to which it may be entitled. 
 
     b.        It is expressly understood and agreed that although you agree the 
restrictions contained in Paragraph 10, subparagraphs (a)-(d), inclusive, of 
your December 29, 2000 Employment Agreement, and Paragraphs 7, 8, 9 and 10 
hereof, to be reasonable and necessary for the purpose of preserving the 
goodwill, proprietary rights, and going concern value of the Company, if a final 
judicial determination is made by a court having jurisdiction that the 
restrictions contained in such Paragraphs are invalid, the provisions of such 
Paragraphs shall not be rendered void but shall be deemed amended to apply as to 
such maximum time and territory and to such other extent as such court may 
judicially determine or indicate to be reasonable. Alternatively, if the court 
referred to above finds that any restriction contained in such 
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Paragraphs cannot be amended so as to make it enforceable, such finding shall 
not affect the enforceability of any of the other restrictions contained therein 
or the availability of any other remedy. 
 
     c.        With the exception of any claim or controversy arising out of a 
breach of Paragraph 10, subparagraphs (a)-(d), inclusive, of your December 29, 
2000 Employment Agreement, and Paragraphs 7, 8, 9 and 10 hereof, any claim or 
controversy arising out of or relating to this Agreement and Release, or any 
breach thereof, or otherwise arising out of or relating to your employment, 
compensation and benefits with the Company or the resignation thereof, shall be 
settled by arbitration in New York, New York, administered by the American 
Arbitration Association under its National Rules for the Resolution of 
Employment Disputes and judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrator(s) 
may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that 
the parties agree that any demand for arbitration must be filed and served, if 
at all, within 180 days of the occurrence of the act or omission complained of. 
Any claim or controversy not submitted to arbitration in accordance with this 
Paragraph 12(c) shall be waived and, thereafter, no arbitration panel or 
tribunal or court shall have the power to rule or make any award on any such 
claim or controversy. The award rendered in any arbitration proceeding held 
under this Paragraph 12(c) shall be final and binding, and judgment upon the 
award may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof, PROVIDED that the 
judgment conforms to established principles of law and is supported by 
substantial record evidence. 
 
13.       GOVERNING LAW. This Agreement and Release shall be subject to and 
governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of New York 
without regard to conflicts of law principles. Subject to the provisions of 
Paragraph 12(c) hereof, you (i) irrevocably submit to the jurisdiction of any 
state or federal court sitting in New York County, State of New York, for the 
purposes of any suit, action or other proceeding arising out of or relating to 
this Agreement and Release, and (ii) waive and agree not to assert in any such 
proceeding a claim that you are not personally subject to the jurisdiction of 
the court referred to above, or that the suit or action was brought in an 
inconvenient forum. 
 
14.       ASSIGNMENT. This Agreement and Release shall inure to the benefit of 
(i) the Company and Releasees and their successors and assigns, and (ii) you and 
your executors, administrators, heirs and legal representatives. The Company 
may, at its sole discretion, sell or otherwise assign any rights, obligations or 
benefits it has under this Agreement and Release. You may not sell or otherwise 
assign any rights, obligations or benefits under this Agreement and Release, and 
any attempt to do so shall be void. In the event you die prior to the payment to 
you of all the consideration you are to receive under this Agreement and 
Release, the Company acknowledges that your estate shall be entitled to receive 
all the consideration you would have been entitled to receive if you were still 
alive, except with respect to any pension or insurance benefit for which you may 
have a valid beneficiary designation form on file with the Company. 
 
15.       ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement and Release contains the entire 
agreement between the parties and supersedes and terminates any and all previous 
agreements between them, whether written or oral, except as specifically 
provided for in Paragraph 8 hereof. 
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16.       SPECIFIC ENFORCEMENT. The parties agree that this Agreement and 
Release may be specifically enforced in court or arbitration and may be used as 
evidence in a subsequent proceeding in which any of the parties allege a breach 
of this Agreement and Release. In the event any arbitration, action, suit or 
other proceeding is brought to interpret, enforce or obtain relief from a 
willful breach of this Agreement and Release, the prevailing party shall recover 
all such party's costs, expenses and attorneys' fees incurred in each and every 
such arbitration, action, suit or other proceeding, including any and all 
appeals or petitions therefrom. 
 
17.       NOTICES. All notices in connection with or provided for under this 
Agreement and Release shall be validly given or made only if made in writing and 
delivered personally or mailed by registered or certified mail, return receipt 
requested, postage prepaid, to the party entitled or required to receive the 
same, as follows: 
 
          If to J. Patrick Campbell, addressed to: 
 



 
 
 
          If to the Company, addressed to: 
 
               Edward S. Knight, Esq. 
               Executive Vice President and 
                   General Counsel 
               The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 
               1735 K. Street NW 
               Washington, D.C.  20006 
 
or at such other address as either party may designate to the other by notice 
similarly given. Notice shall be deemed to have been given upon receipt in the 
case of personal delivery and upon the date of receipt indicated on the return 
receipt in the case of mail. 
 
18.       SEVERABILITY. In the event any provision of this Agreement and 
Release, except for Paragraph 4, shall be held to be void, voidable, unlawful 
or, for any reason, unenforceable, the remaining portions shall remain in full 
force and effect. The unenforceability or invalidity of a provision of this 
Agreement and Release in one jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render that 
provision unenforceable in any other jurisdiction. 
 
19.       ACKNOWLEDGMENT. By signing this Agreement and Release, you certify 
that you have read the terms of this Agreement and Release, that you have been 
advised to consult with legal counsel of your choice, and that your execution of 
this Agreement and Release shall indicate that this Agreement and Release 
conforms to your understanding and is acceptable to you as a final agreement. 
You further acknowledge and agree that, pursuant to Paragraph 4 above, by 
signing this Agreement and Release, you waive and release any and all claims you 
may have or have had against the Company and Releasees, including, without 
limitation, claims under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act. You further 
acknowledge and agree that you have been advised of the opportunity to consult 
with counsel of your choice and that you have 
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been given a reasonable and sufficient period of time of not less than 
twenty-one (21) days in which to consider and return this Agreement and Release. 
You further acknowledge and agree that upon your execution and return of this 
Agreement and Release, you will be permitted to revoke the Agreement and Release 
at any time during a period of seven (7) calendar days following your execution 
hereof. To be effective, the revocation must be in writing and must be 
hand-delivered or telecopied to the Company within the seven (7) day period. 
This Agreement and Release will not be effective until the seven (7) day period 
has expired without revocation. If the Agreement and Release is not executed and 
returned on or before December 31, 2001, or if this Agreement and Release is 
executed and then revoked within the aforementioned seven (7) day period, this 
Agreement and Release will be of no further force or effect, and neither you nor 
the Company will have any rights or obligations hereunder. 
 
Pat, on behalf of all of your friends and colleagues here at the Company, we are 
pleased that we were able to arrive at a mutually acceptable parting, and we 
wish you the best in all your future endeavors. 
 
Sincerely yours, 
 
By: /s/ Edward S. Knight 
   ---------------------------------- 
   Edward S. Knight 
   Executive Vice President and General Counsel 
   The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 
 
/s/ J. Patrick Campbell                                Date: Dec 17, 2001 
- ----------------------------------                           ------------- 
J. Patrick Campbell 
 
WITNESSED BY: 
 
/s/ David A. Hanna 
- -------------------------------- 
 
 
 
                                  ATTACHMENT A 
 



In exchange for the consideration provided by The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. (the 
Company"), as set forth in Paragraph 2 of the December 12, 2001 letter 
Agreement, I, J. Patrick Campbell, hereby reaffirm my waiver and release set 
forth in Paragraph 4(a) of the December 12, 2001 letter Agreement, and further 
IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVE, RELEASE AND FOREVER DISCHARGE the Company 
and the Releasees from any and all agreements, promises, liabilities, claims, 
rights, demands and causes of action of any kind whatsoever, in law or equity, 
whether known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, fixed or contingent, 
apparent or concealed, which I, my heirs, executors, administrators, successors 
or assigns ever had or now have for, upon, or by reason of any matter, cause or 
thing whatsoever, including, but not limited to my employment by the Company 
and/or my resignation thereof, compensation and benefits with the Company, and 
claims for related costs, expenses and attorneys' fees, existing, arising or 
occurring at any time between the date I executed the December 12, 2001 letter 
Agreement and the date I execute this Attachment A, except for claims for breach 
of this Attachment A. THIS RELEASE AND WAIVER INCLUDES, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY 
AND ALL RIGHTS AND CLAIMS UNDER TITLE VII OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964, AS 
AMENDED, THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1991, THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1866 (42 U.S.C. 
1981), THE EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT INCOME SECURITY ACT, AS AMENDED, THE AMERICANS 
WITH DISABILITIES ACT, THE FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT, THE FAMILY AND MEDICAL 
LEAVE ACT, THE AGE DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT ACT, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
HUMAN RIGHTS ACT, THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT OF 1990, 
THE NEW YORK STATE EXECUTIVE LAW, THE NEW YORK CITY ADMINISTRATIVE CODE and all 
other federal, state or local fair employment practices statutes, ordinances, 
regulations or constitutional provisions. 
 
By signing this Attachment A, I acknowledge and agree that I have been afforded 
a 21-day period in which to review and consider this Attachment A and that I 
have been advised to do so with an attorney of my choice. I agree that such 
period is reasonable and sufficient, and I understand that this Attachment A 
fully waives any and all claims I may have relating to my employment at the 
Company, including any claims under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 
U.S.C. Section 621 et seq. I understand that I have seven (7) days following the 
execution of this Attachment A to revoke my acceptance of this Attachment A. 
Written notice of any such revocation must be received by the Company by hand or 
by telecopier within that seven (7) day period. 
 
This Attachment A incorporates by reference, as if set forth fully herein, all 
terms and conditions of the December 12, 2001 letter Agreement between myself 
and the Company, including the recitation of consideration provided by the 
Company, and the definitions included therein. By signing this Attachment A, I 
am intending only to release any and all claims that may have arisen from the 
date I the executed the December 12, 2001 letter Agreement through the date I 
execute this Agreement. It is not my intention to otherwise change, alter, or 
amend any of the terms and conditions of the December 12, 2001 letter Agreement 
which remains in full force and affect, and I acknowledge and agree that I 
continue to be bound by the terms and conditions of that letter Agreement. Once 
executed, such December 12, 2001 letter Agreement, together with this Attachment 
A, shall constitute the Agreement and Release as defined and referred to in the 
December 12, 2001 letter Agreement. I further understand that if I fail or 
refuse to execute this Attachment A, or if I revoke it within the 7-day 
revocation period described above, I will not receive the consideration set 
forth in Paragraph 2 of the December 12, 2001 letter Agreement and the 
restricted shares and options described in Paragraph 2(d) of the December 12, 
2001 letter Agreement shall not vest. 
 
/s/ J. Patrick Campbell 
- ------------------------------ 
J. Patrick Campbell 
 
Dated: December 31, 2001 
 



 
 
                       LOAN AGREEMENT AND PROMISSORY NOTE 
 
$225,000                                                       DECEMBER 28, 2001 
 
          WHEREAS, DAVID P. WARREN (the "Borrower") is an executive of The 
Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware Corporation (the "Corporation"); 
 
          WHEREAS, the Corporation, provided the Borrower with an advance of 
$125,000 on May 22, 2001 and $100,000 on August 14, 2001; such advances to be 
used by the Borrower to aid in his purchase of his principal residence; and 
 
          WHEREAS, the Corporation and the Borrower, wish to convert such 
advance into a true and enforceable fully recourse loan at a rate of interest 
specified herein. 
 
          NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual covenants 
herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the parties hereby agree 
as follows: 
 
          FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the Borrower unconditionally promises to pay to 
the order of the Corporation or its successors and assigns, without setoff, at 
the address indicated below, the principal amount of TWO-HUNDRED AND TWENTY-FIVE 
THOUSAND DOLLARS ($225,000) (the "Loan") in lawful money of the United States of 
America, together with interest thereon at the Interest Rate (as defined below), 
on MAY 1, 2006 (the "Final Maturity Date"), or such earlier date as such amount 
shall become due and payable in accordance with the terms of this loan agreement 
and promissory note (this "Note"). 
 
          This Note is a fully recourse unsecured promise to pay the Loan. 
 
          1. DEFINITIONS. As used in this Note, the following terms shall have 
the meanings set forth below. 
 
               (a)    "BUSINESS DAY" means any day not a Saturday, Sunday or 
other day on which commercial banks in New York, New York are authorized or 
required by law to close. 
 
               (b)    "CAUSE" means (i) the Borrower's conviction of, or 
pleading NOLO CONTENDERE to a felony, or to any crime, whether a felony or 
misdemeanor, involving the purchase or sale of any security, mail or wire fraud, 
theft, embezzlement, or Corporation property or (ii) the Borrower's misconduct 
in connection with the performance of his duties to the Corporation or any other 
material breach by the Borrower of the By-Laws of the Corporation or the Code of 
Conduct of the Corporation. 
 
               (c)    "DISABILITY" means the Borrower becoming physically or 
mentally incapacitated and is therefore unable to perform his duties for a 
period of 45 consecutive working days or 75 working days in a six (6) month 
period. 
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               (d)    "INTEREST RATE" means a per annum interest rate equal to 
the long-term Applicable Federal Rate as such term is defined in Section 1274(d) 
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, for the month of November, 
2001, which the Borrower and Corporation acknowledge is 5.31% 
 
          2. INTEREST. 
 
               (a)    The unpaid principal amount of the Loan shall bear 
interest from May 22, 2001 until paid in full at the Interest Rate compounding 
annually. All accrued interest on the Loan shall be payable at maturity (whether 
by acceleration or otherwise), and after such maturity, on demand. Interest 
shall be calculated based on a year of 365 or 366 days, as applicable, for the 
actual number of days for which any principal is outstanding hereunder. 
 
          3. REPAYMENT AND PREPAYMENT. 
 
               (a)    The Borrower shall have the right to prepay the Loan, in 
whole or in part, at any time and from time to time upon at least five (5) days' 
prior written notice to the Corporation, without premium or penalty, provided 
that the Borrower pays to the Corporation at the same time all accrued and 
unpaid interest on the Loan. 
 
               (b)    The Borrower, or his estate, as the case may be, shall be 
required to pay the outstanding principal amount of the Loan together with all 
accrued and unpaid interest thereon, on the EARLIEST to occur of the following: 



 
               (i)    the Final Maturity Date; 
 
               (ii)   the date which is three (3) Business Days following the 
date the Borrower's employment with the Corporation is terminated by the 
Corporation for Cause or by the Borrower for any reason, other than his death or 
Disability; 
 
               (iii)  the date which is 365 days following the date the 
Borrower's employment with the Corporation is terminated on account of the 
Borrower's death or Disability; 
 
               (iv)   the date which is 90 days following the date the 
Borrower's employment with the Corporation is terminated by the Corporation 
other than on account of Cause, his death or Disability; and 
 
               (v)    an Event of Default. 
 
               (c)    All payments received under this Section 3 shall be 
applied, first, to the payment of accrued and unpaid interest, and then to the 
payment of principal. 
 
          4.   METHOD OF PAYMENT. All payments under this Note shall be made in 
lawful money of the United States of America. Whenever any payment to be made 
under this Note shall be stated to be due on a day which is not a Business Day, 
the due date 
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shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day. All payments made by the 
Borrower hereunder shall be made without setoff, counterclaim or other defense. 
 
          5.   COVENANTS. The Borrower hereby covenants and agrees that from the 
date hereof and until the Loan and all interest accrued thereon shall have been 
paid in full, he will promptly advise the Corporation in writing of any material 
litigation filed by or against the Borrower and any event that has occurred that 
would constitute an Event of Default. 
 
          6.   EVENTS OF DEFAULT. Upon the occurrence of any of the following 
specified events (each an "Event of Default"): 
 
               (a)    the Borrower shall fail to make any payment under this 
Note when due; 
 
               (b)    the appointment of a custodian, trustee, liquidator or 
receiver for or for any of the property of, the assignment for the benefit of 
creditors by, or the filing of a petition under bankruptcy, insolvency or 
debtor's relief law or the filing of a petition for any adjustment of 
indebtedness, composition or extension by or against the Borrower; 
 
then, in an any such event, and at such time thereafter as any Event of Default 
shall then be continuing, the Corporation may, by written notice to the 
Borrower, declare the principal of and any accrued interest in respect of the 
Loan forthwith due and payable (PROVIDED, that if any Event of Default described 
in clause (b) above shall occur, such acceleration shall occur automatically 
without the giving of any such notice), without presentment, demand, protest or 
other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the Borrower and any 
and all rights and remedies available at law or in equity. 
 
          7.   NON-WAIVER. THE FAILURE OF EITHER PARTY HERETO, AT ANY TIME, TO 
EXERCISE ANY OF ITS OPTIONS OR ANY OTHER RIGHTS HEREUNDER SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE A 
WAIVER THEREOF, NOR SHALL IT BE A BAR TO THE EXERCISE OF ANY OF ITS OPTIONS OR 
RIGHTS AT A LATER DATE. ALL RIGHTS AND REMEDIES OF EACH PARTY HERETO SHALL BE 
CUMULATIVE AND MAY BE PURSUED SINGLY, SUCCESSIVELY OR TOGETHER, AT THE OPTION OF 
SUCH PARTY. THE ACCEPTANCE BY THE CORPORATION HERETO OF ANY PARTIAL PAYMENT 
SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE A WAIVER OF ANY DEFAULT OR OF ANY OF THE CORPORATION'S 
RIGHTS UNDER THIS NOTE. NO WAIVER OF ANY RIGHTS HEREUNDER SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE 
MADE BY ANY PARTY HERETO UNLESS THE SAME SHALL BE IN WRITING, DULY SIGNED ON 
BEHALF OF SUCH PARTY; AND EACH SUCH WAIVER SHALL APPLY ONLY WITH RESPECT TO THE 
SPECIFIC INSTANCE INVOLVED, AND SHALL IN NO WAY IMPAIR THE RIGHTS OR THE 
OBLIGATIONS OF THE BORROWER OR CORPORATION IN ANY OTHER RESPECT AT ANY OTHER 
TIME. NO MODIFICATION OR AMENDMENT OF THIS NOTE SHALL BE EFFECTIVE UNLESS THE 
SAME SHALL BE IN WRITING, DULY SIGNED ON BEHALF OF EACH PARTY HERETO. 
 
          8. MISCELLANEOUS. 
 
               (a)    All notices and other communications hereunder shall be 
in writing and shall be given by hand delivery to the other party or by 
registered or certified 
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mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or by nationally recognized 
overnight courier service, addressed as follows: 
 
          If to the Borrower:            David P. Warren 
 
 
 
          If to the Corporation to:      The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 
                                         One Liberty Plaza 
                                         New York, NY 10006 
                                         Attention: General Counsel 
 
or to such other address as either party shall have furnished to the other in 
writing in accordance herewith. Notice and communications shall be effective 
when actually received by the addressee, provided, that a refusal by the 
addressee to accept delivery shall be deemed to constitute receipt. 
 
               (b)    The Borrower agrees to pay on demand reasonable costs and 
expenses, if any (including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses), in 
connection with the enforcement (whether through negotiations, legal proceedings 
or otherwise) by the Corporation of its rights under Section 6 of the Note 
(Event of Default). 
 
               (c)    Anything in this Note to the contrary notwithstanding, in 
no event shall the Borrower be obligated to make any payment of interest or late 
charges, and in no event shall the Corporation be entitled to receive payment of 
any such interest or charges, if and to the extent that such payment would 
violate any usury laws of the State of New York applicable to this Note. If 
payment of any such interest or charges is made by the Borrower and received by 
the Corporation and such payment is in violation of such usury laws, the portion 
of such payment which exceeds the maximum allowable by or under such usury laws 
shall not be or be deemed to be interest or late charges, but instead shall be 
applied in reduction of the principal amount outstanding under this Note. 
 
               (d)    The provisions of this Note shall be construed and 
interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of New York without regard 
to principles of conflicts of law thereof. The invalidity, illegality or 
unenforceability of any provision of this Note shall not affect or impair the 
validity, legality or enforceability of the remainder of this Note, and to this 
end, the provisions of this Note are declared to be severable. 
 
               (e)    This Note and the acknowledgment hereto may be executed in 
any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but all of which 
shall together constitute one and the same instrument. 
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               (f)    This Note contains the entire agreement and understanding 
of the parties with respect to the subject matter contained herein and 
supersedes all prior communications, representations and negotiations with 
respect thereto. 
 
                                                     /s/ David P. Warren 
                                                     --------------------------- 
                                                     BORROWER 
                                                     DAVID P. WARREN 
 
ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED: 
 
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC. 
 
BY:  /s/ Richard G. Ketchum 
     -------------------------------- 
     NAME: RICHARD G. KETCHUM 
     TITLE: PRESIDENT 
 



 
 
                                                                   EXHIBIT 10.27 
 
 
                       LOAN AGREEMENT AND PROMISSORY NOTE 
                                DECEMBER 30, 2001 
 
                  WHEREAS, STEVEN DEAN FURBUSH (the "Borrower") is an executive 
of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware Corporation (the "Corporation"); 
 
                  WHEREAS, the Corporation, provided the Borrower with an 
advance of $100,000 on May 15, 2001 and an advance of $250,000 on June 11, 2001; 
such advances to be used by the Borrower to aid in his purchase of his principal 
residence; and 
 
                  WHEREAS, the Corporation and the Borrower, wish to convert 
such advances into a true and enforceable fully recourse loan at a rate of 
interest specified herein. 
 
                  NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual 
covenants herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the parties 
hereby agree as follows: 
 
                  FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the Borrower unconditionally promises to 
pay to the order of the Corporation or its successors and assigns, without 
setoff, at the address indicated below, the principal amount of THREE-HUNDRED 
AND FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($350,000) (the "Loan") in lawful money of the United 
States of America, together with interest thereon at the Interest Rate (as 
defined below), on MAY 1, 2006 (the "Final Maturity Date"), or such earlier date 
as such amount shall become due and payable in accordance with the terms of this 
loan agreement and promissory note (this "Note"). 
 
                  This Note is a fully recourse unsecured promise to pay the 
Loan. 
 
                  1. DEFINITIONS. As used in this Note, the following terms 
shall have the meanings set forth below. 
 
                    (a) "BUSINESS DAY" means any day not a Saturday, Sunday or 
other day on which commercial banks in New York, New York are authorized or 
required by law to close. 
 
                    (b) "CAUSE" means (i) the Borrower's conviction of, or 
pleading NOLO CONTENDERE to a felony, or to any crime, whether a felony or 
misdemeanor, involving the purchase or sale of any security, mail or wire fraud, 
theft, embezzlement, or Corporation property or (ii) the Borrower's misconduct 
in connection with the performance of his duties to the Corporation or any other 
material breach by the Borrower of the By-Laws of the Corporation or the Code of 
Conduct of the Corporation. 
 
                    (c) "DISABILITY" means the Borrower becoming physically or 
mentally incapacitated and is therefore unable to perform his duties for a 
period of 45 consecutive working days or 75 working days in a six (6) month 
period. 
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                    (d) "INTEREST RATE" means a per annum interest rate equal to 
the long-term Applicable Federal Rate as such term is defined in Section 1274(d) 
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, for the month of November, 
2001, which the Borrower and Corporation acknowledge is 5.31% 
 
                  2. INTEREST. 
 
                    (a) The unpaid principal amount of the Loan shall bear 
interest from May 15, 2001 until paid in full at the Interest Rate compounding 
annually. All accrued interest on the Loan shall be payable at maturity (whether 
by acceleration or otherwise), and after such maturity, on demand. Interest 
shall be calculated based on a year of 365 or 366 days, as applicable, for the 
actual number of days for which any principal is outstanding hereunder. 
 
                  3. REPAYMENT AND PREPAYMENT. 
 
                    (a) The Borrower shall have the right to prepay the Loan, in 
whole or in part, at any time and from time to time upon at least five (5) days' 
prior written notice to the Corporation, without premium or penalty, provided 
that the Borrower pays to the Corporation at the same time all accrued and 



unpaid interest on the Loan. 
 
                    (b) The Borrower, or his estate, as the case may be, shall 
be required to pay the outstanding principal amount of the Loan together with 
all accrued and unpaid interest thereon, on the EARLIEST to occur of the 
following: 
 
                    (i) the Final Maturity Date; 
 
                    (ii) the date which is three (3) Business Days following the 
date the Borrower's employment with the Corporation is terminated by the 
Corporation for Cause or by the Borrower for any reason, other than his death or 
Disability; 
 
                    (iii) the date which is 365 days following the date the 
Borrower's employment with the Corporation is terminated on account of the 
Borrower's death or Disability; 
 
                    (iv) the date which is 90 days following the date the 
Borrower's employment with the Corporation is terminated by the Corporation 
other than on account of Cause, his death or Disability; and 
 
                    (v) an Event of Default. 
 
                    (c) All payments received under this Section 3 shall be 
applied, first, to the payment of accrued and unpaid interest, and then to the 
payment of principal. 
 
                  4. METHOD OF PAYMENT. All payments under this Note shall be 
made in lawful money of the United States of America. Whenever any payment to be 
made under this Note shall be stated to be due on a day which is not a Business 
Day, the due date 
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shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day. All payments made by the 
Borrower hereunder shall be made without setoff, counterclaim or other defense. 
 
                  5. COVENANTS. The Borrower hereby covenants and agrees that 
from the date hereof and until the Loan and all interest accrued thereon shall 
have been paid in full, he will promptly advise the Corporation in writing of 
any material litigation filed by or against the Borrower and any event that has 
occurred that would constitute an Event of Default. 
 
                  6. EVENTS OF DEFAULT. Upon the occurrence of any of the 
following specified events (each an "Event of Default"): 
 
                    (a) the Borrower shall fail to make any payment under this 
Note when due; 
 
                    (b) the appointment of a custodian, trustee, liquidator or 
receiver for or for any of the property of, the assignment for the benefit of 
creditors by, or the filing of a petition under bankruptcy, insolvency or 
debtor's relief law or the filing of a petition for any adjustment of 
indebtedness, composition or extension by or against the Borrower; 
 
then, in an any such event, and at such time thereafter as any Event of Default 
shall then be continuing, the Corporation may, by written notice to the 
Borrower, declare the principal of and any accrued interest in respect of the 
Loan forthwith due and payable (PROVIDED, that if any Event of Default described 
in clause (b) above shall occur, such acceleration shall occur automatically 
without the giving of any such notice), without presentment, demand, protest or 
other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the Borrower and any 
and all rights and remedies available at law or in equity. 
 
                  7. NON-WAIVER. THE FAILURE OF EITHER PARTY HERETO, AT ANY 
TIME, TO EXERCISE ANY OF ITS OPTIONS OR ANY OTHER RIGHTS HEREUNDER SHALL NOT 
CONSTITUTE A WAIVER THEREOF, NOR SHALL IT BE A BAR TO THE EXERCISE OF ANY OF ITS 
OPTIONS OR RIGHTS AT A LATER DATE. ALL RIGHTS AND REMEDIES OF EACH PARTY HERETO 
SHALL BE CUMULATIVE AND MAY BE PURSUED SINGLY, SUCCESSIVELY OR TOGETHER, AT THE 
OPTION OF SUCH PARTY. THE ACCEPTANCE BY THE CORPORATION HERETO OF ANY PARTIAL 
PAYMENT SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE A WAIVER OF ANY DEFAULT OR OF ANY OF THE 
CORPORATION'S RIGHTS UNDER THIS NOTE. NO WAIVER OF ANY RIGHTS HEREUNDER SHALL BE 
DEEMED TO BE MADE BY ANY PARTY HERETO UNLESS THE SAME SHALL BE IN WRITING, DULY 
SIGNED ON BEHALF OF SUCH PARTY; AND EACH SUCH WAIVER SHALL APPLY ONLY WITH 
RESPECT TO THE SPECIFIC INSTANCE INVOLVED, AND SHALL IN NO WAY IMPAIR THE RIGHTS 
OR THE OBLIGATIONS OF THE BORROWER OR CORPORATION IN ANY OTHER RESPECT AT ANY 
OTHER TIME. NO MODIFICATION OR AMENDMENT OF THIS NOTE SHALL BE EFFECTIVE UNLESS 



THE SAME SHALL BE IN WRITING, DULY SIGNED ON BEHALF OF EACH PARTY HERETO. 
 
                  8. MISCELLANEOUS. 
 
                    (a) All notices and other communications hereunder shall be 
in writing and shall be given by hand delivery to the other party or by 
registered or certified 
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mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or by nationally recognized 
overnight courier service, addressed as follows: 
 
                 If to the Borrower:   Steven Dean Furbush 
 
 
 
           If to the Corporation to:   The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 
                                       One Liberty Plaza 
                                       New York, NY 10006 
                                       Attention: General Counsel 
 
or to such other address as either party shall have furnished to the other in 
writing in accordance herewith. Notice and communications shall be effective 
when actually received by the addressee, provided, that a refusal by the 
addressee to accept delivery shall be deemed to constitute receipt. 
 
                  (b) The Borrower agrees to pay on demand reasonable costs and 
expenses, if any (including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses), in 
connection with the enforcement (whether through negotiations, legal proceedings 
or otherwise) by the Corporation of its rights under Section 6 of the Note 
(Event of Default). 
 
                  (c) Anything in this Note to the contrary notwithstanding, in 
no event shall the Borrower be obligated to make any payment of interest or late 
charges, and in no event shall the Corporation be entitled to receive payment of 
any such interest or charges, if and to the extent that such payment would 
violate any usury laws of the State of New York applicable to this Note. If 
payment of any such interest or charges is made by the Borrower and received by 
the Corporation and such payment is in violation of such usury laws, the portion 
of such payment which exceeds the maximum allowable by or under such usury laws 
shall not be or be deemed to be interest or late charges, but instead shall be 
applied in reduction of the principal amount outstanding under this Note. 
 
                  (d) The provisions of this Note shall be construed and 
interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of New York without regard 
to principles of conflicts of law thereof. The invalidity, illegality or 
unenforceability of any provision of this Note shall not affect or impair the 
validity, legality or enforceability of the remainder of this Note, and to this 
end, the provisions of this Note are declared to be severable. 
 
                  (e) This Note and the acknowledgment hereto may be executed in 
any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but all of which 
shall together constitute one and the same instrument. 
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                  (f) This Note contains the entire agreement and understanding 
of the parties with respect to the subject matter contained herein and 
supersedes all prior communications, representations and negotiations with 
respect thereto. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                 /s/ Steven Dean Furbush 
                                                 ------------------------------- 
                                                 BORROWER 
                                                 STEVEN DEAN FURBUSH 
 
 
ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED: 
 



THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC. 
 
 
 
BY:  /s/ Richard G. Ketchum 
     -------------------------------- 
     RICHARD G. KETCHUM 
     PRESIDENT 
 
 



 
 
 
                                                                   EXHIBIT 21.1 
 
                             S U B S I D I A R I E S 
 
 
 
1.   Nasdaq Financial Products Services, Inc (incorporated in Delaware) 
2.   Nasdaq International Marketing Initiatives, Inc (incorporated in Delaware) 
3.   Nasdaq Tools, Inc. (incorporated in Delaware) 
4.   Quadsan Enterprises, Inc. (incorporated in Delaware) 
5.   Nasdaq Canada Inc. (incorporated in Canada) 
6.   Nasdaq Global Technology Ltd. (incorporated in Bermuda) 
7.   Nasdaq Global Holdings (incorporated in Switzerland) 
8.   IndigoMarkets India Private Limited (incorporated in India) 
9.   IndigoMarkets Ltd. (incorporated in Bermuda) 
10.  Nasdaq Europe Planning Company Limited (incorporated in United Kingdom) 
11.  Nasdaq Europe Limited (incorporated in United Kingdom) 
12.  Nasdaq Europe S.A./N.V. (incorporated in Belgium) 
13.  Nasdaq LTDA (incorporated in Brazil) 
14.  Nasdaq International Limited (incorporated in United Kingdom) 
15.  The Nasdaq Stock Market Educational Foundation, Inc. (organized in 
     Delaware) 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
                                                                   Exhibit 23.1 
 
 
                             CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
 
 
     We consent to the inclusion in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of The 
Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. (the "Company") of our report dated March 6, 2002, 
included in the 2001 Annual Report to Shareholders of The Nasdaq Stock 
Market Inc. 
 
     We also consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration 
Statements and Post Effective Amendments of the Company on Form S-8 File 
Nos. 333-70992, 333-72852 and 333-76064 and in the related Reoffer 
Prospectuses, of our report dated March 6, 2002 with respect to the 
consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) 
for the year ended December 31, 2001. 
 
 
                                                /s/ Ernst & Young LLP 
 
New York, New York 
March 27, 2002 
 
 



 
 
                                POWER OF ATTORNEY 
                            ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K 
                           THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC. 
 
      Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The 
Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and 
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting 
individually, the undersigned's true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, 
each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his 
name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to: 
 
      (1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on 
Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2001, including any and all amendments and additions thereto 
(collectively, the "Annual Report") in accordance with the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder; 
 
      (2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the 
undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be 
filed, the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of 
Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United 
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and 
 
      (3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the 
foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit 
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it 
being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on 
behalf of the undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such 
form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact 
may approve in such attorneys-in-fact's discretion. 
 
      The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and 
authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite, 
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and 
powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the 
undersigned might or could do if personally present, with full power of 
substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such 
attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneys-in-fact's substitute or substitutes, 
shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and 
the rights and powers herein granted. 
 
      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney 
to be executed as of March 21, 2002. 
 
 
                                    /s/ Joseph Ackermann 
                                    --------------------------------- 
                                    Signature 
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      Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The 
Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and 
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting 
individually, the undersigned's true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, 
each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his 
name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to: 
 
      (1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on 
Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2001, including any and all amendments and additions thereto 
(collectively, the "Annual Report") in accordance with the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder; 
 
      (2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the 
undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be 
filed, the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of 
Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United 
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and 
 
      (3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the 
foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit 
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it 
being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on 



behalf of the undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such 
form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact 
may approve in such attorneys-in-fact's discretion. 
 
      The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and 
authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite, 
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and 
powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the 
undersigned might or could do if personally present, with full power of 
substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such 
attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneys-in-fact's substitute or substitutes, 
shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and 
the rights and powers herein granted. 
 
      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney 
to be executed as of March 18, 2002. 
 
 
                                    /s/ H. F. Baldwin 
                                    --------------------------------- 
                                    Signature 
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      Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The 
Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and 
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting 
individually, the undersigned's true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, 
each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his 
name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to: 
 
      (1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on 
Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2001, including any and all amendments and additions thereto 
(collectively, the "Annual Report") in accordance with the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder; 
 
      (2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the 
undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be 
filed, the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of 
Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United 
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and 
 
      (3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the 
foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit 
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it 
being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on 
behalf of the undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such 
form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact 
may approve in such attorneys-in-fact's discretion. 
 
      The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and 
authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite, 
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and 
powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the 
undersigned might or could do if personally present, with full power of 
substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such 
attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneys-in-fact's substitute or substitutes, 
shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and 
the rights and powers herein granted. 
 
      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney 
to be executed as of March 19, 2002. 
 
 
                                    /s/ Frank E. Baxter 
                                    --------------------------------- 
                                    Signature 
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      Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The 
Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and 
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting 
individually, the undersigned's true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, 
each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his 
name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to: 
 
      (1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on 
Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2001, including any and all amendments and additions thereto 
(collectively, the "Annual Report") in accordance with the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder; 
 
      (2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the 
undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be 
filed, the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of 
Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United 
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and 
 
      (3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the 
foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit 
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it 
being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on 
behalf of the undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such 
form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact 
may approve in such attorneys-in-fact's discretion. 
 
      The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and 
authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite, 
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and 
powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the 
undersigned might or could do if personally present, with full power of 
substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such 
attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneys-in-fact's substitute or substitutes, 
shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and 
the rights and powers herein granted. 
 
      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney 
to be executed as of March 22, 2002. 
 
 
                                    /s/ M. Michael Casey 
                                    --------------------------------- 
                                    Signature 
 
 
 
 
                                POWER OF ATTORNEY 
                            ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K 
                           THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC. 
 
      Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The 
Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and 
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting 
individually, the undersigned's true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, 
each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his 
name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to: 
 
      (1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on 
Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2001, including any and all amendments and additions thereto 
(collectively, the "Annual Report") in accordance with the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder; 
 
      (2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the 
undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be 
filed, the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of 
Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United 
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and 
 
      (3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the 
foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit 
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it 
being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on 
behalf of the undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such 
form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact 
may approve in such attorneys-in-fact's discretion. 
 
      The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and 
authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite, 



necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and 
powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the 
undersigned might or could do if personally present, with full power of 
substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such 
attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneys-in-fact's substitute or substitutes, 
shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and 
the rights and powers herein granted. 
 
      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney 
to be executed as of March 18, 2002. 
 
 
                                    /s/ Michael Clark 
                                    --------------------------------- 
                                    Signature 
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      Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The 
Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and 
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting 
individually, the undersigned's true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, 
each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his 
name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to: 
 
      (1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on 
Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2001, including any and all amendments and additions thereto 
(collectively, the "Annual Report") in accordance with the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder; 
 
      (2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the 
undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be 
filed, the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of 
Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United 
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and 
 
      (3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the 
foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit 
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it 
being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on 
behalf of the undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such 
form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact 
may approve in such attorneys-in-fact's discretion. 
 
      The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and 
authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite, 
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and 
powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the 
undersigned might or could do if personally present, with full power of 
substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such 
attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneys-in-fact's substitute or substitutes, 
shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and 
the rights and powers herein granted. 
 
      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney 
to be executed as of March 18, 2002. 
 
 
                                    /s/ F. Warren Hellman 
                                    --------------------------------- 
                                    Signature 
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      Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The 
Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and 
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting 
individually, the undersigned's true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, 
each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his 



name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to: 
 
      (1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on 
Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2001, including any and all amendments and additions thereto 
(collectively, the "Annual Report") in accordance with the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder; 
 
      (2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the 
undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be 
filed, the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of 
Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United 
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and 
 
      (3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the 
foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit 
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it 
being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on 
behalf of the undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such 
form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact 
may approve in such attorneys-in-fact's discretion. 
 
      The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and 
authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite, 
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and 
powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the 
undersigned might or could do if personally present, with full power of 
substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such 
attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneys-in-fact's substitute or substitutes, 
shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and 
the rights and powers herein granted. 
 
      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney 
to be executed as of March 18, 2002. 
 
 
                                    /s/ John Markese 
                                    --------------------------------- 
                                    Signature 
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      Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The 
Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and 
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting 
individually, the undersigned's true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, 
each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his 
name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to: 
 
      (1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on 
Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2001, including any and all amendments and additions thereto 
(collectively, the "Annual Report") in accordance with the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder; 
 
      (2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the 
undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be 
filed, the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of 
Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United 
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and 
 
      (3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the 
foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit 
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it 
being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on 
behalf of the undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such 
form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact 
may approve in such attorneys-in-fact's discretion. 
 
      The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and 
authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite, 
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and 
powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the 
undersigned might or could do if personally present, with full power of 
substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such 
attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneys-in-fact's substitute or substitutes, 
shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and 



the rights and powers herein granted. 
 
      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney 
to be executed as of March 25, 2002. 
 
 
                                    /s/ E. Stanley O'Neal 
                                    --------------------------------- 
                                    Signature 
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      Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The 
Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and 
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting 
individually, the undersigned's true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, 
each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his 
name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to: 
 
      (1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on 
Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2001, including any and all amendments and additions thereto 
(collectively, the "Annual Report") in accordance with the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder; 
 
      (2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the 
undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be 
filed, the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of 
Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United 
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and 
 
      (3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the 
foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit 
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it 
being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on 
behalf of the undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such 
form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact 
may approve in such attorneys-in-fact's discretion. 
 
      The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and 
authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite, 
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and 
powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the 
undersigned might or could do if personally present, with full power of 
substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such 
attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneys-in-fact's substitute or substitutes, 
shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and 
the rights and powers herein granted. 
 
      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney 
to be executed as of March 22, 2002. 
 
 
                                    /s/ Kenneth Pasternak 
                                    --------------------------------- 
                                    Signature 
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      Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The 
Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and 
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting 
individually, the undersigned's true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, 
each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his 
name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to: 
 
      (1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on 
Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2001, including any and all amendments and additions thereto 
(collectively, the "Annual Report") in accordance with the Securities 



Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder; 
 
      (2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the 
undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be 
filed, the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of 
Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United 
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and 
 
      (3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the 
foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit 
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it 
being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on 
behalf of the undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such 
form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact 
may approve in such attorneys-in-fact's discretion. 
 
      The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and 
authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite, 
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and 
powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the 
undersigned might or could do if personally present, with full power of 
substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such 
attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneys-in-fact's substitute or substitutes, 
shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and 
the rights and powers herein granted. 
 
      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney 
to be executed as of March 18, 2002. 
 
 
                                    /s/ David S. Pottruck 
                                    --------------------------------- 
                                    Signature 
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      Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The 
Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and 
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting 
individually, the undersigned's true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, 
each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his 
name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to: 
 
      (1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on 
Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2001, including any and all amendments and additions thereto 
(collectively, the "Annual Report") in accordance with the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder; 
 
      (2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the 
undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be 
filed, the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of 
Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United 
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and 
 
      (3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the 
foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit 
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it 
being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on 
behalf of the undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such 
form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact 
may approve in such attorneys-in-fact's discretion. 
 
      The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and 
authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite, 
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and 
powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the 
undersigned might or could do if personally present, with full power of 
substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such 
attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneys-in-fact's substitute or substitutes, 
shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and 
the rights and powers herein granted. 
 
      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney 
to be executed as of March 16, 2002. 
 
 



                                    /s/ A. Rock 
                                    --------------------------------- 
                                    Signature 
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      Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The 
Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and 
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting 
individually, the undersigned's true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, 
each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his 
name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to: 
 
      (1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on 
Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2001, including any and all amendments and additions thereto 
(collectively, the "Annual Report") in accordance with the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder; 
 
      (2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the 
undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be 
filed, the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of 
Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United 
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and 
 
      (3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the 
foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit 
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it 
being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on 
behalf of the undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such 
form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact 
may approve in such attorneys-in-fact's discretion. 
 
      The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and 
authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite, 
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and 
powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the 
undersigned might or could do if personally present, with full power of 
substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such 
attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneys-in-fact's substitute or substitutes, 
shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and 
the rights and powers herein granted. 
 
      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney 
to be executed as of March 18, 2002. 
 
 
                                    /s/ R. C. Romano 
                                    --------------------------------- 
                                    Signature 
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      Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The 
Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and 
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting 
individually, the undersigned's true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, 
each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his 
name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to: 
 
      (1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on 
Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2001, including any and all amendments and additions thereto 
(collectively, the "Annual Report") in accordance with the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder; 
 
      (2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the 
undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be 
filed, the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of 
Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United 



States Securities and Exchange Commission; and 
 
      (3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the 
foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit 
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it 
being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on 
behalf of the undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such 
form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact 
may approve in such attorneys-in-fact's discretion. 
 
      The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and 
authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite, 
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and 
powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the 
undersigned might or could do if personally present, with full power of 
substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such 
attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneys-in-fact's substitute or substitutes, 
shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and 
the rights and powers herein granted. 
 
      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney 
to be executed as of March 22, 2002. 
 
 
                                    /s/ Arvind Sodhani 
                                    --------------------------------- 
                                    Signature 
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      Know all men by these presents, that the undersigned, a director of The 
Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., a Delaware corporation, hereby constitutes and 
appoints Edward S. Knight and Joan C. Conley, and each of them acting 
individually, the undersigned's true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, 
each with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his 
name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities to: 
 
      (1) execute for and on behalf of the undersigned, an Annual Report on 
Form 10-K of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2001, including any and all amendments and additions thereto 
(collectively, the "Annual Report") in accordance with the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules thereunder; 
 
      (2) do and perform any and all acts for and on behalf of the 
undersigned which may be necessary or desirable to file, or cause to be 
filed, the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (including this Power of 
Attorney), and other documents in connection therewith, with the United 
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and 
 
      (3) take any other action or any type whatsoever in connection with the 
foregoing which, in the opinion of such attorneys-in-fact, may be of benefit 
to, in the best interest of, or legally required by, the undersigned, it 
being understood that the documents executed by such attorneys-in-fact on 
behalf of the undersigned pursuant to this Power of Attorney shall be in such 
form and shall contain such terms and conditions as such attorneys-in-fact 
may approve in such attorneys-in-fact's discretion. 
 
      The undersigned hereby grants to each attorney-in-fact full power and 
authority to do and perform any and every act and thing whatsoever requisite, 
necessary or proper to be done in the exercise of any of the rights and 
powers herein granted, as fully to all intents and purposes as the 
undersigned might or could do if personally present, with full power of 
substitution or revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that such 
attorneys-in-fact, or such attorneys-in-fact's substitute or substitutes, 
shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue of this Power of Attorney and 
the rights and powers herein granted. 
 
      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has caused this Power of Attorney 
to be executed as of March 22, 2002. 
 
 
                                    /s/ Martin Sorrell 
                                    --------------------------------- 
                                    Signature 
 


